
Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 20 October 2020 1

A G E N D A

13 October 2020

Dear Member,

A meeting of the PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY will be held 
remotely on Tuesday, 20th October, 2020 at 10.00 am when your attendance is 
requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins
Chief Executive

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair 
invites you to speak.  

Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your 
microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off.

AGENDA

ENC1 Apologies for Absence 

ENC2 Chairman's Announcements 

ENC3 Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of interest from members relating to items 
on the agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to 
the attendance sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally 
and in writing, specifying the nature of the interest.
 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure 
that you inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so 
that this can be recorded in the minutes

 

ENC4 Minutes of last meeting (Pages 1 - 6)

To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on the 28th 

Public Document Pack



Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 20 October 2020 2

July 2020.

ENC5 Development Control Reports for Decision 

To receive a report on Non-delegated Applications

Item 1  19/17586/FUL - Penderyn Quarry (Pages 7 - 64)

Item 2  20/18682/FUL - Glangwysg Meadows (Pages 65 - 82)

Item 3  20 18308 FUL Committee Report A470 Underpass (Pages 83 - 104)

ENC6 Development Control Related Matters for Noting 

Item 1  Delegated Report (Pages 105 - 122)

Item 2  Agricultural Notifications Report (Pages 123 - 124)

Item 3  Fringe applications Report (Pages 125 - 134)

Item 4  Planning Obligation Report (Pages 135 - 136)

Item 5  Appeals Summary (Pages 137 - 160)

Item 6  Commuted Sums Report (Pages 161 - 164)

Item 7  Statutory Pre application report (Pages 165 - 168)

Item 8  Development Management Statistics (Pages 169 - 170)

Item 9  Enforcement August 2020 figures WG (Pages 171 - 172)

Item 10  DCRM - ISA Scoping response - Wales Transport Strategy (Pages 173 - 180)

ENC7 Enforcement Reports 

Access to Information
 
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 
4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Item 1  20200922  Exemption Certificate - Enforcement Delegated Decision Reports 



Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 20 October 2020 3

(Pages 181 - 182)

Item 2  CONFIDENTIAL - Enf Dele reports for PAROW - Sept 2020 (Pages 183 - 194)



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 1 28 July 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING, 
ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y 

FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 28TH JULY, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair), Cllr James Evans, Cllr M Jones, Cllr McNicholas and Cllr Ratcliffe

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Torfaen County Borough

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Julian Stedman, Mr Christopher Coppock, Ms Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards, Mrs Sue Holden 
and Mr James Marsden

1 Apologies for Absence 

There were no apologies for absence received for this meeting.

2 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair thanked the officers and administration team for their hard work during these 
continued unusual working conditions.
 

Page 1

ENC4



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 2 28 July 2020

He advised of a 20% fee increase that will take effect from 24th August 2020.  Ms Tracy 
Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, added that we have not seen a reduction in 
applications during the lockdown period.
 
The Chair advised with regard to the COVID recovery document which sits alongside 
Planning Policy Wales.  Ms Tracy Nettleton advised how this may affect officers.

3 Declarations of Interest 

The Monitoring Officer, Mr Sean O’Connor, advised that all Members would be declaring 
a personal interest in Enclosure 5 Item 1 but if any felt they had further involvement in 
this application they should make a separate declaration.
 
Name Enc Item Nature of Interest
Mr J Stedman 5 1 Personal 
Cllr E Roderick 5 1 Personal
Cllr J Evans 5 1 Personal
Cllr M Jones 5 1 Personal
Cllr S McNicholas 5 1 Personal
Cllr G Ratcliffe 5 1 Personal
Cllr J Hill 5 1 Personal
Cllr A James 5 1 Personal
Cllr M Colbran 5 1 Personal
Cllr A Webb 5 1 Personal
Cllr G Thomas 5 1 Personal
Cllr S Evans 5 1 Personal
Mr C Coppock 5 1 Personal
Ms L Davis 5 1 Personal
Canon A Edwards 5 1 Personal
Mrs S Holden 5 1 Personal
Mr J Marsden 5 1 Personal
Cllr J Evans 6 3 Personal
Cllr M Jones 6 3 Personal

 

4 Minutes of last meeting 

The Chairman was authorised to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held virtually on 22nd May 2020 
as a correct record.
 

5 Development Control Reports for Decision 

 
1. 20/18312/FUL – Installation of interpretation and visitor 

experience improvements – Site of Former Gunpowder 
Works, Pontneddfechan

All Members declared a personal interest in this item.

Page 2



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 3 28 July 2020

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 
Officer, Mrs Ffion Bevan.

Late Info: None.

Public 
Speaker:

The Applicant, Ms S Jones, addressed the Members in support of the 
application.

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set 
out in the report was put to Members.

Proposed: Cllr A James Seconded: Cllr J Evans

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set 
out in the report was agreed.

2.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           19/18163/REM – Reserved Matters Application for the 
development of 51 homes including 17 affordable units on 
land located off the B4246, Landscaping and Public Open 
Space to include appearance, landscaping, layout and scale – 
Land Off The B4246, Govilon, Abergavenny.

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 
Officer, Miss Lisa Hughes.

Late Info: Late correspondence was received from Mr Dai Hawkins, this was 
read out in full by the Case Officer.

Public 
Speaker:

The Applicant, Mr S Grey, addressed the Members in support of the 
application.

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set 
out in the report was put to Members.

Proposed: Cllr M Jones Seconded: Cllr J Hill

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set 
out in the report was agreed.

The Chair advised there would be a comfort break so that technical issues 
could be resolved, he asked Members to return at 12pm.

The Committee Clerk noted that all Members appeared to be in 
attendance excluding Mr James Marsden, it is not known during which 
part of the following item Mr Marsden returned.

3. 19/17509/FUL – Side Extension 2 Storey with dormers to 
front roof – Glaslyn Court Nursing Home, Crickhowell 
Road, Gilwern, Monmouthshire, NP7 0EH

Page 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 4 28 July 2020

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 
Officer, Ms Davina Powell.

Late Info: Late correspondence was received from the Agent, this was read out 
in full, the Members were also advised that late correspondence had 
been received from both Natural Resources Wales and the National 
Park Planning Ecologist (NPECO), this was summarised by the Case 
Officer.  She advised that the comments received from NPECO have 
now removed the second reason for refusal in the officer report but 
the first remains as is stated.

Public 
Speaker:

The Applicant, Ms I James Wright, addressed the Members in 
support of the application.

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to refuse as set out in the report (and 
noting that the second reason for refusal was now removed) was put 
to Members.

Proposed: Mr C Coppock Seconded: Cllr G Ratcliffe

Decision: The Officer recommendation to refuse as set out in the report (and 
noting that the second reason for refusal was now removed) was 
agreed.

Cllr S Evans left the meeting.

6 Development Control Related Matters for Noting 

Item 1 Delegated Applications Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave a brief update 

to Members.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 2 Agricultural Notifications Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 3 Fringe Notifications
  
 Cllrs J Evans and M Jones declared a personal interest in items contained 

within the report.
 
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave a brief update 
to Members.
 
The report was noted.

Page 4



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 5 28 July 2020

  
Item 4 Planning Obligations Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a 

brief update to Members. 
 
The report was noted.
 
Cllr A Webb left the meeting.

  
Item 5 Commuted Sums Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 6 Enforcement Figures Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a 

brief update.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 7 Development Management Statistics
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a 

brief update.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 8 Development Control Related Matter for Noting
  
 Minor Amendment to proposed One Planet Development at Coed 

Talylan, Llangadog (19/17602/FUL)
 
Mrs Helen Lucocq, Principal Planning Officer (Policy), gave members a 
brief update.
 
The report was noted.

  
 

7 Enforcement Reports 

Access to Information
 
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.
 

Page 5



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 6 28 July 2020

Item 1 Enforcement Delegated Reports
  
 The contents of the report were noted.
  
Item 2 Enforcement Report ENF/20/02101/ODP2
  
 The contents of the report were noted.
  

 
8 Any Other Business 

Members raised issues to be discussed in another forum.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way

Page 6



Page 1 of 58

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 22nd September 2020
 
 
Application Number: 19/17586/FUL Date 

Validated:
27 June 2019

Site Address: Penderyn Quarry
Chapel Road
Penderyn
Hirwaun
Rhondda Cynon Taf
CF44 0TX
 

Decision Due 
Date:

14 February 2020

Grid Ref:
 

E: 295289  N:209101
 
 

  

Proposal:   
A reserves swap for the extraction of limestone within the south eastern area of Penderyn 
Quarry, with the relinquishment of existing rights to quarry reserves of limestone in the 
south western area of the quarry along the Twyn-y-Glog ridgeline, with associated 
operational and restoration works.

Case Officer: Carmarthenshire CC Community: Penderyn

Reason(s) Application 
Reported to 
Committee: Major Application

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve – subject to conditions and section 106 agreement

Page 7

ENC5Item 1



Page 2 of 58Page 8



Page 3 of 58

1.  Site and Context

Penderyn Quarry is situated adjacent to the settlement of Penderyn, in close proximity to 
the southern boundary of the Brecon Beacons National Park. The settlement of Hirwaun, 
located in the neighbouring Authority of Rhondda Cynon Taf, lies approximately 2.8 
kilometres to the south. 

The existing quarry complex covers an area approximately 44.6 hectares in total, including 
additional land to the north, north-west and west of the application site. The land covered 
by specific mineral planning permissions covers an area of 27.86 hectares, of which 25.87 
hectares is within the excavation area. The remainder of the land under the applicants 
control is either ‘ancillary mining land’ which has developed under ‘permitted development 
rights’ or has been subject to planning permissions for tipping which have been completed 
and restored.

The proposed application site is a narrow rectangular section of land (approximately 1.77 
hectares in area) within the south-eastern corner of the quarry, consisting mostly of rocky 
out crops, bracken and scrub habitat. Although within the quarry boundary this area of land 
cannot currently be worked under the existing planning permissions. Immediately to the 
west of the application site is the existing quarry working void with the plant processing area 
beyond (800 metres to the west). 

The access to the quarry is gained directly via the main A4059, within the village of Penderyn 
which fronts this road for a length of approximately 500 metres. Apart from the quarry 
entrance, the closest part of the site to the village is the processing area, the closest 
excavation operations being approximately 850 metres to the east of the closest properties 
in Penderyn. 

The quarry sits within a limestone ridge running from Pontneddfechan in the west to Merthyr 
in the east. The limestone ridge forms part of the larger belt of limestone that runs around 
the circumference of the South Wales Coalfield. It is generally within an upland area 
characterised by large open expanses of open upland grassland with extensive woodlands 
further to the west of the site.

Much of the village sits at approximately 250 metres above ordnance datum (AOD) and is 
essentially in a valley with the land rising to the north, east and west. The quarry is situated 
within higher ground, to the east of the village, with a maximum height of approximately 360 
metres AOD at the Twyn Y Glog ridge, to the south east of the quarry. From the higher 
elevations of the surrounding areas the southern and eastern quarry faces are visible, in 
particular, when travelling south on the A4509, but less so from the lower village.

There are a small number of scattered residential properties to the south and south west of 
the application site, the closest of these being Bodwigiad (this is a Grade II farmhouse and 
adjacent to the farm house is the ‘Agricultural range at Bodwigiad, again Grade II listed), 
approximately 850 metres south west of the site boundary (the south-western side of the 
proposed site boundary) there are further residential properties to the south-west 
approximately 1.1 kilometres from the site. The primary school is approximately 1.2 
kilometres to the south-west, on the other side of the A4059. The small settlement of 

Page 9



Page 4 of 58

Pontbren Llwyd fronts the A4059, approximately 1.4 kilometres to the south-west of the 
site. There is a minor road that heads to the north-east from the cross roads in Penderyn, 
there are numerous scattered properties along this road, the closest being approximately 
1.2 kilometres to the north-west. There are two isolated farm steads to the north of the 
site, these being the closest to the proposed swap area, being 430 metres and 680 metres 
respectively, there are also further isolated properties to the north east of the site on this 
minor road. There is a Dwr Cymru installation approximately 700 metres south-west of the 
site. 

The Cwm Cadlan Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
and National Nature Reserve (NNR) lies immediately to the north, the NNR being closer at 
approximately 170 metres to the north and the boundary of the SSSI/SAC being 
approximately 440 metres to the north. The Blaen Cynon SAC (designated for the marsh 
fritillary butterfly) is approximately 1.4 km to the south and includes the Woodland Park and 
Pontpren SSSI, again designated for marsh fritillary along with marshy, dry acid and neutral 
grassland and woodland habitats. Dyffrynoedd Nedd a Mellte SSSI is located approximately 
1.8 km to the west and is designated for a range of semi-natural woodland including a diverse 
range of plants, mosses and lichens and geological features. Cors Bryn Y Gaer SSSI (part of 
the Blaen Cynon SAC) is 2.4 km to the south east of the site and has been designated because 
of marsh fritillary and acid grassland habitats. Coedydd Nedd a Mellte (SAC/SSSI) is located 
3.2 km to the west and has been designated owing to its old sessile oaks, screes and ravines. 
Finally, the SSSI of Tir Mawr and Dderi Hir, designated for its various grass land habitats, lies 
approximately 3.2 km to the south-east of the site.

There are numerous watercourses in close proximity to the site, including the Nant Cadlan 
and the Ceunant Du, both to the north of the site, and the Nant Y Bwllfa and Afon Cynon 
to the south. There are also numerous shake holes and springs surrounding the site. There 
is a network of Public Rights of Way (PRoW) surrounding the site, mostly to the north, 
south and to a lesser extent, to the west. None of these are in close proximity to the site, 
although views of the proposed site operations would be afforded from the PRoW north of 
the site, from Wernlas farm. There is Open Access land adjoining the eastern and southern 
boundaries of the quarry, although the terrain and topography make access difficult. The 
western and northern boundaries of the site (including the plant area) are relatively well 
vegetated with scrub and trees which help to screen the site. To the east and south the 
vegetation is relatively sparse, and the site is bounded mostly by post and wire fencing, the 
south-western boundary of the site has more natural vegetation and has a mosaic of field 
boundaries.

The Proposal

The proposal is essentially part of a reserves swap, which seeks to extract minerals from the 
application site as opposed to the visually prominent Twyn Y Glog ridge, where there is 
currently an extant planning permission to work minerals. 

The application site forms part of a previous minerals working permission (1/8523 – granted 
in 1972) but a planning condition imposed on this permission prevents working in the 
proposed working area (highlighted in red on the submitted application plans). Therefore, 
whilst the proposed excavation area is outside the current quarry boundary it is within an 
area previously covered by a minerals permission (albeit with the restrictive condition) and 
whilst quarrying has not taken place within this area parts of the area have been previously 

Page 10



Page 5 of 58

disturbed due to the construction of haulage roads for placement of overburden at the now 
completed eastern tip. 

In March 2011 an application was submitted to update the planning conditions imposed on 
the respective mineral planning permissions at Penderyn Quarry (reference Environment Act 
1995: Review of Old Minerals Permissions, commonly referred to as a ‘ROMP’).  This 
application also suggested a reserves swap so as to retain the Twyn-y-Glog Ridge, very similar 
to this proposal. However, this ROMP application is yet to be determined, due to the need 
to comply with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 in relation to 
potential hydrogeological impacts on the Cwm Cadlan SAC. This delay in determining the 
ROMP has resulted in a position where the accessible reserves in the quarry are running low 
(due to limitations relating to de-watering of the quarry). Given this situation there are 
currently three options available to the operator. The first being the deepening the quarry 
(as approved under the ROMP but this would be subject to other permissions, such as the 
need for an Environmental Permit from Natural Resources Wales) or secondly to quarry the 
Twyn Y Glog ridgeline, approved under previous planning permission or thirdly to propose 
the reserve swap within a separate planning application. The applicant is proposing the third 
option but will fall back to option 2 if option 3 is unsuccessful. 

Background

Bearing in mind the history of the site, as described above, the operator has decided the best 
option is to submit an application for a freestanding area of working, in the area that was 
excluded under the 1972 permission and offer to swap these reserves with those in the 
Twyn Y Glog ridgeline, which will be ‘preserved’ as a result of this swap, similar to the 
suggested swap in the ROMP. This proposal has been referred to in the application as 
scenario B (Option 3), scenario A (Option 2) being the continuation of quarrying in 
accordance with the existing planning permissions. 

In scenario A, there are currently 29.6 million tonnes of reserve, scenario B would reduce 
this reserve figure to 22.2 million tonnes, a reduction in reserve of some 7.4 million tonnes. 
The Twyn Y Glog ridgeline ‘preservation’ area as proposed in this application (and shown as 
hatched green in the submitted plans) is 2.35 hectares, whilst the proposed working area is 
1.77 hectares, so the overall lateral extraction area would also decrease if planning 
permission were granted for the proposed development. 

The development of this site would be relatively straight forward and there would be a 
continuation of the advancing faces in a south easterly direction from the existing site, into 
the proposed swap area. The current high point in the swap area is approximately 363 
metres AOD. The first 5-year development of this area would see three benches established, 
at 328m, 316m and 300m AOD levels, with a haul road along the southern edge of the site 
on the higher ground before dropping into the existing quarry void, as shown on plan TYG 
3. Following the establishment of the working face and the benches working of the face 
would continue to deepen with the establishment of further benches giving a total of 6 
benches down to the final finished floor level of 268 metres a.o.d (above the maximum 
known level of the water table) as shown on plan TYG 4 - the 15 year development plan. 

The restoration of this area would tie into the restoration of the site as a whole and there 
would be a continuation of the benches in this area of the site, encapsulating the proposed 
‘reserve swap’ area. An interim restoration plan, updating that submitted with the ROMP 

Page 11



Page 6 of 58

has been submitted (TYG7) and this shows that the site would be restored mostly in line 
with the remaining south-western faces, as indicated on the plan submitted with the ROMP. 
This would include selective planting of some species in the upper quarry benches, but with 
an emphasis on natural regeneration of these benches. Bunds approximately 1.5 metre high, 
forming a rock trap, will be incorporated into these benches, for health and safety reasons. 
These bunds would also help to retain any material placed on the benches for the purposes 
of restoration. These materials will consist of quarry waste and soils derived from stockpiles 
on site, the material available on site would cover approx. 60% of the faces on the southern 
boundary, providing a depth of 750 mm of overburden and 100 mm of mostly sub soils. 
Nurse swards would be sown across the site in order to help with the colonisation of these 
areas with native tree and shrub species. The quarry faces would generally be left to restore 
themselves, opportunities for rocky outcrops and crags along with the natural colonisation 
of these outcrops by species rich limestone grassland have been identified as restoration 
options. 

The operational side of the proposed operations, with regard to operating hours, use of 
processing plant and output/traffic management would all remain the same as is currently the 
case, there would be no ‘intensification’ of operations at the site. In fact, given that the 
proposals will result in a net decrease in reserves of approx. 7.4 million tonnes, and taking 
into account an average annual output of 500,000 the proposal would potentially reduce the 
operational lifetime of the site by approximately 15 years.

2.  Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date

19/17028/PAR New Sub-base conveyor GPDO Approval 23 January 
2019

18/16945/SO New Sub-base conveyor Screening Opinion - 
not EIA development

21 January 
2019

16/14272/PAR Replacement Plant GPDO Approval 27 January 
2017

16/14271/SO Replacement Plant Screening Opinion – 
not EIA development

27 January 
2017

11/06454/MIN Periodic review of mineral 
permissions (ROMP) 

Pending 
Consideration

submitted 
24/3/2011 

RC18959 Replacement Coating Plant GPDO Approval 12 June 2003

CV14033 Continuation of Quarrying 
Operations

Permitted 14 
September 
1995

1/8523 Extension to Quarry Workings and 
Tipping Area

Permitted 29 June 1972

1/7453 Extension of Quarry Workings Permitted 19 March 
1970

Page 12



Page 7 of 58

1/2427 Extension of Quarry Permitted 13 August 
1958

P51  Quarrying Operations Interim Development 
Order 

4 March 1948

3.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

3.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance

Strategic Policy no. Policy
Policy SP1 National Park Policy

Policy SP2 Major Development in the National Park

Policy SP3 Environmental Protection

Policy Number Policy

Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park

Policy 3 Sites of European Importance

Policy 4 Sites of National Importance

Policy 6 Biodiversity and Development

Policy 7 Protected and Important Wild Species

Policy 10 Water Quality

Policy 12 Light Pollution

Policy 13 Soil Quality

Policy 14 Air Quality

Policy 17 The Setting of Listed Buildings

Policy 22 Areas of Archaeological Evaluation

Policy 49 Rights of Way and Long Distance Routes

Policy 53 Planning Obligations

Policy 59 Impacts of Traffic

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance

Biodiversity and Development - September 2016

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance

Landscape and Development - June 2014

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance

Light Pollution & Obtrusive Lighting - March 2015 
 

3.2    National and Regional Planning Policy and Guidance

Page 13



Page 8 of 58

Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (December 2018)

Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) 1: Aggregates (2004)

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)

Regional Technical Statement – 1st Review (2014)

Regional Technical Statement 2nd Review (currently a draft expected to be published in 
September 2020)

Well Being of Future Generations Act 2015

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016

A brief synopsis of the relevant minerals planning policies are provided below. As minerals 
applications are not a regular occurrence within a National Park, some background to the 
planning policies is provided.

Welsh Government’s Minerals Planning Policy is set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW), edition 
10, December 2018.  The Minerals Technical Advice Notes (MTANs) remain in force alongside 
PPW and in particular MTAN1: Aggregates is relevant to this proposal.

In the current iteration of PPW, there is a specific chapter relating to minerals (5.14) and this 
chapter highlights the importance of minerals in fulfilling society’s needs for a range of products. 
In order to meet this demand for minerals Local Planning Authorities must ensure an adequate 
supply of minerals, whilst ensuring the protection of amenity and the environment. PPW 10 
highlights four key principles in order to help achieve this, as set out below:

 provide positively for the safeguarding and working of mineral resources to meet society’s 
needs now and in the future, encouraging the efficient and appropriate use of high quality 
materials; 

 protect environmental and cultural characteristic of places, including those highly cherished for 
their intrinsic qualities, such as wildlife, landscapes, ancient woodlands and historic features, 
and to protect human health and safety and general well-being; 

 reduce the impact of mineral extraction and related operations during the period of working by 
ensuring that impacts on relevant environmental qualities caused by mineral extraction and 
transportation, for example air quality and soundscape, are within acceptable limits; and 

 achieving, without compromise, a high standard of restoration and aftercare so as to avoid 
dereliction and to bring discernible benefits to communities, heritage and/or wildlife, including 
beneficial after uses or opportunities for enhancement of biodiversity and the historic 
environment. 

With specific regard to quarries in national parks, PPW 10 re-states the long-established policy 
(as highlighted in the planning application) at Para 5.14.35 as follows:

Page 14



Page 9 of 58

‘Minerals development should not take place in National Parks and AONB except in very 
exceptional circumstances. All mineral applications must therefore be subject to the most 
rigorous examination and all major mineral developments demonstrated to be in the public 
interest before being allowed to proceed. Consideration will include an assessment of:

 the need for the development in terms of UK considerations of mineral supply; 
 the impact on the local economy of permitting the development or refusing it;
 whether alternative supplies can be made available at reasonable cost, and the scope for 

meeting the need in some other way;
 the detrimental effect of the proposals on the natural and historic environment and local 

community and landscape and the extent to which that can be moderated, and / or the 
detrimental effect of the proposals on the nature conservation interest of the site in terms 
of habitat, protected species and biodiversity; and

 in the case of extensions to existing quarries and other mineral extraction sites, the extent 
to which the proposal would achieve an enhancement to the local landscape and provide 
for nature conservation and biodiversity’.

There is additional Welsh Government guidance on minerals planning in Minerals Technical 
Advice Note 1 – Aggregates (MTAN1) (March 2004). MTAN1 advises on the delivery of 
aggregates extraction policies by Local Planning Authorities and by the aggregates industry, the 
key points in relation to this application are highlighted below;

Para 7 states that the overarching objective in planning for aggregates provision is to ensure 
supply is managed in a sustainable way so that the best balance between environmental, 
economic and social considerations is struck, while making sure that the environmental and 
amenity impacts of any necessary extraction are kept to a level that avoids causing 
demonstrable harm to interests of acknowledged importance. 

Paras 70 and 71 indicate that buffer zones of at least 200m should be applied around all hard 
rock quarries so as to protect land uses that are most susceptible to the impact of mineral 
operations. The main potential impacts are identified as dust, noise, traffic and vibration from 
blasting.

Para 50 requires the Regional Aggregate Working Parties (RAWPs) (South Wales and North 
Wales) to prepare a 5-year Regional Technical Statement to ensure that an adequate supply of 
primary aggregate minerals can be maintained. The Regional Technical Statements are 
considered below.

The Regional Technical Statement for Aggregates 1st Review for South Wales and North Wales

The most recent iteration of the Regional Technical Statement (RTS) was endorsed by all the 
relevant Local Authorities on August 1st 2014. However, this version is subject to further 
review and a new RTS 2nd Review document has recently been sent to all Local Planning 
Authorities in Wales for endorsement.

The purpose of the RTS is to provide a strategy for the future supply of construction aggregates 
within each Region, taking account of the latest available information regarding the balance of 
supply and demand, and current notions of sustainability, as enshrined in Planning Policy Wales. 
The overarching objective of the RTS is to ensure supply is managed in a sustainable way so that 

Page 15



Page 10 of 58

the best balance between environmental, economic and social considerations is struck, while 
making sure that the environmental and amenity impacts of any necessary extraction are kept 
to a level that avoids causing demonstrable harm to interests of acknowledged importance, 
reflecting the aims of PPW 10.

The RTS provides recommendations on the following matters:

a)   The quantity of aggregates which should be supplied by Authority areas, or sometimes by 
groups of Authorities; and

b) The total tonnages required from existing production sites and new allocations made by 
Local Development Plans.  This is to maintain minerals supplies throughout and to the end of 
the Plan period.  

It is noted that neither the RTS 1st Review or the pending 2nd Review require any additional 
mineral extraction within National Parks.

4.  Summary of Consultation responses

Consultee Comments
NP Strategy and 
Policy

The proposal must be considered against LDP Objective SQ12, LDP 
Policies 1, SP2 and CYD LP1, and reasoned justification in paragraphs 
10.0.1, 10.1.1 and 10.1.12 of the LDP. 

Paragraph 5.14.35 of Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (2018) is also 
relevant and consideration of the proposal must include an assessment of 
the matters expressed within the bullet points of this paragraph.

NP Planning 
Ecologist

The ecological survey information was updated last year with two common 
pipistrelle bats found to be roosting within the quarry face that is within 
the area covered under the 1972 planning permission for extraction; an 
appropriate mitigation and compensation strategy was proposed and an 
EPS license was applied for in March 2020. 

The principles of restoration at the site are considered to be broadly 
acceptable, subject to minor amendments. A Landscape and Ecological 
Enhancement and Management is required. Planning conditions will be 
required to secure the implementation of the ecological mitigation and 
compensation measures as described in the ecological reports. 

The potential negative impacts on Cwm Cadlan Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) will need to be avoided to the satisfaction of NRW; 
this will enable the BBNPA to undertake a revised Appropriate 
Assessment of the proposals, as required under Regulation 63 of the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). NRW 
advice regarding this will need to be followed.

Natural Resources 
Wales/Cyfoeth 
Naturiol Cymru

Based on the hydrogeological monitoring of the current quarrying 
operations, NRW have significant concerns that the ongoing dewatering 
operations are having an adverse effect on near surface hydrology within 
parts of the Cwm Cadlan SAC. 

Page 16



Page 11 of 58

NRW do not consider that the proposed reserve swap will increase the 
risk to the SAC in itself. However, NRW considers that for the purpose of 
compliance with the Habitats Directive, the 'project' should be interpreted 
as the entirety of the quarrying works being carried out at Penderyn. It 
would not be an advisable approach to disaggregate the project as we 
consider that there is sufficient functional connection between the extant 
planning application and the wider quarrying works so that they need to be 
considered together.

Therefore, the HRA should not be limited to impacts arising from the 
development proposed under this application alone. However, the BBPNA 
as the decision maker will need to make a judgment on the correct 
approach and should take independent advice on the issue if necessary.
Management of the risks to the SAC from the current quarry operations is 
reliant on the monitoring and mitigation arrangements under the Scheme 
of Working, as part of Permission CV14033, 1995. As you are aware 
NRW have raised concerns to the planning authority and applicant about 
lowered water levels within monitoring devices at pathway locations; a 
device at the edge of the SAC and one at a receptor location within the 
SAC.

If the BBNPA is minded to grant planning permission, based on the 
information that NRW has been provided it appears to NRW that any 
such planning permission would need a suitably worded condition to be 
attached requiring the cessation of dewatering until such time as it can be 
demonstrated to the BBNPA that dewatering will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the Cwm Cadlan SAC.

Based on the information provided in the updated bat report we are 
satisfied bat roost use of the upper cave (TN1) can be screened out. We 
note that during the additional bat activity survey that a low number of 
common pipistrelle bats were observed emerging from the quarry face, 
where works are proposed. A bat roost for low numbers of common 
pipistrelle bats has been identified within an area to be quarried. On the 
basis of the above report, we do not consider that the development is 
likely to be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the bat 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in its natural range.
Therefore, we have no objection to the application as submitted in relation 
to bats, but we request that the following informative is attached to any 
planning permission granted by your Authority: Warning: An European 
protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this development.

We note that there is potential landscape and visual impact benefit from 
this proposal. The main visual benefits of the proposed Scenario B would 
be in views from the south, with landscape benefit from the retention of 
the ridge feature within the green hatched area.

The restoration strategy proposed for the application site is in general 
accordance with that proposed at the 2011 ROMP application for the 

Page 17



Page 12 of 58

wider site, that included the current application site. NRW are largely in 
support of the principles for restoration, but have made some 
recommendations aimed at benefiting the final landscape fit of restoration. 
These include the breaking up of the regular form of the benching as part 
of progressive restoration, the benching currently being prominent and 
unnatural in appearance in a number of the viewpoints.

The ROMP and its wider restoration strategy remains unagreed and it is 
indicated in this application that the detail of restoration proposals and 
specifications are yet to be determined. Therefore, an appropriate 
condition/planning control should be agreed to ensure that restoration is 
required; that it conforms with a restoration strategy for whole mining 
site; and that the detail is agreed with the LPA.

Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water - Developer 
Services

The applicant must ensure water quality monitoring is undertaken during 
changes to the quarry.  We would advise that the facility has the potential 
to impact upon 3 separate Drinking Water Catchments.  We trust that 
mitigation measures expressed in Table 4.1 'Potential impacts of quarry 
development' of the Environmental Impact Assessment (provided during 
the pre-application consultation) will be undertaken with risk and 
provisions in place in case of failure.  The proposed falls within a Dwr 
Cymru Welsh Water drinking water catchment's 'Nant Bodwigiad, Nant y 
Bwllfa and Penderyn Borehole' which are designated as a Drinking Water 
Protected Area under Article 7 of the Water Framework Directive.  This 
Article requires the UK to take action to protect drinking water sources.  
Section 7.3 states that the aim is 'to avoid deterioration in water quality 
where this may lead to additional purification treatment being required'.  

The proposed new extraction location is within the catchments of our 
Bodwigiad and Bwllfa surface water abstractions and Penderyn 
groundwater abstraction, the nearest of which is 400m away.  These 
sources provide a vital contribution to public water supply in South East 
Wales throughout every year.    We have growing concerns over apparent 
reductions in flow in the Bodwigiad and Bwllfa streams at our intakes, 
which is coincident with the ongoing quarry activities.     Because this 
application does not seek to increase the depth or extent of excavation 
beyond what is currently permitted, we are not minded to object to the 
current application.  However, we would object to any proposed increase 
in quarry size in future.    

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf Regeneration 
and Planning 
Department

No objection to the application

CADW Having carefully considered the information provided with this planning 
application, we have no objections to the impact of the proposed 
development on the scheduled monuments and registered historic 
landscape listed below. Our assessment of the application is given below.

Page 18



Page 13 of 58

NP Rights Of Way 
Officer

No comments from me with regard to this application.

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC 
Environmental 
Health

No comments received to date

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC Flood 
Risk Management

The applicant has proposed 'A reserves swap for the extraction of 
Limestone within the south eastern area of Penderyn Quarry'

To support the application and the overall restoration details the applicant 
has not provided any details in relation to the surface water drainage for 
the site or the impact on the wider functioning of the restoration area and 
the impact the new proposed works will make on the area. 

As such I would recommend that the application is conditioned as follows 

Condition: No development shall commence until all relevant matters 
outlined on the attached Planning Requirements Relating to Flood Risk 
Management including full drainage details have been approved in writing 
by the Planning Authority. These details shall indicate how the 
development is to comply with the requirements of Section 8.3 of 
Technical Advice Note 15.

Reason: To ensure that drainage from the proposed development does not 
cause or exacerbate any adverse condition on the development site, 
adjoining properties, environment and existing infrastructure arising from 
inadequate drainage.

Hirwaun And 
Penderyn 
Community 
Council

Our Cllrs would like to make the following comments in relation to the 
planning application for Penderyn Quarry:
 
- They would like to see a bond held by an independent party for the 
restoration to ensure that it goes ahead.
- They want to keep the ridge as it is a prominent landmark.
- The current plan not to go below 265m AOD is a good idea.

NP Heritage 
Officer 
Archaeology

The updated Heritage Assessment indicates that no known archaeological 
features will be affected by this development. The HIA concludes that no 
remains of the Twyn Y Glog Limekiln survives on site, and  earthworks 
within the area of the proposed new extraction zone are interpreted as 
remains of localised quarrying activity and natural geological outcrops. This 
application is therefore considered unlikely to have any archaeological 
impact, and no archaeological objections are raised to the proposed 
reserves swap.

It is requested that the 2010 Cultural Heritage Impact assessment, the 
2103 photographic record, and the updated 2019 Heritage Assessment are 

Page 19



Page 14 of 58

now deposited with the regional Historic Environment Record 
(Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust HER). 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC Highways

Further to consideration of the details, there are no highway safety 
concerns with regards the above proposal. 

 Penderyn Quarry is located approximately 8km to the north of Aberdare, 
to the east of the A4059 Hirwaun to Brecon road and has direct access to 
the A4059 in the form of a simple priority T junction. The ongoing 
operation of Penderyn Quarry is anticipated to reflect the current and 
historic activities in terms of the annual output remaining at around 
500,000 tonnes, with processed limestone being distributed by HGV via 
the existing access on the A4059. In addition to the limestone extraction, 
processing and distribution, there is also a coated roadstone plant and a 
concrete batching within the quarry complex. The proposed 'reserve 
swop' would have no implications in term of output or traffic movements: 
it would simply mean that a proportion of the reserves within the overall 
quarry complex would be partly sourced from the Application Area rather 
than from the Preserved Area. However, the indirect effect of the 
development in terms of access to reserves at depth elsewhere in the 
quarry would mean a reduction in overall reserves by some 7.4 m tonnes 
(as discussed in Chapter 3.0 above). At output rates of 500,000tpa, this 
would shorten the overall duration mineral extraction at the site by some 
15 years.

Following re-consultation, (on the 11/08/2020) due to the submission of an 
amended photo montage, to reflect the minimal operations that have taken 
place in the western half of the ridge, the department have changed their 
response. The new response was received on 8/9/2020, the first part of 
this response was the same as above, however, the following had also been 
added to the response

 
The Highway Authority has concerns with regards the impact of the proposal on 
the A4059 and especially the turning movements to and from the quarry 
resulting in damage to the fabric of the carriageway to the detriment of safety of 
all highway users and increasing maintenance liability to the council.  
 
There is potential to mitigate the adverse impact of extra ordinary traffic 
movements and weight causing damage to the fabric of the highway thus 
necessitating extraordinary expense. The developer should therefore enter into a 
Section 106 Agreement to make a one-off payment of £ 40k towards the 
additional maintenance of the highway. 

The Authority have considered this response and whilst concerns have 
been raised by the Highways department and financial contribution 
requested, it is not considered that a section 106 agreement would be the 
best way to achieve this. Instead, it is considered that this matter is more 
appropriately dealt with under Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980. This 
deals with recovering expenses due to extraordinary traffic, and give the 

Page 20



Page 15 of 58

Highway Authority powers to recover expenses from site operators 
where their traffic is causing damage to the highway due to excessive 
weight or for other “extraordinary” reasons.’

Welsh 
Government 
Planning Policy 
Branch

Welsh Ministers are not able to provide comments on the merits of 
planning applications because of their particular role in the planning 
process. They could be asked to call in any application for their own 
determination (including reviews of old mineral permissions) and are 
therefore unable to prejudice any potential future role they may have.

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at:  
https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN

5.  Third Party Representations

Hirwaun and Penderyn Community Council have stated that the Councillors would like 
to see a Restoration Guarantee Bond held by an independent party for the restoration of 
the Site, to ensure that it goes ahead. 

Whilst concern has been expressed by coalfield communities for many years regarding 
the proper restoration and aftercare of opencast coal sites throughout South Wales, the 
situation regarding hard rock quarries is somewhat different.  In an attempt to address 
the problem relating to coal sites, legislation was introduced in 1987 specifically 
authorising Local Planning Authorities to require a bond to guarantee restoration and 
aftercare of coal mining sites, with the exception of sites operated by British Coal.

No such legislation exists in terms of quarry development and there is no legislation 
which allows Local Planning Authorities to require a restoration guarantee bond for 
quarry operations. This is no doubt due in large part to quarry communities not having 
experienced the same problems in relation to restoration and aftercare as coal mining 
communities. There are good reasons why coal mining developments are much riskier 
than quarry developments in terms of their restoration and aftercare.

Whilst coal sites do undertake progressive restoration as far as possible there will always 
be a significant final void space at a point in time where all of the coal has been removed. 
The void needs to be filled with overburden from above ground overburden mounds and 
soils will need to be replaced at that point in time when the income stream of the private 
company concerned will have dried up and all that remains is a very significant liability. It 
is the nature of private industry that if there is no income stream and huge liability then 
the viability of the company is at significant risk. There is also no prospect of another 
company taking on the site at that stage, hence the need for a bond to ensure that money 
is available to cover restoration and aftercare costs.

Quarry development is quite different to opencast development in that regard. The 
income stream for a quarry will not dry up until the last piece of stone is removed and at 
that point there will be no requirement to infill the final void space with overburden or 
replace soils. The only material left un-sold would be waste material which is placed in a 

Page 21

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


Page 16 of 58

waste tip and landscaped at an early stage in the development. In addition, due to the 
requirement to progressively restore the final faces as development proceeds there will 
be very limited restoration work to undertake when the quarry is completed, hence 
there is no need for a bond to cover it. 

In addition, were a company to fail at any point in the development of the quarry site 
there would be assets remaining (in the form of reserves or any stocks of stone 
remaining) which would be attractive to other companies. Risks are further reduced by a 
regular monitoring regime for mine and quarry sites to ensure work is undertaken in 
accordance with the approved development scheme, including progressive restoration.

6. Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty on public bodies to 
carry out sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The National Park must act in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the needs 
of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs. As part of this duty public bodies must set and publish objectives which 
are designed to maximise its contribution to achieving each of the well-being goals. The 7 
well-being goals are:

- A prosperous Wales
- A resilient Wales
- A healthier Wales
- A more equal Wales
- A Wales of cohesive communities
- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
- A globally responsible Wales

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the 
planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and 
improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as 
required by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

The recommendations made by the Strategy and Policy Team are made in line with the 
Strategic and individual policies within the adopted Local Development Plan. It is 
considered that the Local Development Plan has been prepared to ensure the sustainable 
development of the National Park, particularly in relation to environmental protection, 
sustainable distribution of development, housing, economic well-being, sustainable 
tourism, sustainable communities, sustainable infrastructure and various other 
considerations. 

7. Planning Obligations

Any planning permission granted for this development would be subject to the prior 
signing of a Section 106 Agreement.  The Section 106 Agreement will prevent any further 
working of the western part of the ridge, as hatched in green on the relevant plan to be 
attached to the Agreement. It also includes provisions to ensure that any minerals won 
from the proposed site will be processed at the existing plant area in accordance with the 

Page 22



Page 17 of 58

existing controls (permits) in place there, and there will be no processing of material 
within the proposed extraction area. Finally, the applicant has also agreed to cease de-
watering of the site and to disconnect the pump on the site, Officers of the Authority will 
be allowed to visit the site at any time to ensure the pumps remain switched off and that 
no dewatering is taking place. This action addresses the key issue of concern regarding 
hydrological impact on the Cwm Cadlan SAC.

8. Assessment

8.1  Key Gateway Test – Strategic and Spatial Choices:

8.1.1 Good design

The current application proposes to alter the lateral footprint of the existing site, for 
minerals extraction purposes. However, the proposed swap of reserves would involve the 
giving up of the permitted reserves in the visually prominent Twyn Y Glog ridge (to the 
west of the proposed site) to allow for the excavation of the less prominent eastern area 
of the quarry in its place. It also results in a more natural looking final face which would 
otherwise contain 90-degree faces. The area permitted for extraction at Twyn Y Glog 
ridge amounts to some 2.35 hectares, whilst the area proposed under the current scheme 
is actually smaller at 1.77 hectares. The situation is similar with regard to the reserves, if 
the Twyn Y Glog ridge were to be worked, as is currently permitted, the quarry has a 
reserve figure of approx. 29.6 million tonnes. If the proposed area to the east were to be 
worked, and the ridge given up there would be a reserve of 22.2 million tonnes, a net 
reduction of 7.4 million tonnes. Assuming an annual output of 500,000 tonnes per annum 
(as is currently the case) the proposed ‘extension’ would result in a reduction of the 
operational life of the quarry by approximately 15 years. In addition, the proposed area 
has also been previously disturbed (effectively brown field land) and is adjacent to the 
restored ‘sink hole’ tip, the haul road constructed for access to this tip runs through the 
area detailed in this application and is clearly visible throughout the length of the site up to 
the sink hole tip. 

Therefore, in terms of reducing the impact of the quarry on the landscape and any 
neighbouring properties, and in utilising previously disturbed ground the proposed 
development can be considered to be a ‘good’ design. 

8.1.2 Promoting healthier places

There is potential for quarry development to have a detrimental impact on people’s 
amenity and their physical and mental well-being (through numerous impacts relating to 
noise, dust, blast vibration etc. as discussed in detail later on in the main body of the 
report). Taking into account the extant permission that exists for the removal of some 
29.6 million tonnes, the proposals would actually reduce the working life of the site and 
any associated disturbance by about 15 years. In addition, the proposed operations would 
be further from the village of Penderyn than the area with planning permission in the 
western half of the ridge. Any potential impacts relating to dust/noise and vibration would 
be reduced with an increasing distance between the site and any sensitive receptors. The 
proposal would not impact upon the opportunities for access to the countryside for any 
walkers or other outdoor pursuits. 

Page 23



Page 18 of 58

The proposal would not impact upon the opportunities for access to the countryside for 
any walkers or other outdoor pursuits. Whilst there are Public Rights of Way in the area 
it is unlikely that these proposals would have any impacts on users of the PRoW, it is 
more likely that the proposals would have a positive impact, The ridge is a prominent 
feature of the landscape and retaining this ridge would have clear benefits for users of the 
PRoW as the special landscape qualities of the Park would be retained. The eastern half of 
the ridge, which is significantly less visible in comparison, would be worked instead and 
this would reduce potential impacts on users of the surrounding PRoW network. The 
public rights of way department were consulted on this application and they have no 
comments on the application.

As detailed later in the report the applicant has also put forward numerous measures to 
limit the physical impacts of the quarry (these are utilised currently, and in the most part 
successfully) and this should mean that the well-being of people living nearby should not be 
adversely affected.

8.1.3 The Welsh Language

With regard to the Welsh language, no impact, either positive or negative is anticipated. 
The site largely employs people from within the local area so the opportunities for the 
encouragement of use of Welsh language within the workplace would be similar to any 
other employer in the area.

8.1.4 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources

Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act sets out the ‘sustainable management of natural 
resources’ – an approach to managing Wales’ natural resources and ecosystems to ensure 
that the benefits they provide for our social, economic, environmental and cultural well-
being are available now and for future generations.

Wales’ natural resources and ecosystems underpin our well-being and quality of life. They 
fuel and provide the raw materials for our industries, provide our food, clean air and 
water, create jobs and wealth and contribute to our quality of life and personal health and 
well-being.

The Welsh Governments Natural Resources Policy sets out the national priorities for the 
sustainable management of natural resources drawing from the national evidence base in 
the State of Natural Resources Report produced by NRW. The national priorities are the 
key ways in which Wales’ natural resources contribute across all the well-being goals. 
They have been developed to both address the challenges to our natural resources and 
realise the opportunities from them.

The national priorities are: 

 Delivering nature-based solutions. 
 Increasing resource efficiency and renewable energy. 
 Taking a place-based approach.

The scope of delivering nature-based solutions includes supporting the development of 
resilient ecological networks to maintain and enhance the resilience of Wales’ ecosystems; 

Page 24



Page 19 of 58

improving land and water management such as integrated water resources management, 
natural flood management, water quality and continued productivity. 

This proposal results in the cessation of pumping of groundwater out of the natural 
groundwater resource which supports the vegetation communities within the Cwm 
Cadlan SAC. It also provides for nature- based restoration solutions.

8.1.5 Strategic Planning

In National Parks, planning authorities should give great weight to the statutory purposes 
of National Parks, which are to conserve and enhance their natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage, and to promote opportunities for public understanding and enjoyment of 
their special qualities. Planning authorities should also seek to foster the social, economic 
and cultural well-being of their local communities. As mentioned above, mineral workings 
in National Parks should only be permitted in exceptional circumstances.

All mineral applications must therefore be subject to the most rigorous examination and 
all major mineral developments demonstrated to be in the public interest before being 
allowed to proceed. Consideration will include an assessment of: 

 the need for the development in terms of UK considerations of mineral supply; 
 the impact on the local economy of permitting the development or refusing it; 
 whether alternative supplies can be made available at reasonable cost, and the scope 

for meeting the need in some other way; 
 the detrimental effect of the proposals on the natural and historic environment and 

local community and landscape and the extent to which that can be moderated, and/or 
the detrimental effect of the proposals on the nature conservation interest of the site 
in terms of habitat, protected species and biodiversity; and 

 in the case of extensions to existing quarries and other mineral extraction sites, the 
extent to which the proposal would achieve an enhancement to the local landscape 
and provide for nature conservation and biodiversity.

This proposal cannot be justified in terms of the need for the mineral as it proposes a 
reduction in mineral reserves at the site. As a consequence of the reduction in reserves 
there will be a future requirement to find alternative supplies, but this will likely be outside 
of the National Park. Approval of the application could potentially be argued as having an 
adverse effect on the local economy as the quarry will cease 15 years earlier. However, 
such impact is considered to be limited.

The important considerations in this case are contained in the last two bullet points - the 
detrimental effect of the proposals on the natural and historic environment and local 
community and landscape and the extent to which that can be moderated, and/or the 
detrimental effect of the proposals on the nature conservation interest of the site in terms 
of habitat, protected species and biodiversity; and in the case of extensions to existing 
quarries and other mineral extraction sites, the extent to which the proposal would 
achieve an enhancement to the local landscape and provide for nature conservation and 
biodiversity.

This application provides for a significant landscape benefit in retaining the visually 
prominent Twyn-y-Glog ridge. This will be an undoubted enhancement to the local 

Page 25



Page 20 of 58

landscape. In addition, the restoration allows for natural regeneration and biodiversity 
enhancement in the longer term.

8.1.6 Placemaking in Rural Areas

Quarrying is an integral part of the fabric of this rural area and has been established as an 
activity in the countryside for over a hundred years. Notwithstanding this, the removal of 
the western half of the Twyn Y Glog ridge would remove part of the cultural heritage of 
the area, including the wall identified in this area (although this is of relatively limited 
importance it still holds some value). The ridge itself forms an important part of the 
landscape of the National Park which itself is an important part of the culture and identity 
of Wales. At a local level the ridge could be considered an important feature of the place 
and setting of Penderyn and the surrounding countryside (which is largely rural in nature) 
and the preservation of the most prominent part of this ridge would make a positive 
contribution to placemaking.

8.1.7 Managing Settlement Form
As mentioned above, the quarry has been working for a considerable length of time, and 
to some extent it could be argued that the form of the settlement has been influenced by 
the presence of the quarry. It is not likely that the proposed swap would have any negative 
impacts on the form of the settlement of Penderyn, as there would be no buffer zone 
issues that could impact on the form of future development within the settlement.

8.2 Assessing the sustainable benefits of development:          
 (PPW para 2.21)

8.2.1 Social considerations

The people and community of Penderyn, and to a lesser extent the smaller settlements 
and isolated properties surrounding the site would potentially be the most affected people 
by the proposal. The proposed development would be likely to have a positive impact on 
amenity, the reserve swap would mean that the quarrying operations would be further 
away from the majority of properties, in comparison with the continuation of working the 
site in accordance with the existing permissions. In the medium to long term the proposed 
swap may be advantageous as it would ultimately help to reduce the lifetime of the site 
and its impacts but this has to be set against the loss of jobs and the economic impact. 

8.2.2 Economic considerations

The site is located within an existing quarry with an extant permission for working 
minerals, there are a number of staff employed directly by the site, along with numerous 
suppliers such as hauliers or mechanics etc. that find employment indirectly via the quarry. 
The proposed swap of reserves would enable work to continue and help to safeguard jobs 
at the site during a period of potential uncertainty, without having to damage the 
prominent Twyn Y Glog ridgeline. The continued operations also have the potential to 
enhance local employment opportunities in the medium to long term as there would be a 
continued demand for staff employed directly at the site, and for contractors who provide 
services for the quarry, such as hauliers. 

8.2.3 Cultural considerations

Page 26



Page 21 of 58

The proposal would provide benefits by firstly helping to protect the landscape of the area 
(this has both cultural and historic significance) and by protecting part of a drystone wall 
(which would be removed should the existing permissions be implemented). Whilst the 
wall itself is of relatively low cultural value, the removal of both the wall (and the 
associated landscape with field boundaries) and the ridge in combination would have an 
impact on cultural considerations. In combination with this, the removal of the ridge would 
affect the open character of the area and may subsequently impact on the number of 
tourists wishing to visit this area of the National Park. Whilst some open areas of the 
National Park have been the subject of historic quarrying and these areas form part of the 
character, it is not considered that opening up this quarry to wider views would be 
beneficial. Taking this into account the proposed reserves swap would have clear benefits 
in terms of cultural considerations.

8.2.4   Environmental considerations

The proposed swap would result in the retention of the western half of the Twyn Y Glog 
Ridge, which is a prominent and important feature of the natural environment and is 
certainly worthy of preservation. Bat surveys of the whole of this ridge has shown that 
there is also more potential for bats within this western half of the ridge as opposed to 
the proposed extraction area. Therefore, the retention of this half of the ridge would also 
help to improve the resilience of ecosystems in the surrounding area in the support they 
provide as bat habitat. The ridge swap would also result in a higher standard of 
environmental protection for people, property and infrastructure due to the increase in 
separation distance. The proposed restoration of this eastern area of the ridge has taken 
into account the existing workings, and the restoration plans integrate this eastern area of 
the ridge into the overall site restoration plan, which is beneficial. Whilst the quarry would 
be utilising materials which are non-renewable in nature, ultimately the proposal would 
reduce the working life of the site. It is important to acknowledge that the Sustainable 
Management of Natural Resources recognises that society still needs minerals but it needs 
to be used at the appropriate rate and sourced from the right places.

National Parks are generally not considered to be the right places but this application is 
somewhat different as it seeks to reduce the landscape impact of quarry working and 
coincidently the amount of permitted mineral extraction at this site. This is in line with 
national policy which seeks to minimise minerals workings in national parks as this is not 
seen as a sustainable option in the long term. 

8.3 Detailed Impact Assessment:

8.3.1 Distinctive and natural places

Landscape and Visual Impacts, Hydrology and Hydrogeology, Cultural Heritage, Ecology, Air 
Quality, Soundscape, Blasting vibration and air overpressure.  

This application raises a number of considerations with regard to ‘distinctive and natural 
places’ these include landscape and visual, historic environment, biodiversity, water, air 
and soundscape. These are discussed in detail below;

Landscape and Visual Impacts

Page 27



Page 22 of 58

As detailed in previous sections, the site currently has planning permission to work the 
Twyn Y Glog ridge (1/2427, granted in 1948). When the ROMP was submitted in 2011, a 
similar proposal was put forward, whereby the permission at the western side of the 
ridge would be given up for the reserves detailed in this application. The currently 
approved quarry development scheme was referred to as scenario A with the reserves 
swap area referred to as Scenario B and for ease of reference these have been carried 
forward in this current proposal. Under Scenario A, the operator has an extant planning 
permission to work the whole of the Twyn Y Glog ridgeline and this would be akin to a 
fall back in planning terms, should permission be refused for the proposed reserves 
swap. The quarry operator would be able to continue to work the quarry in accordance 
with the approved plans, and remove the Twyn Y Glog ridge. 

In addition to LANDMAP the Brecon Beacons National Park also has its own landscape 
character assessment, published in August 2012, which is also a relevant consideration 
with regard to the landscape character of the area in proximity to the site. This 
assessment identifies 2 landscape character areas that overlap the edges of the site, these 
being; Landscape Character Area 3: Fforest Fawr and Area 4: Waterfall Country and 
Southern Valleys. The characteristics of these areas are broadly similar to those 
identified in the LANDMAP designations, and include the following descriptions:

For Landscape Character Area 4
 Complex underlying geology with a carboniferous limestone in the north with cave 

systems
 Steep enclosed valleys with ridges of flatter, higher land
 Mostly pastoral agricultural with extensive areas of forestry
 Limestone walls and hedge banks
 Well wooded landscape with ancient broad leaved woodland in valleys, generally 

with conifer plantations on the higher land
 A range of historic features giving the area a strong sense of time depth
 Strongly textured landscape in the valleys and more open, simple upper areas

For Landscape Character Area 3
 A glaciated landscape with a steep northern escarpment and a series of elevated 

summits with a more gently sloping plateau to the south
 Steep and fast flowing rocky mountain streams flowing into larger rivers in valley 

bottoms
 Mostly un-enclosed moorland used for grazing with some forestry blocks to the 

south and west
 Characterised by coniferous trees planted in forestry blocks with sharp outlines
 Very few field boundaries
 Marshy grasslands, dry heath, acid/neutral flushes and small areas of blanket bog
 Extensive prehistoric ritual landscapes, particularly in the south east, evidence of 

roman road, medieval settlements, industrial history and WW2 defences
 A very lightly settled landscape today with occasional estate cottages and farms at 

the periphery but has been more settled in the past and there is evidence of this in 
the landscape

 An elevated, simple and expansive landscape, much remains inaccessible except by 
foot, giving it a sense of tranquillity, remoteness and relative wildness.

Page 28



Page 23 of 58

Following an assessment of the landscape character baseline in the area, the potential 
impacts on the landscape character of both scenarios has been assessed, taking into 
account the numerous elements of landscape character, including, the landscape features 
and qualities, landscape amenity and designated landscapes. The study concludes that if 
Scenario A were to be carried out, the removal of the ridge would result in significant 
adverse impacts on the pattern of the landform and the landscape character, in particular 
to the south of the quarry. There would be a locally significant effect on landscape 
receptors, relating to operations under Scenario A. However, with Scenario B 
(proposed) the ridge would be retained and this would help to significantly reduce the 
effects of the quarry on landscape character. Other potential impacts from Scenario B 
relating to vegetation pattern, landscape form and landscape character would be mostly 
negligible/minor adverse, with some minor benefit for vegetation patterns.

The applicant has also included a visual assessment of the two scenarios, and 6 
viewpoints have been included (with an additional viewpoint provided at the request of 
NRW). These have been chosen to be most representative of the most sensitive views 
available. The impact of the proposed development was assessed against the baseline of 
the permitted scheme, as well as the proposed scheme. In combination with these 
viewpoints, a zone of theoretical visibility (ZTV) was conducted which identifies the 
locations from which Penderyn Quarry is theoretically visible. The visual assessment also 
identified 4 visual receptors, including, people in settlements and residential properties, 
users of public rights of way and areas of public access, road users and views from other 
areas of landscape interest (i.e. other nearby areas of the Park). 

The visual impacts for Scenario B has been assessed as varying between minor adverse 
to negligible, during the initial and working phases of the quarry, mainly due to the 
smaller scale of changes and the sensitivity of the views. However, visual impacts relating 
to Scenario A would be more adverse in nature, and Scenario A would result in the 
removal of the central and western portion of the Twyn Y Glog ridgeline. This would 
result in the quarrying operations becoming more visible over a wider area and, 
consequently, a greater number of visual receptors would be affected, and to a greater 
degree. The ridge is also a prominent feature in the landscape and forms an integral part 
of the landscape character in the area. In particular, the ridge is an important part of 
aspect areas CYNONGL021 and CYNONS833, the former being characterised by 
‘Tectonically controlled valley (Valley following folds, fault controlled gorges, or scarps)’ 
with an Evaluation: Outstanding, the latter being characterised by Hillside & Scarp Slopes 
Mosaic - Evaluation: Moderate. There are also the other aspect areas, mentioned above, 
that could be impacted upon by the removal of the ridge, in particular in areas to the 
south which would experience the greater visual impacts if Scenario A were to be 
carried out. 

Taking the above into consideration in terms of landscape and visual impact, Scenario A 
would have a greater adverse impact on visual receptors and on the overall landscape of 
the area, in comparison to Scenario B which would have relatively limited impacts. 
Scenario A has planning permission and there is no reason to believe that, should 
planning permission be refused for Scenario B, the operator would not continue to 
implement the relevant planning permission and continue quarrying as described under 
Scenario A, removing the Twyn Y Glog ridge. 

NRW have been consulted on this application and part of their role is to comment on 

Page 29



Page 24 of 58

landscape issues, as the Authority do not currently have their own landscape officer. In 
their initial response (2/9/2019), NRW acknowledged that the proposed swap would 
offer a benefit in terms of landscape impact compared to the approved development, in 
particular from viewpoints to the south of the site. 

There have been significant delays in determining this application, and as a result, some 
quarrying operations have commenced in the western area of the ridge. These 
operations have been relatively limited, and the applicant has confirmed that these 
operations represent approximately 14% of the lateral area of the western ridge that 
currently has permission to be worked. A revised photomontage, showing these 
operations, was submitted by the applicant in August 2020. This shows that whilst there 
has been some impact on the landscape, this impact is minimal and there would still be 
an overall benefit in landscape terms, by permitting the swap over the currently 
approved scheme. NRW were re-consulted on this updated montage and have not 
added to their previous comments (dated 2/9/2019) concerning landscape impact. 
Therefore, despite the (limited) operations that have been carried out within the 
western half of the ridge, it would still be more beneficial in terms of landscape and visual 
impact, to carry out the operations as proposed. 

In conclusion, in terms of landscape and visual impact, the proposals are more beneficial 
than compared to the existing position (Scenario A) and are in accord with the aims and 
objectives of the LDP (specifically policies; Policy SP1 Appropriate Development in the 
National Park, Policy SP22 Areas of Archaeological Evaluation & Policy SP49 Rights of 
Way and Long Distance Routes). The proposals would also be in accord with the main 
aims and objectives of the National Park Management Plan, in particular objective 3 
which aims to ‘prevent degradation of the Parks’ landscape’.

Hydrology and Hydrogeology

A full Hydrological and Hydrogeological Impact Assessment (HIA) and a Flood 
Consequence Assessment (FCA) accompanies the application. This section of the report 
only considers the impacts of the proposed development (not the existing development) 
and any existing potential impacts with regard to effects in-combination with the existing 
development are considered in a separate section later in the report. The HIA provides 
a comprehensive baseline for the underlying hydrogeological conditions at the site and 
the surrounding area, comprising studies of the following;

 Geology; including, Regional geology, Local geology and Infilled ground/landfilling 
features

 Hydrology; including Rainfall, Surface water features, Surface water flow and levels, 
Site Drainage and Water Management and the Site water management plan 

 Hydrogeology including; Groundwater levels and flow, Aquifer properties 
 Surface Water and Groundwater Quality 
 Surface water quality 
 Groundwater quality

Having established a hydrological and hydrogeological baseline for the study area, the 
HIA examines any potential receptors nearby that could have the potential to be affected 
by the proposed operations. The HIA identifies the following receptors, in the vicinity of 
the site, which could be potentially affected by the proposals:

Page 30



Page 25 of 58

 Surface water receptors, identified as the Bodwigiad Stream, Nant Cadlan and the 
River Cynon

 There are also numerous licensed abstractions in the area (full details of these have 
been provided in a ‘sensitive HIA’ which has only been provided to NRW, Welsh 
Government, the Authority and Dwr Cymru)

 Numerous private water supplies (the Penderyn Whiskey Distillery is included in this 
section because it only abstracts 20 cubic metres of water per day, which is below 
the level required for a ‘licensed’ abstraction). Overall, the HIA has identified 10 
different private water supplies over varying distances, for mostly domestic and 
commercial uses.

 Numerous sites designated for ecological purposes, the closest being Cwm Cadlan 
SSSI/SAC/NNR located between 170m and 440 metres to the north of the proposed 
site. There are numerous other designated sites ranging from 440 metres away up to 
approx. 3.3 kilometres from the site. Many of these sites are designated due to flora 
and fauna that are strongly dependent on hydrological regimes, mainly due to the 
prevalence of limestone in the geology of the area.

 Following the identification of the potential receptors, a hydrogeological conceptual 
model has been produced, mapping the varying geology of the area, including the 
current quarry void, the ground and surface water flows and percolation.

Having identified the potential receptors and mapped the conceptual model, the HIA 
goes on to examine the proposed development and any potential impacts that may affect 
the receptors, these are discussed below.

Changes to Groundwater Recharge

The applicant has highlighted that de-watering will not be needed at the Site, so the most 
probable way of receptors being impacted by the development would be via a reduction 
in re-charge to the carboniferous limestone body. The conceptual model in the HIA 
suggests that any reduction in recharge at the site would be small and given the area of 
sandstone is greater than the limestone area (which is more receptive to recharge) at 
the Site, total recharge to the aquifer could increase. Given the small area of the 
proposed operations, in comparison to the entire limestone aquifer, any impacts on 
recharge are considered to be minimal.

Interception of the perched water table

The hydrological conceptual model for Penderyn Quarry suggests that there may be 
perched ground water tables within the aquifer, above the lower permeability layers, 
such as mudstones. Much of the flow from these perched water tables would be 
directed south (due to the dip of the strategic horizons), therefore, seepage into the 
quarry void (to the north) would be unlikely to occur. There would be a reduction in 
catchment area for these perched water tables but given the small size of the Site any 
associated impacts are expected to be negligible.

Changes to surface water catchment

The study reveals a catchment divide that runs north-east to south-west through the 
overall site, currently surface water from the site flows partly to the north of this divide 
(into the quarry void) and to the south, towards the Bodwigiad Stream. The proposed 

Page 31



Page 26 of 58

quarrying of the eastern part of the ridge would push this part of the catchment divide 
further south-westwards, resulting in all run-off in the Site discharging to the quarry void, 
reducing the amount going to the Bodwigiad stream. An assessment of how this changes 
neighbouring receptors has been carried out and is summarised below,

 Impacts on nearby abstractions - the impacts have been assessed as negligible, and 
mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

 Impacts on sensitive sites - the impacts have been assessed as negligible, and 
mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

 Impacts on watercourse and water bodies - the impacts have been assessed as 
negligible, and mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

 Impacts on water quality from plant operation - the impacts have been assessed as 
negligible, and mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

 Impacts on receiving watercourse quality - the impacts have been assessed as 
negligible, and mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

 Impacts from restoration - the impacts have been assessed as negligible, and 
mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

As part of the assessment, the study also looked at the potential impacts relating to the 
removal of the western part of the Twyn Y Glog ridge. It showed that this would result 
in a loss of a slightly bigger catchment area, for the Bodwigiad stream, compared to that 
proposed, although the impacts of this are still assessed as being negligible. It concluded 
that there would be a slight net benefit associated with the proposed development 
compared to the alternative of working the area to be preserved, although in both cases 
any associated impacts are deemed to be negligible.

NRW and Dwr Cymru have been consulted on the application, the latter has confirmed 
that whilst they have some concerns with regard to recent reductions in flow at 
Bodwigiad and Bwllfa streams, they do not raise any objections. This is based on the fact 
that the proposal does not seek to laterally extend or deepen the quarry over and above 
what is currently permitted. NRW has raised numerous objections (including relating to 
ecology) but specifically in relation to the proposed development and the in-combination 
impacts that it could potentially have on the Cwm Cadlan SAC (to the north of the 
existing site and the proposed quarry). 

In response to the initial queries from NRW, the applicant sought to confirm that there 
will be no de-watering within the Site to ensure there would be no additional impact on 
the SAC, over and above any potential for impact already present due to the existing 
quarry. NRW have raised additional queries as to whether the placement of 
soils/waste/overburden material arising from the proposed operations within the Site 
into the quarry void would require dewatering to continue, and whether or not this 
could have any effect on the integrity of the SAC. 

Following extensive consultation between NRW, the Authority, the applicant, and their 
advisors, the applicant has taken the decision to voluntarily cease de-watering at the 
quarry and to switch the pumps off, should planning permission be granted for the swap. 
This will be secured via a suitably worded Section 106 Agreement to ensure that on 
commencement of any further operations within the swap area, as part of any 
permission granted, the pumps would be switched off and dewatering cease. The 
applicant seeks to include a clause within the Section 106 Agreement, that, should they 

Page 32



Page 27 of 58

be granted a transitional license for dewatering from NRW in the future, that de-
watering at the site could re-commenced. This is considered an acceptable compromise, 
as any potential impacts on the SAC related to the de-watering of the quarry would 
need to be considered by NRW during the transitional license process. If a license were 
to be granted by NRW then the Authority should be satisfied that any potential impacts 
on the SAC would have been taken into account by NRW and that the dewatering 
would not have any negative impacts on the integrity of the SAC.

In light of the above, and taking into account all the environmental information submitted 
and the consultee replies (following further clarification from the applicant), it is 
considered that the proposed operations would not have any adverse impacts on the 
hydrogeology within the vicinity and would not have any impacts on the Cwm Cadlan 
SAC/SSSI.

Cultural Heritage

A full cultural heritage assessment was undertaken as part of the ROMP and 
accompanies this application following a request from the Authority’s Archaeological 
Officer. The assessment takes into account any below ground archaeological resources, 
extant built heritage remains, the historic landscape, and also the existing permitted 
permission at Penderyn Quarry, the current application area and a wider study area 
within a 500 metre radius of the site. 

Historic cartographic sources have identified a dry-stone wall in the western area of the 
Twyn Y Glog ridge, this is part of a long boundary wall, first depicted in 1840. However, 
this feature is within the proposed ‘preserved’ area and so would not be impacted upon 
by the proposed operations. The outer edge of the ridge has been identified as being 
largely undisturbed, the study noting the ridge as a relatively prominent landscape 
feature, no archaeological features were recorded here and the presence of the 
limestone outcrops (indicating relatively shallow soils) suggests a limited potential for any 
unrecorded archaeological features. 

There are also 2 scheduled ancient monuments (SAM’s) within close proximity to the 
proposed site (a ring cairn and a round cairn) which are part of the surviving ritual 
landscape of prehistoric monuments. There is evidence of further cairns further afield, 
but not within the study area. Looking at the wider landscape, the East Forest Fawr and 
Mynydd Y Glog is registered in the Landscape of Special Historic Interest in Wales. 
There is also widespread and diverse well preserved archaeological evidence of use of 
the land from pre-historic periods to the recent past, contained within this landscape 
area. 

The application site is situated within this wider landscape but is not as prominent 
visually in comparison to the western half of the Twyn Y Glog ridge and the proposed 
operations would have significantly less impact on the historic landscape. Given that 
there are no features of cultural significance within the site and quarrying operations 
would not involve the removal of any such features, the proposed operations would not 
have any adverse, direct physical impacts on the cultural heritage of the area. CADW 
have been consulted on the application and they have not raised any concerns with 
regard to the proposed operations and any potential impacts on cultural heritage 
features, either within the site boundary, or within the wider area. 

Page 33



Page 28 of 58

The assessment noted that there are no archaeological features within the Site, although 
following further examination during a site visit with the Authority’s Archaeological 
Officer, some potential archaeological remains, located roughly in the centre of the 
proposed swap area, were noted. Further studies were conducted to ascertain the origin 
of these archaeological remains, and it was revealed that the area was in fact an area 
where localised quarrying had taken place, as well as natural geological outcrop features. 
The Authority’s Archaeological Officer was happy to accept these findings and has raised 
no objections to the application as it was concluded that the application is unlikely to 
have any archaeological impacts.

In addition to these features there are also the two listed buildings to the south-west (as 
highlighted in the site description) and it is considered that this proposal would provide 
significant benefits in terms of reducing potential impacts on the listed buildings and their 
settings. Should the currently proposed scheme be implemented then the removal of the 
ridge would have significant impacts in terms of visual amenity and the impacts that this 
would have on the setting of these listed buildings. The proposed scheme would shift 
quarrying operations to the east and the western half of the Twyn Y Glog ridge would 
be retained. The ridge is an important part of the landscape and an integral feature of the 
setting of these listed buildings. The landscape in this area is largely open with relatively 
few boundaries or enclosing features and there is clear inter-visibility between these 
listed building and the ridge. Taking this into consideration the proposed development 
would have clear benefits for these listed buildings as the distance between active quarry 
workings would be increased by approximately 500 metres further to the east and 
impacts on the setting of these listed buildings would be significantly reduced.

Given the above, in conclusion, it is considered that the proposal would result in a slight 
benefit in terms of the cultural heritage in the area, given that the wall located in the 
western side of the ridge would be retained with this proposal and would be entirely 
removed if the current, extant, permission were to be implemented. 

Ecology

A full Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) was submitted with the ROMP application in 
2011. This application draws upon the information in the EcIA, but also provides updated 
surveys and confirms measures that have been undertaken to implement 
recommendations made in the EcIA. This includes the translocation of reptiles from the 
proposed site (and installation of herptile fencing), updated badger surveys and a bat 
survey of a potential bat roost, particularly a cave in the southern face of the existing 
quarry. There are no statutorily designated sites for nature conservation within the site 
boundary, but there are various designated sites within 2 kilometres of the site (as 
highlighted in the site description) the closest being the Cwm Cadlan SAC/NNR, which 
is approximately 450 metres from the application site. 

The Site itself is comprised mostly of acid grasslands and bracken cover over numerous 
areas of previous disturbance, consisting of piles of loose rocks and fractured outcrops. 
The remaining ridge area (the area proposed to be ‘preserved’) is a more ecologically 
diverse area in comparison with south facing 45º rock exposures with mosses and other 
species around edges, along with a diverse grassland encroaching from the surrounding 
heathland/acid grassland vegetation and lichen patches on the rocks. Species surveys at 
the site have confirmed a population of reptiles (common lizards) which have already 

Page 34



Page 29 of 58

been translocated to suitable habitats. A badger survey was also carried out within the 
boundary of the application site and a potential badger sett was found, but subsequent 
surveys showed no activity. The survey of the site also revealed two caves that could 
have potential to support roosting bats. These caves were subject to surveys in August 
2016 and an updated survey in June 2019 with a bat detector hanging in front of the 
upper cave (as this was not readily accessible by foot) for two dusks and two dawn 
surveys. During these surveys no bats were recorded in the vicinity of these caves.

NRW have been consulted on this application, and with regard to any potential impacts 
on bats, they did raise further queries with regard to the surveys carried out and 
requested that more information was compiled in order to adequately assess the 
potential of the caves to act as a bat roost. Following this request, the applicant had 
further surveys conducted on site, including drones flown into the cave to check for any 
potential bat activity. These further surveys showed that there was no bat activity in 
these caves, and, in fact, the caves would not be suitable for bats. The survey of the 
wider area also revealed that there are hot spots of bat activity within the western area 
of the ridge, proposed to be preserved. 

Following these further surveys NRW confirmed, in a letter dated 12th December 2019, 
that they have no further objections with regard to protected species. Taking this into 
account it is considered that the proposals would have a small ecological gain due to the 
western part of the ridge being retained (that has more potential to support bats and 
showed more bat activity). If this part of the ridge were to be removed (as is currently 
permitted) then there would potentially be more impacts on ecology in comparison to 
the proposed excavation area which is in a less ecologically diverse area with fewer 
features of interest on the whole. The Authority’s Planning Ecologist was also consulted 
on the application and initially echoed the NRW’s comments with regard to the 
additional bat information needed. Once this had been provided the Authority’s Planning 
Ecologist was satisfied that the cave features were not suitable as bat habitat and that the 
application proposals would result in limited impacts to ecology.

Habitats Regulations Assessment

Following on from the above sections on the water environment and ecology this 
section will consider the scope of the test of likely significant effects (TLSE)/Appropriate 
Assessment that will need to be carried out by the Authority as the ‘competent 
Authority’ in consultation with NRW. 

There has been much debate over whether the Authority needs to consider the existing 
site on its own or as part of the plan or project comprising the overall quarry site, in 
carrying out their duties under the Habitats Directive. Following legal opinions from 
both the applicant and a solicitor employed by the Authority, as well as advice from 
NRW, it is considered that, in carrying out its duties under the Habitats Directive, the 
Authority will need to consider both the application site and the existing quarrying 
operations as part of the same plan or project. This approach was agreed by the 
Applicant’s most recent legal advice (dated 4th March 2020), which confirmed that the 
dependence of the proposed operations on the existing site operations is clear and given 
the requirement of the Habitats Directive Regulations to consider ‘a wide and purposive 
interpretation’ of a plan or project, the site as a whole will need to be considered.

Page 35



Page 30 of 58

NRW have maintained that whilst the proposal in itself will have no impacts on the 
integrity of the Cwm Cadlan SAC, the site as a whole needs to be taken into account for 
the HRA purposes and this is confirmed in their letter dated 24th February. NRW 
consider that for the purpose of compliance with the Habitats Directive, the ‘project’ 
should be interpreted as the entirety of the quarrying works being carried out at 
Penderyn Quarry. NRW have stated that:

“It would not be an advisable approach to disaggregate the project as we consider that 
there is sufficient functional connection between the extant planning application and the 
wider quarrying works so that they need to be considered together. Therefore, the 
HRA should not be limited to impacts arising from the development proposed under this 
application alone.”

As mentioned in the hydrology section of the report above, following extensive 
discussions between the Applicant, the Authority and NRW the applicant has confirmed 
that they are willing to cease de-watering at the quarry, until such time as/when the 
transitional license agreement has been determined by NRW. This undertaking is to be 
secured by the prior signing of a Section 106 Agreement before any planning permission 
is granted. Therefore, the cessation of dewatering will enable the Authority to make a 
positive determination on the AA as there would no longer be any risk to the integrity 
of the SAC as a result of dewatering operations. If a Section 106 Agreement is not 
agreed, then any new permission would not be issued and the extant operations would 
continue to be carried out. 

In conclusion, the Authority has sought legal advice in determining the scope of the 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA); taking this into account, along with legal 
opinions provided to the Authority by NRW and the applicant, it has been decided that 
the entire quarry must be considered to be part of the plan or project. The HRA (Test 
of Likely Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment) has being carried out by the 
Authority on this basis. The wording of the Section 106 agreement between Hanson 
and the BBNPA has been agreed and secures the cessation of de-watering at the site. A 
planning condition will also be imposed to ensure that there is no rock extraction 
below 265m A.O.D., i.e. above the level of the water table. The Appropriate 
Assessment therefore concludes that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of Cwm 
Cadlan SAC, subject to the imposition of a planning condition and the signing of the 
Section 106 Agreement. Natural Resources Wales were consulted on the Authority's 
HRA (including the Appropriate Assessment) on 17th September 2020; NRW 
responded on 21st September 2020 and have confirmed that they are in agreement 
with this conclusion.

Air Quality

The applicant has confirmed that the operational side of the quarry, relating to the 
processing and treating of stone will not change from the current working practices and 
all stone will be processed in the currently permitted stocking/processing area. The 
applicant has confirmed that the existing dust mitigation measures employed at the 
quarry, and as detailed in the submitted ROMP will continue to be employed on site (in 
the processing/stocking area) and, where applicable, in the extension area. Many of these 
measures are best practice measures and mostly industry standard, such as:

Page 36



Page 31 of 58

 Use of clean water for dust suppression – no recycling of fine material
 High standards of house keeping
 Dampening of haul roads by bowser in dry weather
 Dust suppression by regular spraying from fixed spray points in dry conditions
 Regular maintenance of haul roads
 Site speed limit of 10 miles per hour
 Fitting all site vehicles with correct (pointing to the vertical) exhausts and fan 

shields
 Ensuring no loose soils or other materials are left loose on the ground so that they 

can’t be wind entrained.

These measures have been employed at the site for some time without any major issues 
relating to dust impacts. It is noted that the proposed swap area is further from the 
nearest dust sensitive receptor, which is a residential property known as Garw-dyle, 
which is approximately 160 metres to the north of the overall quarry site. The southern 
quarry face of the proposed site would be located approximately 380 metres from the 
property, substantially further away than the quarry boundary, with the existing quarry 
operations being carried out in between. In light of these circumstances, it is considered 
that the proposals would not have significant adverse impacts associated with dust 
emissions. The proposed area of extraction would move these operations further away 
from any sensitive properties and it would be in an isolated area with no sensitive 
receptors close enough to the proposed site to suffer significant adverse impacts from 
dust. In combination with this, the dust mitigation measures mentioned above would also 
be utilised and help to keep any fugitive emission from the site to a minimum so that 
dust does not become wind entrained and have potentially wider ranging impacts.

In addition to the measures highlighted above, a condition will be imposed on any 
permission, requiring the submission of a dust control scheme, for the written approval 
of the Authority. This would provide the Authority with a comprehensive scheme to 
reduce dust emissions within the Site, which could be used as an enforcement tool 
should there be any issues with dust emissions from the site. Given all these measures 
and the lack of any significant impacts from dust during the site’s long history of 
operations, it is unlikely that the proposed site, being small in nature, and further from 
the existing settlement of Penderyn would have any significant negative impacts on 
amenity.

Soundscape

A noise study was undertaken as part of the ROMP submission, and this considered the 
effects of noise at residential properties in near proximity to the overall quarry site, and 
also in the context of the processing area.

Paragraph 85 of MTAN1 states that where aggregate extraction and related operations 
occur close to areas that are sensitive to noise, particularly residential areas, the noise 
impacts must be minimised to acceptable levels. Paragraph 87 states that the aggregates 
industry should aim to keep noise emissions at a level that reflects the highest possible 
environmental standards, taking all reasonable steps to achieve quieter working, while 
having regard to the principles of best available techniques not entailing excessive cost.

Page 37



Page 32 of 58

Paragraph 88 of MTAN1 states that noise limits should relate to the background noise 
levels subject to a maximum daytime (0700 to 1900 hours) limit of 55 dBLAeq (1 hour) 
(freefield) at noise sensitive properties where background noise levels exceed 
45dBLA90. Where background noise levels are less than 45dB, noise limits should be 
defined as background noise limits plus 10dB. Night time working (1900 to 0700 hours) 
limits should not exceed 42dBLAeq, at noise sensitive properties. The applicant 
acknowledges that noise guidance in MTAN 1 supersedes Paras 31- 42 of MPG 11, yet 
quotes guidance from Para 3 of the MPG – this is not relevant to this application and the 
limits within MTAN 1 need to be applied to this development.

The study that was carried out for the ROMP collated two sets of daytime average 
background figures, one with the quarry not working and one with the quarry working. 
These indicate significant differences in background levels at Gelli-Neuadd (47 and 34), 
Beacons Park (45 to 31) and the houses north of the Distillery (42 to 35) when the 
quarry is operating and when it is not.  There were smaller differences at Rhoshyfryd, 
Chapel Road (48 to 44), Gelli Dafalog (39 to 34) and at 1 Lamb Road (40 to 37) and no 
difference at Garw Dyle farm (33) – this average of 33 at Garw Dyle is acknowledged in 
the ES submitted with this application.

A night time level of 42dBLAeq, as suggested in MTAN1 is achievable at all noise 
sensitive properties and is proposed by the applicant. The noise level would have to be 
achieved at time periods outside of the normal working day when the road stone coating 
plant and the premix plant could be working. The noise study recommended a noise 
limit of 45 dBLAeq at Garw-dyle, based on the guidance of Para 38 of MPG 11, which has 
been superseded by MTAN 1 – as already acknowledged by the applicant in the ES. It is 
therefore considered that a proposed limit of 45dBLAeq is not acceptable, based on the 
up to date, relevant guidance in MTAN1, and that the noise limit should be the 
background noise limit plus 10dB. The information provided in both the ROMP and this 
application confirms that the average daytime noise level at Garw Dyle is 33 dBLAeq, 
and on this basis the daytime noise limit should be 43 dBLAeq. The ES submitted with 
this application suggests that calculated noise levels at Garw Dyle are 41 dBLAeq, so the 
required noise level of 43 dBLAeq should be achievable.

There are no changes in working hours or working practices proposed as part of this 
application, so any potential for the generation of noise would remain the same as under 
the currently permitted development. As with dust emissions, should planning 
permission be granted, a condition requiring the submission of a noise monitoring 
scheme would be imposed. This would provide a mechanism for monitoring noise levels 
from the site and would enable the Authority to request measures to be taken to reduce 
noise levels, should the prescribed levels be exceeded. In view of the above, it is 
considered that potential noise impacts from the proposed site would not have any 
significant adverse impacts on any of the potential receptors.

Blasting vibration and air overpressure

The blast modelling carried out as part of the ROMP application showed that with 
carefully designed blasts, the vibration levels will not exceed the standards set out in 
MTAN1, at the nearest receptors. The current, principal planning permission (CV 
14033) sets higher limits than those required by MTAN 1 (that planning permission pre-
dates MTAN 1). The limits set by MTAN 1 being 6 mm/s in 95% of all blasts measured 

Page 38



Page 33 of 58

over a 6 month period with no individual blasts exceeding 10 mm/s. The applicant has 
stated that should this permission be granted, blasting would comply with the lower 
limits, as required by MTAN 1, this being the relevant standard. In any event, it is 
considered that the proposals would not have any significant adverse impacts relating to 
blasting, as the Site is further away from the closest properties to the site.

Air overpressure may also occur as a result of blasting; however, damage caused by air 
over pressure is rare. Air overpressure is also heavily influenced by meteorological 
conditions such as wind speed direction, cloud cover, humidity and temperature 
inversions. This means that it is often difficult to predict air overpressure levels and also 
difficult to control, irrespective of how well a blast is designed. Para 81 of MTAN1 
states;

“In view of this unpredictability, planning conditions to control air overpressure are unlikely to be 
enforceable. This is not a reason for doing nothing and careful blast design should be able to 
resolve excessive levels of air overpressure. Such details are controlled by quarry regulations 
which impose requirements relating to health and safety at quarries.”

Taking this into consideration it is, in this instance, not considered appropriate to impose 
a condition limiting the air overpressure to specific levels. What is proposed is that a 
review of blast design is required if air overpressure exceeds 120dB. 

The Environmental Health Service of Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council have 
been consulted on this application, but no response has been received to date.

If permission were granted for the proposed reserve swap it would result in quarrying in 
a location further from any potentially sensitive receptors compared to the Scenario A 
which would involve the western half of the Twyn Y Glog ridge to be worked. Bearing 
this in mind, the proposal is likely to reduce any potential environmental impacts on 
residential receptors.  It should also be noted that with all of the above environmental 
factors there would be an inherent benefit of the proposals due to a reduction in the life 
of the quarry. The proposed reserve swap would reduce the workable reserve at the 
site, by approximately 7.4 million tonnes. At a notional output of 500,000 tonnes per 
annum (this could vary) based on recent output, the proposals would reduce the 
working life of the site by a potential 15 years. This reduction of time would be beneficial 
in terms of any future potential impacts related to the above environmental impacts. 

8.3.2 Active and Social Places

Transport, Housing, Retail and Commercial Centres, Community Facilities, Recreational 
Spaces

This proposal would only have impacts relating to transport, the other elements would 
not be relevant with this proposal

Transport

The proposed development does not propose to increase the output of the overall 
quarry site. Therefore, there would be no increase in highway movements, as a result of 
this proposed development. Further, the proposal would reduce the workable reserve 

Page 39



Page 34 of 58

and the life of the quarry. Consequently, the proposals would be beneficial in terms of 
impact on the local highway network, due to the reduction in life of operations at the 
site. RCT highway department have been consulted on the application and have not 
raised any objections.

8.3.3 Productive and enterprising places

Economic Development, Tourism, The Rural Economy, Transportation Infrastructure, 
Telecommunications, Energy, Minerals, Waste 

This section analyses the principle of new minerals development within the National Park 
and the relevant policies associated with this and also includes a section on the 
local/rural economy.

The Principle of minerals development in the context of the National Park

Guidance in both MTAN1 and PPW is clear in its purpose to try and prevent minerals 
developments in National Parks, except for occasions when there are exceptional 
circumstances, as highlighted below, in Para 5.14.35 of PPW 10:-

• the need for the development in terms of UK considerations of mineral supply;

• the impact on the local economy of permitting the development or refusing it;

• whether alternative supplies can be made available at reasonable cost, and the scope 
for meeting the need in some other way;

• the detrimental effect of the proposals on the natural and historic environment and 
local community and landscape and the extent to which that can be moderated, and / 
or the detrimental effect of the proposals on the nature conservation interest of the site 
in terms of habitat, protected species and biodiversity; and

• in the case of extensions to existing quarries and other mineral extraction sites, the 
extent to which the proposal would achieve an enhancement to the local landscape and 
provide for nature conservation and biodiversity. 

This has built upon the guidance provided by Para 52 of MTAN1 which states that:-

“To justify allocations in development plans or the approval of proposals for new sites, or 
extensions to existing sites, for the extraction of aggregates of a particular specification in 
National Parks and AONBs, it must be demonstrated that:- alternative resources, that would be 
environmentally acceptable for extraction, are not available; the scope for meeting the need 
some other way has been assessed and rejected; and that the detrimental effects of the 
proposal can be mitigated or compensated for.”

The application Site, whilst proposing to alter the lateral footprint of the extraction area, 
is in an area that has been previously disturbed and is adjacent to the restored ‘sinkhole’ 
tip. The haul road constructed for access to this tip runs through the Site and is clearly 
visible throughout the length of the site up to the ‘sinkhole’ tip. The proposed swap of 
reserves would involve sacrificing the permitted reserves at Twyn Y Glog ridge (to the 

Page 40



Page 35 of 58

west of the proposed site). The area permitted for extraction at Twyn Y Glog ridge 
amounts to some 2.35 hectares, whilst the Site area is 1.77 hectares. The situation is 
similar with regard to the reserves, such that if the Twyn Y Glog ridge were to be 
worked, as is currently permitted, the quarry has reserves of approx. 29.6 million 
tonnes. If the proposed Site is worked, and the ridge given up there would be a reserve 
of 22.2 million tonnes, a net reduction of 7.4 million tonnes. Assuming an annual output 
of 500,000 tonnes per annum (as is currently the case) the proposed Site would result in 
a reduction of the operational life of the quarry by approximately 15 years. 

The principle of minerals development in the context of the National Park, is set out in 
Para 5.14.35 of PPW 10. An assessment of the proposed development against these 
criteria is set out below:-

The need for the development in terms of UK considerations of mineral supply;

Penderyn Quarry has extant mineral permissions for the extraction and processing of 
stone, as granted under four separate planning permissions, which are currently subject 
to the outstanding ROMP application. It is a long established site that produces 
approximately 500,000 tonnes of aggregate per year, supplying the local economy and 
further afield. The proposed development is not necessary in terms of UK 
considerations of minerals supply, although it does help towards the national policy goal 
of moving production from National Parks, wherever possible.

The impact on the local economy of permitting the development or refusing it;

As stated above, the site is an existing quarry with an extant permission for working 
minerals, and there are a number of employees employed directly at the overall site, 
along with numerous suppliers such as hauliers and mechanics etc, that find employment 
indirectly via the quarry. The proposed swap of reserves would enable work to continue 
and help to safeguard the jobs at the site, during a period of potential economic 
uncertainty, without having to remove the prominent Twyn Y Glog ridgeline 

Whether alternative supplies can be made available at reasonable cost, and the scope for 
meeting the need in some other way;

Given the policies regarding the removal of production of aggregates from the National 
Park, it is reasonable to expect that over a 15 year period, alternative provision could be 
made to produce the material outside of the National Park boundary. The 15-year 
transitional period is pivotal in making this change without damaging the supply chain and 
the local economy.

The detrimental effect of the proposals on the natural and historic environment and local 
community and landscape and the extent to which that can be moderated, and / or the 
detrimental effect of the proposals on the nature conservation interest of the site in terms of 
habitat, protected species and biodiversity; 

The proposed development should be considered having regard to the alternative, the 
removal of the Twyn Y Glog ridge. Bearing this in mind, and considering the difference in 
size, potential impacts on ecology and on hydrology (the workings permitted at the ridge 
can go deeper than those proposed) and the potential visual impact of removing the 

Page 41



Page 36 of 58

ridge (as is currently approved) the proposed swap would clearly be the more 
favourable. The proposed site is smaller and in a much less prominent position visually. 
The proposed development would result in a slight benefit in terms of the cultural 
heritage as the wall located in the western side of the ridge would be retained whereas it 
would be entirely removed by the extant permission. The Site is located further from 
the village of Penderyn than the currently permitted area of working on the western half 
of the ridge, so any potential impacts on the community relating to quarrying operations 
would be likely to be reduced due to the increase in separation distances. 

In the case of extensions to existing quarries and other mineral extraction sites, the extent to 
which the proposal would achieve an enhancement to the local landscape and provide for 
nature conservation and biodiversity. 

The working of the proposed Site, as an alternative to the removal of the Twyn Y Glog 
ridge would be a clear enhancement in terms of the impacts on the local landscape, due 
to the retention of the visually prominent ridge. The opportunities with regard to 
providing for nature conservation and biodiversity, would be similar, as both areas would 
be subject to similar restoration and aftercare treatments. However, the proposed Site 
is smaller than the ridge so there would be less habitat removal in the first place. The 
proposed development would also result in more natural looking quarry faces within the 
overall restoration scheme.

The Authority’s strategy in relation to the sustainable use of minerals resources is set 
out in Chapter 10 of the LDP. The strategy states the following:-;

“To protect the National Park against new mineral workings and extensions to existing mineral 
workings, whilst also safeguarding appropriate mineral resources from sterilisation. “

Para 10.1.12 of the LDP states that “Proposals for quarrying will be determined against 
development control policies set out in the national guidance (as above).”

In conclusion, the proposed development represents an alternative area of mineral 
working which is located within the overall quarry boundary. There are clear benefits for 
the National Park in relation to this scheme compared to the extant permission. The site 
area would be reduced, the prominent ridgeline retained, there would be a significant 
reduction in visual impact and therefore a reduction in detrimental effects on the special 
qualities of the Park and the reduction in reserves would result in a shorter lifespan by 
approximately 15 years. Clearly, this would be in accord with National and local planning 
policy guidance relating to minerals extraction in the National Park. Therefore, taking all 
of the above into consideration the principle of the development is considered beneficial 
in terms of the reduced impact on the features of the National Park.

Tourism

The National Park is visited by tourists from all over the world, the most recent Brecon 
Beacons Visitor Survey (covering 2016-2017) shows that some of the main motivations 
for people visiting the park, are as follows;

Page 42



Page 37 of 58

 Visitors choose the National Park for the beautiful scenery and countryside (59%), 
walking in the uplands (33%), previous visits (28%), peace and quiet (25%), lowland 
walking (23%) and for health/exercise (21%).  

 The beauty of the area is more attractive to visitors from overseas (74%) and 
England (65%) than Wales (52%)

This survey highlights the wide area of where visitors to the Park originate, and the 
importance of the landscape and scenery as a motivating factor for people visiting the 
park, from abroad and from the closer locality.  Landscape, then, is clearly an important 
factor in influencing visitors to the Park, from home and from abroad. It would 
therefore, not support the tourist industry to allow the ridge, an important local 
landscape feature, to be worked any more than it already has been. It would, therefore, 
be beneficial to permit the proposed development, as opposed to refusing this 
application and allowing the ridge to be removed. The open landscape would be retained 
with minimal visual impact.

9 Conclusion

 National Park Purpose and Duty

 The twin purposes of the National Park, as set out in Section 61 of the Environment Act 
1995 are:-

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage of the National Park

 To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of 
the special qualities of the National Park by the public.

In addition, Section 62 of the Environment Act 1995 also places a duty onto the National 
Park, as follows:-

 To foster the economic and social well-being of local communities, 
living within the National Park

These elements have been considered within the main body of the report. In terms of 
the first purpose, the proposed development offers an opportunity to preserve an 
important feature of the landscape within the National Park, the alternative would lead 
to the removal of the Twyn Y Glog ridge within a relatively short period. In terms of the 
wildlife and cultural heritage, the proposed development would again be a positive step, 
(although less so when compared to landscape) given that there is more potential for 
bats in the western half of the ridge and there is also a feature of cultural heritage, an old 
stone wall, that would be partially removed should this application be refused.

The proposed development would also make a positive contribution towards 
opportunities for public enjoyment of the Park, as there are many public footpaths in the 
vicinity of the site and views from these footpaths would be less ‘enjoyable’ should the 
western half of the ridge be removed, in accordance with the extant planning permission. 
The proposal would also help to enhance the special qualities of the Park (of which 
landscape is a major factor) by helping to preserve a prominent local landscape feature.

Page 43



Page 38 of 58

In terms of the economic well-being of local communities within the Park, it would help 
to provide more stability for those persons directly employed at the quarry and for 
those employed in support jobs (for example haulage firms)  and those employed at the 
nearby concrete block production plant. Over the lifetime of the permission, 
approximately 15 years, alternative sources of supply can be sourced outside of the 
National Park.

 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources

The proposal would not extend the site (the area is already covered by a minerals 
permission) but would result in a reserves swap which would actually reduce the overall 
reserves at the site, by approximately 7.4 million tonnes. In terms of the need for the 
mineral, whilst there would be a reduction in available reserves this would actually be an 
advantage given that the quarry is located within a National Park. As mentioned 
previously, there are numerous polices at national, regional and local level that seek to 
discourage minerals operations within national park boundaries and it would be more 
sustainable if the demand for these aggregates could be met from outside the Park.  
Guidance in both MTAN1 and PPW is clear in its purpose to try and limit minerals 
developments in National Parks, except in exceptional circumstances. As set out above, 
the proposed development is considered to be an exceptional case. It reduces the 
amount of reserves and the life of the site, provides for a transitional period so that the 
impact on the local economy is minimised in the short term, whilst the supply pattern is 
changed; there are clear landscape, natural and historic environmental benefits in 
permitting the application. 

The extant permission at the site that would allow working until 2042, therefore, 
anything that can be done to reduce the operational lifetime of the site is an 
improvement. Reducing the reserve at the site would reduce the overall supply from the 
National Park in line with the aims and objectives of National, Regional and local policies 
and guidance. As stated in MTAN1, Local Authorities are encouraged to work together 
to meet any shortfalls that may occur in National Park Areas, from sources outside of 
the National Park. Clearly, whilst a reduction in reserves at Penderyn Quarry may have a 
slight impact on regional provision for limestone, there are adequate opportunities in 
place for alternative supplies, outside the boundary of the Park o be utilised. The 
positives of reducing the lifetime of quarry workings at Penderyn Quarry would far 
outweigh the potential (minor) negatives relating to mineral supply. It is therefore 
concluded that the reduction of quarry working is clearly in accord with the numerous 
principles outlined at national and local level and it would make a positive contribution 
towards sustainable minerals management.

 Sustainable Development

o Does the proposal deliver positive outcomes for all pillars of sustainable development? 

As detailed at section 9, the proposed development would be beneficial in terms of the 
preservation of the landscape of the area which holds environmental and cultural value. 
The proposed development would also result in quarrying extraction being located 
further away from residential properties compared to the extant permission. This would 
have social and dwell- being benefits for the local community. There would be associated 
benefits for the economy as the proposal would help with tourism (the destruction of 

Page 44



Page 39 of 58

the ridge may lead to a decrease in tourism in the area) and in relation to the retention 
of jobs, both direct jobs (on the site) and indirect jobs – such as contractors serving the 
site and the nearby concrete production plant.

o Have options been considered and the one which delivers positive outcomes for all 
pillars of sustainable development selected?

The alternative to permitting this application is that the quarry continues to work the 
western half of the ridge. This would have a far greater impact in terms of landscape and 
visual amenity. The eventual removal of the ridge could also have impacts in terms of 
tourism and, subsequently the local economy which relies heavily on tourism. The 
removal of the ridge would also have more significant cultural heritage impacts and 
impacts on the local community in terms of noise/dust/ blast vibration etc. In 
comparison, the proposed development would have minimal impacts in terms of visual 
amenity, would have less of a social impact, in terms of noise, dust, and blast vibration, 
due to an increase in separation distance. The proposed development would also have 
no significant negative impacts in relation to the local economy.

o Are there any ‘trade-offs’ does one pillar outride others (if so an indication that the 
proposals is not sustainable).

In this case, the proposed development would be beneficial in terms of the environment, 
social considerations and the economy. The proposed development would ensure a 
supply of stone that would be above the water table, it would reduce impacts on the 
environment, in particular the landscape and visual attributes, cultural heritage and in 
relation to the ecology and biodiversity interests of the site, including a reduced impacts 
on bats.  The proposed scheme would benefit the local community in terms of social and 
well- being considerations, as potential impacts, relating to dust, noise and blast vibration, 
would be reduced. The proposed swap would also provide benefits to the local economy 
(again in comparison to the approved scheme) as jobs would be maintained and any 
potential impacts on tourism would also be reduced via the proposals. It is therefore 
considered that the proposed development would be in accordance with the principles 
of sustainable development and there would not be any trade- offs between the pillars of 
sustainable development. 

o Is there an appropriate intergenerational balance?

The application would not have any impacts on the intergenerational balance in the 
surrounding area, there would be no changes to the operation of the site, or the work 
force and the continuation of operations would not have any impact on the 
intergenerational balance.

         Options: Implications for sustainable development if:

 Refuse the application 
The removal of the ridge would have negative environmental impacts, in terms of 
landscape and visual impacts on the special qualities of the National Park. Quarrying 
the western half of the ridge would also have greater potential for impacts on the 
local community in terms of noise, dust and blast vibration, as the extant operations 
would be much closer to the settlement of Penderyn. Quarrying operations within 

Page 45



Page 40 of 58

the western half of the ridge would also have potential impacts on the local 
economy, as the visual impact resulting from these operations could have negative 
impacts on tourism in the Park.  

 Permit the application with mitigation – planning obligations
If the proposed development were to be permitted the proposed operations would 
make a positive contribution to sustainable development, compared to the extant 
permission. However, the application is recommended for approval subject to the 
prior signing of a Section 106 Agreement and numerous conditions. The Section 106 
Agreement would secure no further working of the western ridge and also secure 
the cessation of de-watering (which would otherwise have potential to impact on 
the Cwm Cadlan SAC). It is considered that, with the appropriate mitigation and 
obligation, secured via a Section 106 Agreement, the proposal would make a positive 
contribution to sustainable development.

Overall Conclusions

The case for minerals development within the boundaries of a National Park is different 
from other parts of Wales, and this is set out clearly in Para 5.14.2 of PPW which states 
that:-

“The role of the planning authority in relation to mineral extraction is to balance the 
fundamental requirement to ensure the adequate supply of minerals with the protection of 
amenity and the environment.”

In order to try and achieve the balance mentioned in the above abstract, PPW has 
identified key principles that should be taken into account by Mineral Planning 
Authorities when dealing with planning applications for quarries.

The key principles are to:

Provide positively for the safeguarding and working of mineral resources to meet society’s needs 
now and in the future, encouraging the efficient and appropriate use of high quality materials; 

As mentioned previously, in the most part quarry development is discouraged from 
being located within National Park boundaries. In this instance, if planning permission 
were granted, the site would continue to provide minerals for society’s needs, albeit for 
a shortened lifetime with reduced reserves.  This is considered to be a positive 
development as it meets society’s needs and secures an efficient and appropriate use of 
high quality materials. 

Given that the proposal would be likely to result in the cessation of extraction 
operations 15 years sooner than is currently permitted, it is considered an 
advantageous proposal in terms of the efficient and appropriate supply of stone, as 
more sustainable minerals supply network would then be required to be secured and 
sourced from outside of the Park boundary.

Page 46



Page 41 of 58

To protect environmental and cultural characteristic of places, including those highly cherished 
for their intrinsic qualities, such as wildlife, landscapes, ancient woodlands and historic features, 
and to protect human health and safety and general well-being; 

The extant permission would result in the loss of the Twyn Y Glog ridge were this 
planning application to be refused, and the operator has exhausted its available reserve. 
Granting permission for this application would have the effect of protecting the ridge 
which is an important part of the local natural landscape and which makes an important 
contribution to the special qualities of this part of the Park. 

The most recent bat surveys have also revealed that the Twyn Y Glog ridge has bats 
and bat suitable habitat present. In comparison, the swap area does not have bats and is 
considered less suitable as bat habitat. Therefore, this proposal would help to protect 
protected species which form part of the natural heritage of the Park.

With regard to the historic environment, previous archaeological surveys of the site had 
revealed the remains of a stone wall (although of relatively limited value) within the 
western part of the Twyn Y Glog ridge. Should permission for this application be 
refused, and the developer decides to implement the extant permission and remove the 
ridge then this (limited) feature of archaeological interest would be lost. In comparison, 
the recent archaeological report has revealed few features of interest in the proposed 
swap area. Therefore the proposed swap area would be beneficial in this regard.

The proposed swap area is located further away from the more concentrated areas of 
human population (i.e. Penderyn, to the south and west) in comparison to quarrying 
operations which are permitted to take place in the western part of the ridge. If the 
western half of the ridge were worked, operations would be approx. 420 metres from 
the nearest property (to the South-west), with the primary school and A4059 road 
being approximately 730 metres to the west of the site. The proposed swap area is 
approximately 720 metres from the nearest property and approximately just over 1km 
to the primary school and A4059 road. 

Impacts from quarrying, such as dust, noise and blast vibration can be associated with 
the fear of detrimental impacts on human health and general wellbeing. Whilst there are 
a combination of factors that can result in these impacts, the bigger the separation 
distance between the source of the issues and the sensitive receptors, the better. This 
proposal would move quarrying operations further to the east, further from the higher 
concentration of sensitive receptors and therefore is seen as beneficial in terms of 
protecting human health and well-being.

Reduce the impact of mineral extraction and related operations during the period of working by 
ensuring that impacts on relevant environmental qualities caused by mineral extraction and 
transportation, for example air quality and soundscape, are within acceptable limits; 

The proposed swap area would be further away from the larger concentration of 
residential receptors compared to the extant permission. This greater separation 
distance would assist in reducing any impacts relating to dust, noise and blast vibration 
on the residential receptors in the area.  In addition to this the applicant already utilises 
a number of mitigation measures at the site in order to reduce the impacts from dust, 
noise and blast vibration to a minimum, and these details have been provided in the ES 
submitted with the application. For the most part, these are industry best practice and 

Page 47



Page 42 of 58

it is reasonable to assume that in most cases these measures are relatively successful. 
The employment of these measures outlined in the ES can be secured by condition and 
this will help to ensure that environmental impacts will be kept to a minimum.

In terms of the impacts on traffic generation, the application does not seek to increase 
the annual output from the site, and therefore there would be no increase in the 
number/frequency of HGV movements at the site. However, as the lifetime of the 
quarry would be reduced, any impacts relating to highways and traffic movements 
would be reduced in duration and this is considered to be beneficial.

Achieving, without compromise, a high standard of restoration and aftercare so as to avoid 
dereliction and to bring discernible benefits to communities, heritage and/or wildlife, including 
beneficial after uses or opportunities for enhancement of biodiversity and the historic 
environment.  

A restoration and aftercare strategy for the site as a whole has been in place for some 
time, with the plans submitted for the most recent ROMP submission including the 
swap area (the swap had been suggested as part of the ROMP submission) and plan 
TYG 7 shows the restoration plan for the whole site, for agricultural and nature 
conservation purposes. 

The proposed swap area is relatively small in area and would be a continuation of 
working of the south-eastern faces and would result in a continuation of the restoration 
of these faces in order to incorporate the swap area. The restoration methods would 
be similar to those already proposed with the ROMP submission and would mostly 
involve progressive restoration of the upper benches where possible, as works 
progress. Restoration would mostly be through natural re-vegetation but this would 
also be supplemented through the selective planting of locally native trees and shrubs 
where required. Benches would be prepared by spreading quarry waste and soils over 
the surface of 60% of the southern faces – there would be approximately 750mm of 
overburden material with 100 mm of mostly subsoils and other fine grained materials. 
The variation in quality and depth of this material would help to create variable growing 
conditions and the resulting variation in vegetation would be reflective of the 
surrounding natural conditions. This would provide an overall benefit in terms wildlife 
and biodiversity, as well as benefits in terms of the cultural heritage and landscape. 

The proposed scheme would involve the preservation of the ridge and the integration 
of the swap area into the ridge and the surrounding landscape. If the ridge were to be 
worked then the overall restoration of the site would not be as comprehensive and 
there would be a detrimental impact in terms of the long term restoration of the site 
and the detriment to the landscape, and the cultural heritage which is closely tied into 
the special qualities of the area. Hence, in terms of the restoration and aftercare of the 
site, the proposed development and the associated restoration, would be an 
improvement over the current extant permission which allows for the removal of the 
Twyn Y Glog ridge. 

With the prior signing of a Section 106 Agreement, before any permission is issued, the 
cessation of de-watering would be secured. This would enable negotiation with regard 
to the stalled ROMP application to be progressed. The current issues with the ROMP 
application relate mostly to potential impacts on the Cwm Cadlan SAC, as a result of 
de-watering within the quarry. Determining the ROMP would result in the overall 

Page 48



Page 43 of 58

quarry site being covered by one permission, with up-to-date environmental conditions 
which would be an improvement for the local community and would also be better in 
terms of enforceability and monitoring for the Authority. 

This application provides an opportunity to update the planning conditions in relation to 
quarry operations at the Site, in order to adequately control environmental impacts in 
accordance with National Guidance.

It is therefore concluded that the proposed development would be in accord with the 
aims and objectives of national mineral policy and guidance as set out in PPW, MTAN1, 
regional mineral policy as set out in the RTS and the local policies as set out in the LDP. 
The proposal would help to protect the landscape character of the National Park and 
would also result in a shortened working time for the quarry (and the numerous 
benefits associated with this). Applying the balance to this proposal - the numerous 
benefits (outlined in the report) would clearly outweigh the negatives associated with 
refusing the application and allowing the Twyn Y Glog ridge to be removed. The 
proposals would make a clear contribution to the principles of sustainable minerals 
planning by reducing the operational life time of the quarry in the Park. Notwithstanding 
the reduction in operational life, the proposals would also ensure the continuing supply 
of minerals in the short to medium term, and, as a result of the proposed swap, any 
potential impacts from the quarrying operations would be kept to a minimum. 

10 Recommendation

Taking into account the material considerations set out above, it is considered that, the 
proposed reserves swap would, given the particular circumstances of the site, be a 
beneficial development, compared to the extant permission. It would help to reduce the 
direct landscape and environmental impacts of quarrying operations at the quarry site 
and therefore result in a reduction in detrimental environmental impacts on the 
National Park. 

It is therefore recommended that the application should be approved, subject to:

1. The prior signing of a Section 106 Agreement, the heads of terms of which are:-

a) To prevent any further working of the western part of the ridge, as hatched in 
green on the relevant plan attached to the Section 106 Agreement, 

b) To ensure that any minerals won from the proposed site will be processed at the 
existing plant area in accordance with the controls (permits) in place here, and 
there will be no processing of material within the proposed extraction area,

c) To cease de-watering of the site and to disconnect the pump on the site. Officers 
of the Local Authority will be allowed to visit the site at any time to ensure the 
pumps remain switched off and that no dewatering is taking place. and

2. The imposition of appropriate conditions, as set out below.  

Page 49



Page 44 of 58

If the Committee is minded to accept the recommendation of approval, the 
application will have to be notified to Welsh Government in accordance with 
Paragraph 23 of Circular 07/12 issued as guidance to the implementation of 
The Town and Country Planning (Notification) (Wales) Direction 2012 in 
order that they have an opportunity to consider whether the application 
should be called-in for Ministers’ own determination.

Page 50



Page 45 of 58

Conditions 

Time Limits

1) The winning and working of minerals, the deposit of mineral waste at the Site (being 
defined by the red line shown on plan TYG1a) shall cease not later than 21 February 
2042 and the restoration of the Site, in accordance with condition 29, below shall be 
completed not later than 21 February 2044. For a period of five years from the date of 
completion of the restoration the Site shall be managed in accordance with the 
approved aftercare scheme required by condition 30 below. The planning permission 
shall expire following the complete restoration and aftercare of the Site in accordance 
with the approved restoration and aftercare schemes.

For the avoidance of doubt any reference to ‘the Site’ in subsequent conditions shall 
relate to the Site as defined above ‘being defined by the red line shown on plan TYG1a’

Working Programme, Phasing and Direction of Working

2) Unless otherwise formally agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
working and restoration of the Site shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
and documents submitted, namely;

a) The Planning Application Statement, dated June 2019 
b) Environmental Statement, inclusive of Volume 1, Volume 2 & Volume 3
c) TYG 1a ‘Planning application site’
d) TYG 3 ‘5 year development plan’
e) TYG 4 ’15 year development plan’
f) TYG 5 ‘Final quarry development’
g) TYG 6 ‘Cross section’
h) TYG 7 ‘interim restoration strategy’

3) A copy of this permission and the approved application plans listed in Condition 2 
above shall be displayed in the operators quarry office at all times during the life of the 
permission. Any subsequent approved amendments shall also be displayed and 
superseded plans and documents shall be removed. 

Hours of Working

4) Except in the case of emergencies, or unless the Local Planning Authority has previously 
agreed otherwise in writing, no operations other than those associated with the 
removal of muck pockets intrusions from quarry faces, servicing, environmental 
monitoring or the maintenance and testing of plant or machinery shall be carried out at 
the Site on Sundays, or Public Holidays, nor on any other day except between the 
following times :

a) 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday
b) 0700 to 1700 hours Saturday

5) The removal of muck pocket intrusions from the quarry faces within the Site shall not 
take place on Public Holidays, nor on any other day except between the following 

Page 51



Page 46 of 58

times: 

a) 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday
b) 0700 to 1300 hours Saturday
c) 0800 to 1300 hours Sunday

Production Figures

6) For the duration of the permission, the operator shall maintain records of the monthly 
output of all the products leaving the Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue 
line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes the Site) and shall make the records available to the 
Local Planning Authority for inspection at any time upon request.

For the avoidance of doubt any reference to ‘the Quarry’ in subsequent conditions shall 
relate to the Quarry as defined above (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on 
Plan TYG 1a, which includes the Site)

Depth of Working

7) Within the Site no mineral extraction shall take place below 265 metres above 
ordnance datum. 

Lighting
.

8) No external lighting shall be installed or utilised at the Site unless an external lighting 
plan and specifications are submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The lighting plan shall avoid conflict with wildlife corridors and the dark skies 
core area and buffer zones and shall be implemented as approved.

Dust

9) Within 3 months of the date of this permission, a scheme and programme of measures 
for the suppression of dust from the Quarry shall be submitted for the written approval 
of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include inter alia:

a) The suppression of dust caused by the moving and storage of soil and 
overburden, stone and other materials 

b) Dust suppression on access and haul roads
c) Provision for monitoring of the scheme which shall include dust monitoring at 

locations north of the stocking ground and the methods to be utilised to 
monitor and evaluate the emission of dust.

d) Provision for review of the scheme

Such scheme shall be implemented as approved and complied with at all times.

Blasting and Vibration

10) Except in the case of emergency, blasting operations within the Site shall only be carried 
out between 1000 hours and 1600 hours Monday to Friday and not at any time on 
Saturdays, Sundays or Public Holidays.

Page 52



Page 47 of 58

11) Ground vibration as a result of blasting carried out within the Site shall not exceed a 
peak particle velocity of 6mm/sec in 95% of all blasts measured over any 6 month 
period, and no individual blast shall exceed a peak particle velocity of 10 mm/sec 
measured at any vibration sensitive residential property. The measurement shall be the 
maximum of three perpendicular directions taken at the ground surface taken at or 
near the foundations of the vibration sensitive property.

12) Each individual blast carried out within the Site shall be monitored by the quarry 
operator, to include provision for recording the details and location of the monitoring 
station; the location of the blast holes within the Site; weather conditions; specification 
of the blast in terms of MIC; and total charge weight. Records of blast monitoring shall 
be made available to the Local Planning Authority upon request within 72 hours of the 
request. In the event that monitoring indicates that the vibration levels set in condition 
11 above have been exceeded then the operator shall inform the Local Planning 
Authority within 72 hours together with written confirmation of the steps to be taken 
to ensure compliance with the vibration limits

13) There shall be no secondary breakage of stone by the use of explosives.

14) All practicable steps shall be undertaken by careful design of blasting operations to limit 
air overpressure. Where air overpressure exceeds 120dB, as measured at the nearest 
noise sensitive property, the operator shall review the blast design and make such 
amendments (prior to the next blast) that are considered necessary to the blast design 
in order to reduce air overpressure below 120dB.

Noise

15) Between the hours of 07.00 and 19.00 noise levels resulting from operations within the 
Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes the 
Site) shall not exceed the following levels at the specified locations as measured in 
dBLAeq (1 hour) freefield:

a) Garw Dyle 43
b) Gelli Neuadd 55
c) Rhoshyfryd (Chapel Road) 54
d) Beacons Park (Turning Circle) 51
e) Houses north of Distillery 48
f) Gelli Dafalog Farm 51
g) No 1 Lamb Road 51

16) Between the hours of 19.00 and 07.00 the noise levels resulting from operations within 
the Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes 
the Site) shall not exceed 42 dBLAeq (1 hour) freefield at any noise sensitive property.

17) The noise level attributable to temporary operations such as site preparation and soil 
and overburden stripping from the Site, shall not exceed 67dBLAeq (1 hour) freefield at 
any of the noise sensitive residential properties identified in Condition 15 above. The 
duration of such temporary operations shall not exceed a total of 8 weeks in any 

Page 53



Page 48 of 58

calendar year and shall be limited to between 0700 and 1900 hours Monday to Friday.

18) All vehicles, plant and machinery operated within the quarry (Quarry means the land 
defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes the Site) shall at all times, be fitted 
with silencers in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and be so 
operated to minimise noise emissions. Save for the purpose of maintenance, no 
machinery shall be operated with the covers open or removed.

19) The best practical means shall be used to minimise noise from reversing warning 
devices which are fitted to mobile plant and vehicles within the Quarry (Quarry means 
the land defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes the Site) This may include 
the fitting of ‘smart’ alarms to vehicles.

20) Within 3 months of the date of this permission, a scheme for monitoring noise levels 
arising from the Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, 
which includes the Site) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for:-

a) Noise monitoring locations and frequency of monitoring
b) Details of equipment proposed to be used for monitoring
c) Recording the details of plant and machinery working at the time of monitoring 
d) Logging of weather conditions and wind direction
e) Presentation of results
f) Review of the Monitoring Scheme
g) The procedures to be adopted in the event of noise levels being exceeded.

Such scheme shall be implemented as approved and complied with at all times unless 
otherwise formally agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Water Protection and Pollution Prevention

21) Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals within the Site shall be sited on 
impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the largest 
tank, or the combined capacity of inter connected tanks plus 10%. All filling points, 
vents, gauges and sight glasses shall be located within the bund. The drainage system of 
the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any water course, land or underground 
strata. Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from 
accidental damage.

Ecology

22) No removal of trees and shrubs shall take place between 1 March and 31 August 
inclusive in any year, within the Site, unless otherwise in accordance with a scheme 
which shall have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

23) The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the recommendations 
in Sections 6 and 7 of the Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report and Section 5 of the Bat Survey 

Page 54



Page 49 of 58

Report both by Sylvan Ecology dated 20/11/19. The biodiversity mitigation, compensation 
and enhancement measures shall be undertaken and/or installed prior to mineral 
extraction from the Site and maintained thereafter. 

24) Within 3 months of the date of this permission, an updated reptile mitigation and 
protection strategy for the Site and the area shaded green on drawing no. A108798 1a.cdr 
dated April 2019 shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority, which shall include 
a plan showing the location of the reptile exclusion fencing. The reptile protection 
measures shall remain in place for the duration of the development or until it is 
demonstrated that reptiles are unlikely to be affected by the development.

25) Within three months of the commencement of the development, a Landscape and 
Ecological Restoration and Management Plan (LERMP) for the area shaded green on 
drawing no. A108798 1a.cdr dated April 2019 shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The LERMP shall include;

 
a) Habitat restoration details for the area shaded yellow on drawing No. P7m/119; 

 
b) Planting plans and planting specifications – the species, sizes and planting densities 

- for the area shaded yellow on drawing No. P7m/119; 
c) Details of a timetable for implementation and future management; and 
d) Details of habitat creation for reptiles, bird-nesting and bat roosting features to 

be accommodated. 

The Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved timetable. Following the 
implementation of the approved scheme, a report confirming adequate implementation 
and ongoing management operations shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for written approval.

Soil Stripping, Handling and Storage

26) Within 3 months of the date of this permission the applicant shall submit, for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority, a scheme for the management of soils 
and overburden arising from the Site. Operations shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved scheme, for the lifetime of the development.

27) All disturbed areas of the Site and all topsoil and subsoil dumps shall be kept free of 
weeds as defined in the Weeds Act 1959 and all necessary steps shall be taken to 
destroy weeds at an early stage of growth to prevent seeding.

28) All topsoil and subsoil material shall be stripped from areas to be disturbed within the 
Site, including any access tracks, and shall be stored separately in mounds and shall be 
used for the restoration of the Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on 
Plan TYG 1a, which includes the Site) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No topsoil or subsoil shall be sold or otherwise removed from the 
Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes the 
Site)

Restoration

Page 55



Page 50 of 58

29) Not later than 15 years from the date of this permission, or the expiry of 6 months 
following the permanent cessation of the winning and working of minerals within the 
terms of paragraph 3 of Schedule 9 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, 
whichever is the sooner, the operator shall submit for the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority a detailed final restoration scheme, including drawings to illustrate 
the proposals for the final restoration of the Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by 
the blue line on Plan TYG 1a, which includes the Site) The final restoration scheme shall be 
based upon the restoration concept plan Ref PQ8 dated March 2011. The approved 
scheme shall be fully implemented within 24 months of the written approval unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and in any event not later 
than 21 February 2044. 

Aftercare

30) An aftercare scheme, covering a period of 5 years, specifying such steps as may be 
required to bring the Quarry (Quarry means the land defined by the blue line on Plan TYG 
1a, which includes the Site) to a condition fit for the proposed after use shall be 
submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority not later than six 
months prior to the date when the restoration works are timetabled for completion. 
The scheme shall include details of 

e) Tree planting and landscaping works.
f) Cultivations, under drainage, seeding and management of the restored land.
g) Fertiliser and lime applications based on soil analysis.
h) Land management techniques
i) The creation, management and maintenance of any paths, tracks, and roads.
j) Creation, maintenance and management of drainage features, ponds and 

wetlands.
k) At least once a year the site operators shall arrange a formal review to 

consider the aftercare operations which have taken place on the land during the 
previous year, and the programme of management for the following year.  

l) At least four weeks before the date of each annual review the operator shall 
provide the Mineral Planning Authority with a record of the management and 
operations carried out on the land during the period covered by the review.

Community Liaison

31) Within 3 months of the date of this permission, a scheme shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for the re-commencement of the Site Liaison Committee 
meetings. The scheme shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Site Liaison Committee meetings shall be available for the duration of this permission. 
The scheme shall include the terms of reference, constitution and membership. The 
Committee shall meet on a 6 monthly basis or as frequently as the Committee shall 
otherwise determine. The first meeting shall be convened by the operator within 6 
months of the date of this permission unless a later date is otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reasons
1         The development is of a temporary nature and a time limit is required to be imposed
2         To comply with Section 71ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Page 56



Page 51 of 58

3         To ensure that the developer and site contractors are aware of the working programme 
and conditions attached to carrying out the development

4  & 5 To minimise the impact of the development on the amenity of local residents and land-
users

6         To allow the Authority to monitor of the output of the site and to ensure compliance 
with the approved documents and plans.

7         For the protection of the water environment and to comply with the requirements of 
Policies 3, 4 and 10 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP, the Wildlife 
& Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended).  

8         For the protection of residential amenity and the Dark Skies Core Zone and to comply 
with Policy 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP and reduce 
potential impacts on bats.

9 - 20  In the interests of residential amenity and to reduce the impacts relating to dust, blasting 
and noise and Policy 14 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. 

21       For the protection of the water environment and to comply with Policy 10 of the 
adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP.

22-23   To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016 and to comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical 
Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3, 1, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan 
for the BBNP.

24       To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016 and to comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), 
Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3, 1, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local 
Development Plan for the BBNP.

25        To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016 and to comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical 
Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3, 1, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan 
for the BBNP.

26-28  To ensure the restoration of the site is not put at risk by poor soil handling techniques 
and to comply with Policy 13 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. 

29       To ensure the proper restoration of the site.
30       To ensure the proper aftercare of the site and to ensure the land is suitable for a 

beneficial after-use.
31       To provide an opportunity to discuss and resolve any adverse impacts the community 

perceives the quarry has on their amenity and well-being.

Informative notes:

1. All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to: 
 intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird
 intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or 

being built 
 intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
 intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest 

building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such 

Page 57



Page 52 of 58

a bird.  The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or 
egg - is a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months’ imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work 
involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in 
use or being built, (usually between late February and late August). If a nest is discovered 
while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural 
Resources Wales.

2. Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for advice 
in the event that protected species are discovered during the course of the development.  
To proceed without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and/or the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) being committed. NRW can be contacted at:
NRW, Cantref Court, Brecon Road, Abergavenny, NP7 7AX Tel: 0300 065 3000

3. Warning: A European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this 
development. This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that 
require an EPS licence. It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to 
recklessly damage or destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any 
offences, you could be sent to prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine. To 
undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need for a 
licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at:
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-
biodiversity/european-protected-species/?lang=en

Development should not be commenced until the Applicant has been granted a licence by 
Natural Resources Wales pursuant to Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations (2017) authorizing the specified activity/development to go ahead, [or 
Natural Resources Wales has informed the applicant in writing that such a licence is not 
required]1.  

 
Please note that any changes to proposals between planning consent and the licence 
application may affect the outcome of a licence application. 

 
We advise recipients of a planning consent who are unsure about the need for a licence to 
submit a licence application to us.

4. It is requested that the 2010 Cultural Heritage Impact assessment, the 2013 photographic 
record, and the updated 2019 Heritage Assessment are now deposited with the regional 
Historic Environment Record (Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust HER). 

5. Section 106 obligations have been entered into and apply in respect of the permission, 
which need to be read in conjunction with this permission.  

Policies relevant to the determination of this application;

Policy SP1 National Park Policy

Page 58

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/european-protected-species/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/european-protected-species/?lang=en


Page 53 of 58

Policy SP2 Major Development in the National Park
Policy SP3 Environmental Protection
Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
Policy 3 Sites of European Importance
Policy 4 Sites of National Importance
Policy 6 Biodiversity and Development
Policy 7 Protected and Important Wild Species
Policy 10 Water Quality
Policy 12 Light Pollution
Policy 13 Soil Quality
Policy 14 Air Quality
Policy 17 The Setting of Listed Buildings
Policy 22 Areas of Archaeological Evaluation
Policy 49 Rights of Way and Long Distance Routes
Policy 53 Planning Obligations
Policy 59 Impacts of Traffic

Page 59



Page 54 of 58

Plan to show the area to be preserved (in green) and the swap are (in red)

Page 60



Page 55 of 58

Plan showing numerous planning permissions covering the site

Page 61



Page 56 of 58

Site Survey of current quarry void (at time of application)

Page 62



Page 57 of 58

Most recent position of quarry workings (July 2020)

Page 63



Page 58 of 58

Interim Restoration Plan

Page 64



Page 1 of 18

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE - 22 September 2020

Application Number: 20/18682/FUL Date Validated: 15 June 2020

Site Address: Glangwysg Meadows

Crickhowell Road

Gilwern

NP7 0EH

Decision Due 
Date:

25 September 2020

Grid Ref: E: 323644  N:215508 Proposal: Lean to shed off 
existing agricultural 
shed for the purpose 
of lambing 100 ewes 
and stabling of 7 
horses.

Case Officer: Joshua Burrows Community: Llanelly

Reason(s) Application 
Reported to Committee:

Member call in

RECOMMENDATION: Permit

1. Site and Context
The site is located within an area of open countryside, located just outside Gilwern on 

To Crickhowell

To Gilwern

A4077

Page 65

ENC5Item 2



Page 2 of 18

the A4077. The area of land is accessed directly off the A4077. The holding is more than 
1 Hectare and is a mixture of grazing land and woodland. The land contains an agricultural 
building on the western boundary of the parcel of land, accessed by an existing agricultural 
track.

The proposal has been amended since the initial submission following concerns from the 
National Park Tree Specialist and Planning Ecologist, the amended scheme is described 
below.

The proposed development is for an extension to the existing agricultural building at the 
site. The extension would be located on the north elevation of the existing building. The 
extension would measure 24.384 metres in width, 9.144 metres in depth and 3.3528 
metres to the eaves rising to 4.2672 metres where it meets the eaves of the existing 
building. The extension would be constructed of half height concrete panel walls, with 
the remainder of the walls being grey tin sheeting up to the eaves on the east and north 
elevation. The west elevation would remain open ended for ventilation. The roof would 
be fibre 6 cement sheeting. All materials would match the existing building. 

The extension is required to provide space for 7 stables and an area for lambing. The 
extension will allow the existing building to continue to be used for the storage of 
machinery and implements, as well as hay and straw.

The stables are for the stabling of horses for the applications personal use. The horses 
are on the land purely for grazing purposes and the stables are not proposed to be used 
for any trade or business related to horses.

2.  Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date

10/05031/AGR Building for storage of hay 
fodder and implements

AGR Permitted 
Development

15th July 
2010

19/17143/AGR New Access track from 
entrance to agricultural shed

AGR Prior 
Approval Required.
Subsequently 
submitted and 
given agricultural 
clearance.

24th April 
2019

3.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

3.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Page 66



Page 3 of 18

Policy no. Policy
SP1 National Park Policy
Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
Policy 6 Biodiversity and Development
Policy 7 Protected and Important Wild Species
Policy 8 Trees and Development
Policy 39 Equestrian Facilities
Policy 41 New Farm or Forestry Buildings
CYD LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside

3.2    National Planning Policy and Guidance

Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (December 2018) 

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016) 

4.  Summary of Consultation responses

Consultee Comments

NP Planning Ecologist Additional and amended information has been provided, so that the size of the 
proposed lean-to is reduced and ecological impacts on the trees can be avoided.
The applicants have clarified that no external lighting is required.
No Likely Significant Effects on the River Usk SAC are anticipated as a result of 
these proposals; however, SAB consent will be required prior to the 
commencement of the development.
The proposed landscaping and biodiversity enhancements are welcomed in 
principle, but amendments and clarifications are required.
There is no ecological objection to the principle of the proposed lean-to 
structure, but: 
• The plans need to be amended to show the correct cardinal points.
• The proposed landscaping is welcomed, but the planting specifications will 
need to be provided; this can be secured through a planning condition.
• The proposed installation of bat and bird boxes is also welcomed, but the 
locations need minor adjustment and the type of boxes need to be specified.

National Park Tree 
Consultant - Mike 
Higgins

No objection subject to conditions

Page 67



Page 4 of 18

National Park Tree 
Consultant - Mike 
Higgins

At this time no information has been provided in regards to any trees and 
landscape features (Hedges) on site in order for me to consider them in relation 
to the proposal.  
Retained trees and hedges on and immediately adjacent to the proposed 
development site are at risk of:
o Physical damage above ground through contact with plant machinery and 
general movement   between storage areas and areas under construction. 
o Possible need to carry out access facilitation pruning to enable plant and 
contractor machinery to access the site unimpeded, or to facilitate the 
development.
o Chemical damage to root zone through use of concrete and other 
contaminants in proximity to trees and hedges.
o Mechanical damage of root and soil structure below ground during any 
excavations, including compaction of root zone during development through plant 
machinery movements and storage or materials and equipment.
Further guidance can be sought from BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction - Recommendations
As you highlighted; there is the large tree in proximity to the proposed 
development site, and it would be necessary to consider the tree in regard to the 
proposal.  Any hedges in proximity to the structure may also be implicated in the 
development and may also need consideration.  

The applicant can refer to  BS5837 and provide the site specific information if they 
require, or they can ask a tree consultant to assess the site. If they can provide an 
overview of the features on site and along the boundary (overhanging the site) 
then I can provide a more detailed response in relation to specific issues.  
This information could be conditioned if necessary using an amended version of 
the Welsh Government Circular (WGC 016/2014) condition No. 119: 
All the retained trees and hedges and/or any trees whose canopies overhang the 
site shall be protected by strong fencing, the location and type to be previously 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The fencing shall be erected in 
accordance with the approved details before any equipment, machinery or 
materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the development, and shall 
be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been 
removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed within any fenced area, 
and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any 
excavation be made, without the prior written consent of the local planning 
authority.
Reason: In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect 
the visual amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape and 
habitats through the protection, creation and enhancement of links between sites 
and their protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity value. Policy: Local 
Development Plan - Policies 1 (National Park Purposes and Duty), 8 (Special 
Qualities), 11 (Protection of Biodiversity), 15 (Conservation of the Pembrokeshire 
Coast National Park), 30 (Amenity), Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5: Nature 
Conservation and Planning (2009), Technical Advice Note (TAN) 10: Tree 
Preservation Orders (1997)

Llanelly Community 
Council

No comments received.

Page 68



Page 5 of 18

NP Planning Ecologist The development proposals are for the construction of an extension to the 
existing modern agricultural barn.
The BBNPA tree officer will be able to provide advice on the impacts on the 
nearby trees and their root protection areas, but the applicants will also need to 
provide further information regarding the potential impacts on protected species 
associated with the trees. Reducing the length of the proposed barn extension 
away from the trees and field boundary could be sufficient to avoid impacts; 
otherwise an ecological assessment and mitigation strategy will be required.
It needs to be clarified whether this is an application for the change of use for the 
keeping of horses; if it is, further information regarding the numbers of horses 
proposed and appropriate management to avoid negative impacts on biodiversity 
(protected species and designated sites) and the landscape.
Details of external lighting need to be provided, if any is required.
A landscaping and biodiversity enhancement scheme is also required.

National Park Tree 
Consultant - Mike 
Higgins

Extra Information Needed
Comments and Recommendations:
Further information is required; as it is not possible to assess the suitability of the 
proposal due to the lack of information relating to tree and landscape features on 
site and immediately adjacent to the site, along with any constraints they may pose 
to the proposed development.

National Park Tree 
Consultant - Mike 
Higgins

Please find below comments based upon following Documents:
Site images
Site location plan
Planning application and associated documents
In relation to the consultation the following recommendation is made:
No objection subject to condition
Comments shown in Annex 1, Paragraph C of this response
Condition shown in Annex 1, Paragraph D of this response
In undertaking the assessment (as detailed in Annex 1 to this Memo), I have 
assessed the
proposal against:
Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (2018) (PPW)
Local Development Plan policies:
Strategic Policy 1 (National Park Policy)
Strategic Policy 3 (Environmental Protection)
Strategic Policy 10 (Sustainable Distribution of Development)
Policy 8 (Trees and Development)
Policy 9 (Ancient Woodland and veteran trees)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 10: Tree Preservation Orders (1997)

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at:  https://planningonline.beacons-
npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN

5.  Third Party Representations

Page 69

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN
https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


Page 6 of 18

This application was advertised through the erection of a site notice and direct neighbour 
notification. This application received 5 letters of objection and 1 letter of support.

The objections can be summarised in the following bullet points:
 An access track has been built from the field entrance to the existing barn at the site.
 The use of the barn will not be strictly agricultural, it may have an equestrian use.
 There is a large mature ash tree in the adjacent field, close to the boundary and near 

the proposed development. The large ash tree has a Barn Owl that uses the tree as a 
roost.

 The applicant has a number of other barns in the area and it is questionable as to why 
another barn is required.

The letter of support can be summarised in the below bullet point:

 The applicant is a well-respected international breeder of Welsh Cobs.

6. Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act places a duty on public bodies to carry out 
sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The National Park must act in accordance with 
the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. As part of this 
duty public bodies must set and publish objectives which are designed to maximise its contribution 
to achieving each of the well-being goals. The 7 goals are:
- A prosperous Wales
- A resilient Wales
- A healthier Wales
- A more equal Wales
- A Wales of cohesive communities
- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
- A globally responsible Wales

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the planning 
system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

7. Planning Obligations:

N/A

8. Assessment:
8.1  Key Gateway Test – Strategic and Spatial Choices:

The application is considered against Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) and the first 
stage of consideration is to assess the proposed development against the Strategic and 
Spatial Choices issues and the national sustainable place making outcomes. 

8.1.1 Good design

The proposed development has been designed with an agricultural purpose in mind, with 
well-established materials for the intended use. The proposed materials consist of concrete 
panel lower walls, with grey tin sheeting above up the eaves and fibre 6 cement sheeting for 

Page 70



Page 7 of 18

the roof. The west elevation would remain open for ventilation. The materials would be to 
match the existing building.

8.1.2 Promoting healthier places

The proposed development is required in order to aid the welfare of livestock, which in turn 
will result in healthier livestock. The proposed development would provide an appropriate 
amount of stabling and an appropriate amount of space to allow for care of livestock. 

8.1.3 The Welsh Language

N/A

8.1.4 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources

The proposed development is unlikely to have impact on the management of natural 
resources.

8.1.5 Strategic Planning

N/A

8.1.6 Placemaking in Rural Areas

The proposal is located in an area of open countryside as defined by the LDP Proposals Map. 
The LDP defines countryside locations as areas unsuitable to accommodate future 
development in accordance with the Environmental Capacity of the National Park. The LDP 
defines a 15 year vision for the future of the Countryside which emphasises the importance 
of supporting the countryside as a living and working landscape, internationally recognised for 
its outstanding natural beauty and cultural traditions.

As such, in these areas, there is a presumption against development with the exception given 
to those development forms where there is a defined essential need for a countryside 
location. Strategy policy CYD LP1 sets out the forms of development that are considered 
acceptable within these parameters.

Criterion 7 refers to proposals relating to the provision of local food production of a scale 
and character in keeping with the countryside location, including the provision of new farm 
buildings where agricultural need can be proven as essential.

In this instance, a justification statement has been provided in support of the application 
which is considered to sufficiently justify the need for the development for an agricultural 
purpose. As such, the development is acceptable at this countryside location.

8.1.7 Managing Settlement Form

N/A

9.2 Assessing the sustainable benefits of development:          
 (PPW para 2.21)

Page 71



Page 8 of 18

9.1.1 Social considerations

The extension to the barn will have little social impacts. The barn extension is required to 
aid in the processing and care of livestock.

9.1.2 Economic considerations

The barn extension will aid the care and processing of the livestock, this in turn should 
reduce the level of disease and injury of livestock. Leading to healthier livestock and 
therefore providing a viable rural enterprise. It will also help to support the existing 
commercial activity at the site.

Furthermore, the proposal will allow bales of straw and hay to continue to be stored within 
the building, thus reducing the amount of plastic wrap that is required to be bought. The 
building will also allow machinery and implements to be stored safely within the building. 
Theft is a considerable issue in the farming community and has economic effects on a farming 
enterprise. The storing of machinery and implements within the existing building will provide 
a secure store for long term management of the site.

9.1.3 Cultural considerations

Farming is an integral part of the history of the area and Wales as a whole. The proposed 
development will ensure the farming enterprise can continue and develop in the area, which 
will retain the cultural significance of the area.

9.1.4 Environmental considerations

The proposed development will allow for the continuation of storing hay and straw within 
the exiting building, this in turn reduces the amount of plastic wrap that would be required 
to store the hay and straw in the open.

The proposed development will improve the welfare of the livestock by providing a dry and 
manageable space for the caring of the animals. This will in turn allow the field to be 
reserved for grazing, meaning no unnecessary emergency procedures will be required to be 
undertaken in field, helping to protect the ecological interests of the site.

A condition has been recommended by the National Park Tree Specialist in relation to the 
protection of the trees and hedgerow at the site.

9.2 Detailed Impact Assessment:

9.2.1 Distinctive and natural places

Policy 1 of the LDP: Appropriate Development in the National Park

All proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park 
must comply with the following criteria, where they are relevant to the proposal:

i) the scale, form, design, layout, density, intensity of use and use of materials will be 
appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality and character 
of the Park’s Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment;  …..

Page 72



Page 9 of 18

It is considered that the proposed development would be appropriate in terms of size and 
scale and use of materials would match that of the existing building. The proposed 
development would not have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
existing landscape. 

The scale of the proposed barn extension is considered to be appropriate for its location, it 
is considered not to have a detrimental impact on the special qualities of the National Park.

9.2.2 Biodiversity

The LDP includes the following policies regarding ecological issues and safeguarding 
biodiversity are as follows:

Policy SP3 'Environmental Protection' (LDP 2013)
Policy 1'Appropriate Development in the National Park (LDP 2013)
Policy 6 'Biodiversity and Development' (LDP 2013)
Policy 7 'Protected and important Wild Species' (LDP 2013)

Further to consultation with the National Park Planning Ecologist, the amendment to the 
size and location of the proposed extension has removed the ecological impacts on the 
adjacent trees. 

It was also concluded that there would be no Likely Significant Effects on the River Usk 
SAC as a result on the proposal.

A number of biodiversity enhancements were provided and considered to be acceptable. 
A condition has been added to the decision to ensure the installation of the 
enhancements.

A landscaping scheme has been provided however the species mix is unknown, a 
condition has been added to the decision for a full landscaping scheme to be submitted 
and approved. 

9.2.3 Active and Social Places

N/A

9.2.4 Productive and enterprising places

Policy 39: “Equestrian Facilities” (Local Development Plan 2013) states that development 
proposals for stabling, equestrian facilities or use of land for equestrian activities will be 
permitted where:

a) the facility is grouped within an existing farm complex, or is sited as close as possible to 
existing buildings;
b) the proposed development will be of an intensity of use appropriate to the environment 
and setting with the National Park;
c) the development will not have an adverse impact on the landscape or wildlife in the 
National Park; and
d) suitable access and parking can be provided for horse boxes and any proposed level of 

Page 73



Page 10 of 18

commercial activity.

The proposed development is considered to comply with policy 39 in that the building is 
grouped with an existing building, and the intensity of use in considered to be appropriate, 
given the reduction from 10 stables, to 7 stables. Furthermore, the proposed development is 
considered not to have an adverse impact on wildlife following the reduction in the width of 
the extension. The siting of the extension is also considered not to have an adverse impact 
on the landscape as the site is located in a low area of land, tucked against the northern 
boundary of the site and screened by mature trees. The site benefits from an existing access 
and access track, with adequate space for a horse box.

The proposal is not intending the change the use of the building or wider site, it is 
considered that the stabling of horses for personal use is acceptable. There would be no 
change of use of the existing agricultural land as the horses would use it for incidental grazing 
purposes only, and not for activities or organised exercise, nor any trade or business.

The proposed development will allow an existing farming enterprise to continue to operate 
and as such contribute to the local economy of the area.

9.2.5 Neighbour Amenity

The proposed development is close to the boundary of the land, the piece of land adjacent 
to the site contains a residential property. However, the residential property is a 
considerable distance from the proposed development. Given the distance between the 
residential property and the proposal site, and given that there is an existing agricultural at 
the site, it is considered that the proposed development will not have a detrimental impact 
ton the neighbouring residential property.

9.2.6 Highway Safety

The proposed development does not propose to alter the existing highway access, it is also 
not considered to result in a significant increase in vehicular traffic to and from the site.

A number of objections were received in relation to the new constructed access track that 
spans from the existing highway access to the existing building. This track was permitted 
under a Part 6 Agricultural Notification and as such is lawful and had no bearing on the 
outcome of this application.

For the above reasons, there are no concerns in terms of highway safety.

9.2.7 Archaeology

The proposed site does not lie within an area known for archaeological remains. As such, 
there are no concerns in terms of archaeology at the site.

9. Conclusion

The proposed development is considered acceptable in that it would not have an 
unacceptable impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area nor 

Page 74



Page 11 of 18

would it have a detrimental impact on neighbour amenity, highway safety, archaeology or 
ecology. As such the proposal conforms with Policy 1, 6, 7, 8, 39, 41, CYD LP1 and SP1 
of the Local Development Plan and therefore is recommended for approval.

National Park Purpose and Duty

The proposed development will contribute towards the safeguarding of the special 
qualities of the National Park by ensuring appropriate farming practises are maintained.  It 
would also not be detrimental to the conservation of the natural beauty of the Park.

Sustainable Development

The proposal delivers a positive impact on the economic and environmental well-being of 
Wales, without adversely impacting on the other pillars of sustainability. The application is 
therefore recommended for approval as it delivers sustainable development and meets 
current needs without hindering those of future generations. 

10. Recommendation: Permit

Conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out in all respects strictly in accordance with the 
approved plans (Site Location Plan, Proposed Site Layout Plan, Proposed Elevation 
Plans & Floor Plan), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

3. All the retained trees and hedges and/or any trees whose canopies overhang the site 
shall be protected by strong fencing, the location and type to be previously approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The fencing shall be erected in accordance 
with the approved details before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought 
onto the site for the purposed of the development, and shall be maintained until all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Nothing 
shall be stored or placed within any fenced area, and the ground level within those area 
shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without prior written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority.

4. The biodiversity enhancement scheme as shown on document named Biodiversity and 
Landscaping Scheme submitted on the 7th September 2020 shall be undertaken and/or 
installed prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby approved, in 
accordance with the approved details and maintained thereafter. Following the 
installation of the approved scheme, a report confirming adequate installation shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

5. Prior to the commencement of the development, a landscaping plan based on the 
drawing submitted in Appendix 1 of the Biodiversity and Landscaping scheme submitted 
on 7th September 2020 that shall include use of native species, shall be agreed with the 

Page 75



Page 12 of 18

Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented in the first planting season following 
implementation of the development and maintained thereafter. The plan shall include 
details of the planting specifications – the species, sizes and planting densities - and a 
timetable for implementation and future management to ensure good establishment. 
Any plants, trees or shrubs that fail in the first five years after planting shall be replaced 
in the next available planting season on a like-for-like basis.

6. No external lighting shall be installed unless an external lighting plan is submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall avoid conflict 
with wildlife corridors and biodiversity enhancement measures and shall be 
implemented as approved.

7. The stabling in the building hereby approved is for the personal use of Glanwysg 
Meadows and there shall be no commercial stabling from the building hereby 
permitted.

Reasons:

1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of a satisfactory form of 
development.

3. To ensure the protection of the existing trees and hedgerow at the site.

4. In the interest of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the visual 
amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape and habitats 
through the protection, creation and enhancement of links between sites and their 
protection for amenity and biodiversity value.

5. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 
and Policies SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the 
BBNP.

6. To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016.

7. In the interests of environmental amenity.  

Informative Notes:

1. All nesting birds , their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence 
to: 
 intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird
 intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or 

being built 
 intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
 intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest 

building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of 

Page 76



Page 13 of 18

such a bird.  The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, 
nest or egg - is a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building 
where that work involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild 
bird while the nest is in use or being built, (usually between late February and late 
August). If a nest is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and 
advice sought from Natural Resources Wales.

2. Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for 
advice in the event that protected species are discovered during the course of the 
development.  To proceed without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and/or 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) being committed. NRW can be 
contacted at:
NRW, Cantref Court, Brecon Road, Abergavenny, NP7 7AX Tel: 0300 065 3000

3. Having assessed the Planning Application Ref 20/18682/FUL, the construction area is 
greater than 100m2 and therefore this proposed development will require SAB approval 
prior to any construction works commencing onsite. Please contact the Local Authority 
SAB Team. If for any reason you believe your works are exempt from the requirement for 
SAB approval, we would be grateful if you would inform us so we can update our records 
accordingly. The requirement to obtain SAB consent sits outside of the planning process 
but is enforceable in a similar manner to planning law. It is a requirement to obtain SAB 
consent in addition to planning consent. Failure to engage with compliant SuDS design at 
an early stage may lead to significant un-necessary redesign costs.

Page 77



Page 14 of 18

A4077

To Gilwern

To Crickhowell

P
age 78



Page 15 of 18

P
age 79



Page 16 of 18

P
age 80



Page 17 of 18Page 81



Page 18 of 18Page 82



Page 1 of 21

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE - 22 September 2020

Application Number: 20/18308/FUL Date Validated: 29 July 2020

Site Address: Underpass And Footpath
Adjacent To A470
From Layby West Of Storey Arms
Brecon
Powys
LD3 8NL

Decision Due 
Date:

23 September 2020

Grid Ref: E: 298257  N:220350

Proposal:                                Improvements to an existing footpath to include installing culverts for drainage where 
needed, steps up a steep section of bank, a kissing gate instead of a stile, bank stabilisation 
and stone pitching on both sides of a crossing over a water course, improved surfacing, 
drainage and stock gates at both ends of the underpass and a compacted dust surfaced path 
over boggy ground.

Case Officer: Ffion Bevan Community: Glyn Tarell

Reason(s) Application 
Reported to Committee:

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Application

RECOMMENDATION: Permit

To Merthyr

To Brecon

A470

Page 83

ENC5Item 3



Page 2 of 21

1.  Description of Development

The Authority intends to create an improved access from the Bryn Du (horseshoe) lay-by via an existing 
underpass to the old coach road, for walkers to have a safe crossing option under the A470 Trunk Road.

BBNPA proposes to carry out a series of works alongside the stretch of the A470 which runs through 
the National Park in order to improve the visitor experience. Road safety was identified as an issue and it 
is the desire of all stakeholders involved to improve safety in particular for walkers/pedestrians in the 
vicinity of Storey Arms.

With Visit Wales funding BBNPA is contributing to The Wales Way initiative by providing a series of 
installations alongside a section of the Cambrian Way - the stretch of the A470 which runs through the 
National Park. This will be in support of this Welsh Government led initiative for the benefit of 
international tourists wishing to experience the rural heart of Wales. The A470 also forms the spine of 
the National Park and is the most important access route for visitors into and through the Park. It is 
therefore in the interests of BBNPA to enhance the visitor experience along the A470 corridor for the 
benefit of the thousands of people who flock here from the South Wales valleys and for the benefit of the 
landscape and environment of the Central Beacons.

BBNPA has been active in suggesting and negotiating changes in relation to pedestrian safety in the vicinity 
of Storey Arms. This will entail walkers being able to walk through an underpass -  which is currently used 
by farm stock only - from the western side of the A470 to the eastern side where access up Corn Du and 
Pen y Fan starts. BBNPA is in a good position to do this since it owns the land on both sides of the A470 
at this point as part of Forest Fawr common.

A panel at the lay-by car park which has already received planning permission will help direct visitors and 
urge them to use the underpass.

Powys County Council has identified Welsh Government money which can only be spent on road safety 
and sustainable travel to enable these access improvements to occur. They will sit alongside Welsh 
Government Transport plans to increase parking capacity at the Bryn Du (horseshoe) lay-by so that more 
walkers can park there and make their way to Pen y Fan via Corn Du from Storey Arms.

The proposed works involved is as follows:

1: Construct timber and stone steps, 1200 mm wide up the bank along the ‘desire line’ demonstrated 
by trampled vegetation. Risers to be 250 mm or less and treads to be no less than 300 mm from 
back to front. Sawn treated timber to be 50 mm x 150 – 250 mm x 1200 mm profile

2: Excavate to a depth of 200 mm and translocate bilberry turfs and the single heather turf to align 
with the outside edge of the steps to include c.150 mm of soil. Drive in 2 number 75 - 100 mm² 
retaining posts per riser with at least 500 mm in the ground and top of post flush with top of 
riser. (Posts to be on ‘inside of riser).

3: Excavate in-situ material and infill behind riser and form path base with a gradient 10°. Form 
surface with 75 mm depth of gravel.

4: Install self-closing 1.5m gates and associated post and rail fencing to provide stock proof barrier 
at underpass. Use prefabricated galvanized gate such as Centrewire Worcester gate. Install gate 
as per manufacturer’s instructions

5: Construct piped culvert and associated head walls. Lay 2.5 m x 450 mm twin walled polypropylene 
pipe. Pipe to be laid in trench 500 mm – 600 mm deep, construct path as per item 1 over top of 

Page 84



Page 3 of 21

pipe. Ensure sufficient fall away from path to allow water to drain through pipe. Construct dry 
stone head wall at either end of pipe

6: Construct aggregate path, 1.2 metres wide, on a line within the existing damaged zone. Care 
should be taken to avoid creating a path on a straight alignment (straight sections should not 
exceed 15 metres in length).

7: Remove turf and organic material to a depth of 75mm and use turf to form path edge (total path 
depth to therefore be 150 mm). Place geotextile in base and extend 100 mm up each side, place 
geogrid on top of geotextile. Infill with 100 mm depth of 4” down stone (source and quality to be 
agreed with Supervisory Officer. Grade material to form camber and compact using vibrating 
roller or similar. Cover 4” down material with 50 mm layer of 1” down well mixed scalpings and 
compact as above ensure cambered profile of the path provides a well-drained surface that is 
higher than the adjacent ground level. Ensure the path line is well defined with any braids being 
obstructed with turfs.

2.  Site and Context

The site area covers an area of land within the ownership of the BBNPA located between Storey Arms 
and Bryn Du Lay-by, adjacent to the A470 Trunk Road. 

3.  Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date

19/17333/FUL An interpretation panel to stand at 
the edge of the proposed new car 
park, which will be reconfigured from 
the existing layby by Welsh 
Government Transport.

Permit 3.9.2019

4.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

4.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Policy no. Policy
CYD LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside
SP3 Environmental  Protection
1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
3 Sites of European Importance
4 Sites of National Importance
5 Site of Importance for Nature Conservation
6 Biodiversity and Development
7 Protected and Important Wild Species
59 Impacts of Traffic

4.2    National Planning Policy and Guidance
Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (2018)

Page 85



Page 4 of 21

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007) 

5.  Summary of Consultation responses

Glyn Tarrell 
Community Council

No response received

Powys County Council 
Land Drainage 
Department

No response received

Sustainable Drainage 
Approval Body (SAB)

3rd Mar 2020 Please contact the SAB Team on 01597 826000 or via 
email sab@powys.gov.uk  
 

Commons Registration 
Officer

7th Feb 2020 Thank you for your consultation email dated 06/02/2020 
concerning the application numbered 20/18308/FUL.

The Commons Registration Authority can confirm that 
the footpath improvements are due to be sited on 
Common Land known as Eastern area of the Great 
Forest of Brecknock and is registered under the 
Commons Registration Act 1965 as register unit CL50 
(Brecknockshire).  I attach a copy of the register map for 
information.

Commons Registration records show that:
The Common is subject to grazing rights, which 

include being registered as exercisable over the 
application site.

All registered Common Land is subject to a 
public right of access on foot for informal recreation 
granted under the Countryside & Rights of Way Act 
2000.

The Owner of the area of common concerned is 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

Please be advised that the carrying out of 'restricted 
works' without the consent of the appropriate national 
authority i.e. the Welsh Government would be 
UNLAWFUL and the applicants should discuss the 
matter with the Planning Inspectorate Wales to 
determine whether making an application for consent 
under section 38 of the Commons Act 2006 from the 
Welsh Government ministers is necessary.

Page 86



Page 5 of 21

Natural Resources 
Wales/Cyfoeth Naturiol 
Cymru

7th Feb 2020 No Comments to make

Clwyd Powys 
Archaeological Trust

12th Feb 2020 Thank you for the consultation on this application. 
There is a Victorian milestone (PRN 165067) on the 
south side of the layby which will not be affected by the 
proposed works at the west end of the footpath 
improvements. 

We would therefore have no objection to the 
improvement works. 

NP Rights Of Way 
Officer

No comments received

NP Planning Ecologist 15th Jun 2020 Additional comments:
o There is no ecological objection to the principle 
of the development and the revised route now avoids 
impacts on one of the watercourse crossings, which is 
welcomed.
o Additional drawings and clarifications are still 
required, particularly of the proposed culvert of the 
Tarell watercourse and that impacts on the heather will 
be kept to a minimum.
o Details of biodiversity enhancement measures 
also need to be provided, if any can be delivered? 
o Clarification of the impacts on the RIGS and the 
design of the gates would also be helpful.

South East Wales RIGS 
Group

3rd Sep 2020 Recommendations and Conclusion
SEWRIGS welcomes the invitation to comment on this 
application. Despite it partially being within a previously 
designated site of regional importance recognises the 
intention to help improve highway safety and reduce 
impact across a wide area. However, to address the 
concerns of SEWRIGS, the following measures should be 
considered:

1) A field survey of the RIGS area should be been 
carried out and as a minimum consideration should be 
given to carrying out a detailed geomorphological map of 
the eastern end of the RIGS area where the application 
site is located, possibly accompanied by topographical / 
LiDAR survey to understand the exact form and 
provenance of the landforms within and adjacent to the 
application area. This will enable the features to be placed 
within the wider context of the large-scale features to 

Page 87



Page 6 of 21

the west and to the slopes of the valley in its entirety.

2) Appropriate material for the path construction 
should be sought that is compatible in colour and 
lithology with the bedrock and sediments and to support 
this input from a geologist should be sought.

3) Minimising visual impact within the RIGS of the 
new path construction should be actively considered by 
reducing its width and in so doing further reduce the 
amount of material required to be imported for 
construction.

4) Works should not displace surface boulders or 
obscure existing bedrock exposures, particularly south of 
the A470 highway.

5) No works should be undertaken on the steps and 
new paths without a geologist present. A geologist will be 
able to record the sediments and three-dimensional 
relationships to improve the scientific understanding of 
the site. This information can be used to support other 
National Park interpretation activities.

As a result, and having reviewed the application 
documents, SEWRIGS does not object to the principle of 
the proposed development, subject to its concerns 
highlighted above being addressed.

NP Planning Ecologist 14th Aug 2020 The route has been amended to minimise impacts on the 
Regionally Important Geodiversity Site (RIGS) and 
additional information has been provided to clarify the 
methodology and culvert design. Details of mitigation 
measures and biodiversity enhancements have also been 
provided.
There is no ecological objection to the principle of the 
development and the revised route, subject to the 
imposition of planning conditions and informative notes 
to safeguard and enhance nature conservation interests 
at the site.

Powys County Council 
Highways

31st Jul 2020 Powys County Council as Highway Authority do not wish 
to comment on this application as the access is onto a 
trunk road which comes under the jurisdiction of the 
Welsh Government.

Welsh Government 19th Aug 2020 Welsh Government would like to request an extension 

Page 88



Page 7 of 21

Transport Department on some planning applications that are currently under 
our consideration. 

Welsh Government 
Transport Department

4th Jun 2020 I refer to your consultation of 21/05/2020 regarding the 
above planning application and advise that the Welsh 
Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk 
road does not issue a direction in respect of this 
application.

NP Planning Ecologist 11th Mar 2020 o The development proposals are for the 
construction of improvements to an existing footpath to 
provide safe pedestrian access from the lay-by on the 
west side of the A470 to the Storey Arms and onwards 
to Pen-Y-Fan to the east of the A470.
o The site is entirely within common land with 
upland habitats. The Brecon Beacons Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) lies to the south of the footpath 
from the lay-by and to the east of where the footpath 
adjoins the Taf Trail. No impacts on the SSSI are 
anticipated as a result of the proposed development. The 
boundary of the Brecon Beacons Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) is further away from the application 
site and No Likely Significant Effects on the SAC are 
anticipated as a result of these proposals.
o Two sections of path are proposed, the longer 
section running from the Old Coach Road (Taf Trail) to 
the underpass, and a shorter section on the south side of 
the underpass. There is a small area of flush habitat along 
the route of the footpath, which the path will deviate 
around to avoid damage to the habitat. The path will 
need also need to cross the Tarell watercourse, albeit 
close to the source and narrow in this location. Whilst an 
open crossing is preferred, the short section of culvert is 
likely to be acceptable provided drawings are submitted 
to confirm the extent of works.
o There is another stream crossing where the 
footpath is quite eroded and uneven. Some works are to 
be undertaken to stabilise the path and provide a firm 
and more-even footing, but the stream will remain open 
(no culvert). 
o There is no ecological objection to the principle 
of the development, but clarifications and amended 
drawings are required - of the proposed culverts and the 
proposed gates. Details of biodiversity enhancement 
measures also need to be provided and clarification of 
the impacts on the RIGS would also be helpful.

6. Third Party Representations

Page 89



Page 8 of 21

The application was advertised by way of a site notice. No comments have been received.

7. Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the planning 
system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

The Authority has taken into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act
And consider that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through
Its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives, as required by
section 8 of the WBFG Act.  

8. Planning Obligations:

N/A

9. Assessment:

9.1 Strategic and Spatial Choices: 

The application is considered against Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) and the first stage of 
consideration is to assess the proposed development against the Strategic and Spatial Choices issues 
and the national sustainable placemaking outcomes. 

9.1.1 Good design

Sections of the proposed works to the footpath which includes the new steps and the new path 
between the underpass and the old coach road is prominently located within the landscape of the 
Brecon Beacons, adjacent to the A470 Trunk Road, however the other footpath improvements 
involved with the scheme will not be so prominent. It is considered that the proposed design and 
the appropriate footpath materials, which are to be agreed by condition, is considered appropriate 
to its setting and the size and scale is considered acceptable. The proposed gates are considered 
appropriate to the countryside setting. 

9.1.2 Promoting healthier places

The purpose of the development is to increase highway and pedestrian safety for those visiting the 
landscape and environment of the Central Beacons. With safety routes for visitors, it would 
undoubtedly promote the countryside as a healthier living space, with vast surrounding landscapes.  

9.1.3 The Welsh Language

An interpretation panel to promote the landscape and the environment of the Brecon Beacons has 
been given planning consent under application (19/17333/FUL). The interpretation on the panel 
would be in Welsh and English, promoting this Welsh language to visitors to the area. 

Page 90



Page 9 of 21

9.1.4 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources

The site is entirely within common land with upland habitats. The Brecon Beacons Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) lies to the south of the footpath from the lay-by and to the east of where 
the footpath adjoins the Taf Trail. No impacts on the SSSI are anticipated as a result of the proposed 
development. The boundary of the Brecon Beacons Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is further 
away from the application site and No Likely Significant Effects on the SAC are anticipated as a 
result of these proposals.

The site also falls within the Craig y Fro Regionally Important Geodiversity Site. The Craig-y-Fro  
RIGS is part of a network of RIGS designated sites in the Brecon Beacons  and surrounding area 
which together highlight different glacial and post-glacial geomorphological features and deposits to 
increase scientific understanding of the Late Quaternary history of the area. This network of sites 
collectively provides additional context to the Brecon Beacons SSSI, which surrounds the RIGS to 
the north and south on the upper slopes above the A470 trunk road. Craig-y-Fro RIGS was 
designated for its “intrinsic palaeo-climatic and geomorphological interest”.

9.1.5 Placemaking in Rural Areas

The proposal is located in an area of open countryside as defined by the LDP Proposals Map. The 
LDP defines countryside locations as areas unsuitable to accommodate future development in 
accordance with the Environmental Capacity of the National Park. The LDP defines a 15 year vision 
for the future of the Countryside which emphasizes the importance of supporting the countryside 
as a living and working landscape, internationally recognised for its outstanding natural beauty and 
cultural traditions.

As such, in these areas, there is a presumption against development with the exception given to 
those development forms where there is a defined essential need for a countryside location. 
Strategy policy CYD LP1 sets out the forms of development that are considered acceptable within 
these parameters.

Criterion 5 refers to proposals for tourist attractions or recreational activities, and given that the 
proposed development will improve highway and pedestrian safety for those visiting the area the 
principle of development is considered acceptable. 

9.1.6 Managing Settlement Form

N/A 

9.2  Assessing the sustainable benefits of development:          

9.2.1 Social considerations

Anyone visiting the Brecon Beacons National Park will benefit from the new improved footpath from 
the Bryn Du layby to Storey Arms. This will improve highway and pedestrian safety beyond doubt 
and will assist in their enjoyment of the National Park and enhance their experience within the 
landscape. 

9.2.2  Economic considerations

Page 91



Page 10 of 21

By improving the visitor experience within the National Park, it could increase the number of visitors 
to the area and as such could benefit the local economy, with more people visiting Brecon and 
spending money in the local shops and restaurants. 

9.2.3 Cultural considerations

The approved interpretation panel at the layby, would divert pedestrians onto the new improved 
footpath and by including this in the Welsh language as well as English, it introduces the language to 
the visitors as a living language in Wales.

9.2.4 Environmental consideration

The proposed footpath will be accessed via a set of new steps from the Bryn Du Lay-by, which will 
primarily be for the benefit of those accessing the site by car, but also by cyclists and hikers and 
potentially coach stops. In addition, it is considered that the development would not have any effect 
on the existing landscape.

9.3 Detailed Impact Assessment:

9.3.1 Distinctive and natural places

9.3.1.1Landscape and Visual Amenity

Policy 1 of the LDP: Appropriate Development in the National Park

All proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park must 
comply with the following criteria, where they are relevant to the proposal:
i) the scale, form, design, layout, density, intensity of use and use of materials will be 

appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality and character of 
the Park’s Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment;  …..

Given the size, scale and design of the improved footpath, although visible, it would have no 
adverse impact on visual amenity of the surrounding area. A condition is attached to ensure a 
sample of the proposed finishing of the path is appropriate. 

As such the proposal would comply with policy 1 of the LDP (2013)

9.3.1.2 Biodiversity

The LDP includes the following policies regarding ecological issues and safeguarding biodiversity 
are as follows:

Policy SP3 'Environmental Protection' (LDP 2013)
Policy 1'Appropriate Development in the National Park (LDP 2013)
Policy 3 ‘Sites of European Importance (LDP 2013)
Policy 4 ‘Sites of National Importance (LDP 2013)
Policy 6 'Biodiversity and Development' (LDP 2013)
Policy 7 'Protected and important Wild Species' (LDP 2013)

Page 92



Page 11 of 21

Representation has been received from the National Park’s Ecologist raising no objection to the 
proposal, following amendments to the proposal to change the route of the footpath between the 
under-pass and the Old Coach Road in order to minimise the impacts on the Regionally Important 
Geodiversity Site (RIGS), in consultation with the SEWRIGS group.

The following [revised] information has been submitted:

i) SPECIFICATION FOR: A470 Bryn-du Horseshoe carpark – old coach road via underpass 
path improvements (Un-dated, but received on 29th July 2020)

ii) 20/18308/FUL Underpass and Footpath, Adjacent to A470, From Layby West of Storey 
Arms, Brecon, Powys- Biodiversity enhancement measures - 3 July 2020

There is no ecological objection to the principle of the new path surface and the proposed 
methodology of construction. Although the latest amendment to the route now requires two 
crossings of the small watercourse, these crossings are already utilised and damaged; the crossings 
and footpath route are also further from the flush habitat which is beneficial to this habitat.

There is a gap in heather habitat at the northern end of the route that can be utilised for the 
proposed steps, in order to reduce the impact on the heather. Photographs of this proposed 
section of path/steps and confirmation that impacts on heather will be kept to a minimum have 
been provided. The mitigation measures are appropriate.

Policy 1 of the Local Development Plan and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
require the BBNPA to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity. The Welsh Government letter 
to Chief Planning Officers dated 23rd October 2019 has also clarified the necessity for 
developments to include biodiversity enhancement measures prior to determination of 
applications. The proposed biodiversity enhancements as detailed are appropriate and welcomed.

9.3.1.3 – Regionally Important Geodiversity Sites (RIGS)

The Welsh Government’s commitment to the sustainable development principle and nature 
conservation has ensured that Planning Policy Wales and supplementary Technical Advice Notes 
sets out the ambition to conserve and improve the natural heritage of Wales. Natural heritage is 
defined in these documents as including geology and landforms. The RIGS designation provides 
for a secondary tier of sites (after SSSI) for geological conservation which are considered on a 
local and regional basis. 

RIGS sites are recognised in the planning process as Non-Statutory Sites. With regards to the 
significance of RIGS sites, Planning Policy Wales 10, published in December 2018 para.6.3.15 
specifically states:

“Planning authorities should protect the features and qualities for which …….. RIGS have been 
designated, and are encouraged to promote opportunities for the incorporation of geological features 
within the design of development, …………”

This is further reinforced by Technical Advice Note 5 (TAN5): Nature Conservation and Planning 
which specifically refers to RIGS as being of a “Nature Conservation Interest” and TAN5 further 
states that a key principle in positive planning is to

“help to ensure that development does not damage, or restrict access to, or the study of, geological sites 
and features……”

Page 93



Page 12 of 21

Policy 5 of the LDP states that:

Development on non-statutory sites of wildlife, geological or geomorphological importance will only be 
permitted where: i. the need for the development outweighs the nature conservation importance of the 
site; and ii. the proposals comply with Policy 6 and/or, where protected and important wild species are 
concerned, with Policy 7. Where appropriate the NPA will consider the use of Planning Conditions and/or 
Planning Obligations to provide appropriate mitigation and / or compensatory measures.

Representation was received from the South East Wales RIGS, raising no objection to the 
application. This followed a site visit with a representative from RIGS, and amended plans were 
received. 

A number of recommendations were made, one being a field survey of the RIGS to be carried 
out. Clarification was sought from SEWRIGS regarding this and it was confirmed that no pre-
works survey is required providing that a geologist is present on site during the works to record 
features and provide advice as necessary. This is added as a condition. 

One of the other issues raised was the recommendation to reduce the width of the new footpath 
between the north portal of the underpass and the old coach road from 1.2 metres. However, 
following discussion with the applicant, it is concluded that a maximum width of 1.2 metres is 
considered acceptable as this would allow two people to pass on the designated footpath. Given 
the sensitivity of the landscape, this would avoid any visitors veering off the path of pass each 
other creating a trampled area of landscape, which would not benefit the natural environment or 
visual impact in the long term.  

As such, the proposal would comply with the above policy. 

9.3.1.4 Archaeology

Policy SP3 (f) states that all proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the 
National Park must demonstrate that the proposed development does not have an unacceptable 
impact on, nor detract from, or prevent the enjoyment of … archaeological features'.

Representation was received from the Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust, confirming that there 
is a Victorian milestone (PRN 165067) on the south side of the layby which will not be affected 
by the proposed works. As such, no objection is raised and the proposal would comply with the 
above policy. 

9.3.1.3 Common Land

Common land is a finite resource and should not be developed unnecessarily. It is important in 
agricultural terms and valued for it leisure and environmental interests, particularly its significant 
role in habitat conservation. 

Representation was received from the Commons Registration and Definitive Map Officer with no 
objection raised. 

The Commons Registration Authority can confirm that the footpath improvements are due to be 
sited on Common Land known as Eastern area of the Great Forest of Brecknock and is registered 

Page 94



Page 13 of 21

under the Commons Registration Act 1965 as register unit CL50 (Brecknockshire). Registration 
records show that: 
 The Common is subject to grazing rights, which include being registered as exercisable over the 
application site. 
 All registered Common Land is subject to a public right of access on foot for informal recreation 
granted under the Countryside & Rights of Way Act 2000.

   The Owner of the area of common concerned is the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

9.3.2 Active and Social Places

9.3.2.1Transport
Planning Policy Wales states that the Welsh Government is committed to reducing reliance on the 
private car and supporting a model shift to walking, cycling and public transport. Delivering this 
objective will make an important contribution to decarbonisation, improving air quality, increasing 
physical activity, improving the health of the nation and realising the goals of the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act. (para 4.1.8).

Policy 59 of the LDP refers to the impact of traffic and states that development will be permitted 
where appropriate access can be achieved. Criterion (c) states that access will be considered to 
be inappropriate where there is an unacceptable impact on road safety.

The proposed footpath improvements would benefit those travelling along the A470, mostly 
motorists, but also cyclists, hikers and potentially coach stops. The site is in a rural location and 
PPW acknowledges in paragraph 3.35 that opportunities for reducing car use and increasing 
walking, cycling and the use of public transport are more limited than in urban areas.

There is a real concern in relation to Highway and Pedestrian Safety with the increased visitor 
numbers of the years at this location. Visitors are parking on the highway verge, which has an 
impact on Highway Safety, Pedestrian Safety and Visual impact from the ‘churned up’ verge. 

Powys County Council Highways Authority and the Welsh Government Transport Department 
were consulted on the application. No objection was raised however the Welsh Government 
Transport Department have requested an extension of time to provide additional comments on 
the amended plans received. A verbal updated will provided at the Committee Meeting. 

The proposal will provide a safe place for pedestrians crossing the A470.

9.3.2.2. Neighbouring Amenity

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, November 2018), which states 

‘Placemaking in development decisions happens at all levels and involves considerations at a global 
scale, including climate change, down to the very local level, such as considering the amenity impact 
on neighbouring properties and people’. (2.7, PPW, 2018)

No representation has been received and there are no nearby residential properties. The proposal 
is considered to be acceptable and to be in accordance with guidance in relation to residential 
amenity impact.

9.3.2.3 Recreational Spaces

Page 95



Page 14 of 21

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, November 2018), states

‘Recreational spaces are vital for our health, well-being, amenity and can contribute to an area’s 
green infrastructure. They provide a place for play, sport, healthy physical activity and place to 
relax often in the presence of nature, and they contribute to our quality of life. (para 4.5.1)

Given the proposed location of the proposal within the heart of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park, it will be located in an ideal spot to promote the area for recreational purposes to help 
people relax and contribute to a healthier lifestyle.  

9.3.3 Productive and enterprising places

9.3.3.1 Tourism

PPW  states that “Tourism involves a wide range of activities, facilities and types of development 
and is vital to economic prosperity and job creation in many parts of Wales” (para 5.5.1)  

PPW para 5.5.3 states that “In rural areas, tourism-related development is an essential element in 
providing for a healthy and diverse economy. Here, development should be sympathetic in nature 
and scale to the local environment”. 

The proposal will enhance the visitor experience in the National Park, along the main highway 
route through the park, on which many visitors travel with a safe crossing over the A470 Trunk 
Road. 

10. Conclusion

This application has been considered against the adopted policies of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority Local Development Plan (2013). In making a recommendation on this application, 
National Policies within Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, 2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and 18 
and Policies CYD LP1, SP3, 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 59 of the Development Plan have been taken into 
consideration together with comments made by the consultees and other interested parties. The 
proposal is considered to comply with the above policies. 

National Park Purpose and Duty

The proposed interpretation panel would contribute to the National Park’s Purpose and Duty, by 
promoting and contributing to the opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park by the public.  It would also conserve the natural beauty of the Park.

Sustainable Development

The proposal delivers a positive impact on the environmental well-being of Wales, without adversely 
impacting on the other pillars of sustainability. The application is therefore recommended for 
approval as it delivers sustainable development and meets current needs without hindering those 
of future generations.

Page 96



Page 15 of 21

Recommendation: Permit

Conditions and/or Reasons:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.

2 The development shall be carried out in all respects strictly in accordance with the 
approved plans (drawing nos. Site Location Plan 1:2500, Site Block Plan 1:1500, 
2557/BBNP/002A (Construction Details), 2557/BBNP003 (Construction Details), 
2557/BBNP/001A (Path Improvements)), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

3 Prior to the commencement of the development, details of the surfacing materials shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall 
include details of the colour and lithology source and shall be implemented as 
approved.

4 Works shall not displace surface boulders or obscure existing bedrock exposures.
5 Prior to the commencement of the development, a suitably qualified and/or 

experienced person shall be appointed as a Geological Clerk of Works to oversee the 
implementation of the development and recording of the geodiversity interests at the 
site.

6 The South-east Wales RIGS Group shall be given at least two weeks’ notice of the 
proposed start date of the development to enable appropriate recording of geology 
and geomorphology of the site 

7 The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the recommendations 
in the following documents:

(i) SPECIFICATION FOR: A470 Bryn-du Horseshoe carpark – old coach road via 
underpass path improvements (Un-dated, but received on 29th July 2020)

(ii) 20/18308/FUL Underpass and Footpath, Adjacent to A470, From Layby West of 
Storey Arms, Brecon, Powys - Biodiversity enhancement measures - 3 July 
2020

(iii) Method Statement - A470 underpass – Horseshoe layby path works
The biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures as described shall 
be undertaken and/or installed within six months of the substantial completion of the 
development and maintained thereafter. Following the installation of the mitigation and 
enhancements, a report confirming their adequate installation or implementation shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

  8 An Ecological Clerk of Works shall be appointed to oversee the implementation of the 
development in accordance with the agreed methodologies.

Reasons:

1 Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2 To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of a satisfactory form of 

development.
3 To comply with Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3 

and 5 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP
4 To comply with of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 

SP3 and 5 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP

Page 97



Page 16 of 21

5 To comply with Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3 
and 5 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP

6 To comply with of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 
SP3 and 5 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP

7 To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and 
Policies SP3, 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP
To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 
2016

8 To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and 
Policies SP3, 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP
To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 
2016

Informative

1 Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for advice in 
the event that protected species are discovered during the course of the development.  To 
proceed without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence under the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and/or the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) being committed. NRW can be contacted at: NRW, Cantref Court, Brecon 
Road, Abergavenny, NP7 7AX Tel: 0300 065 3000

2 Please be advised that the carrying out of restricted works without the consent of the 
appropriate national authority i.e. the Welsh Government would be UNLAWFUL and the 
applicants should discuss the matter with the Planning Inspectorate Wales to determine 
whether making an application for consent under section 38 of the Commons Act 2006 from 
the Welsh Government ministers is necessary

3 Please contact the SAB Team on 01597 826000 or via email sab@powys.gov.uk For further 
information on the requirements of SAB and where relevant application forms/guidance can be 
accessed, please visit the following website https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/5578/Sustainable-
Drainage-Approval-Body-SAB If for any reason you believe your works are exempt from the 
requirement for SAB approval, we would be grateful if you would inform us so we can update 
our records accordingly. The requirement to obtain SAB consent sits outside of the planning 
process but is enforceable in a similar manner to planning law. It is a requirement to obtain SAB 
consent in addition to planning consent. Failure to engage with compliant SuDS design at an 
early stage may lead to significant un-necessary redesign costs.

4 All nesting birds , their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to: 
 intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird
 intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or being 

built 
 intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
 intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest 

building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a 
bird.  The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - 
is a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work 

Page 98



Page 17 of 21

involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in 
use or being built, (usually between late February and late August). If a nest is discovered 
while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural 
Resources Wales.

Page 99



Page 18 of 21

Site Location

A470

Brecon

Merthyr

P
age 100



Page 19 of 21

Site Layout

A470

P
age 101



Page 20 of 21

Details

P
age 102



Page 21 of 21

                         

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

19/17572/FUL N: 214086 
E: 284443

Ms Alison Hopkins for Land for parking 
car and side access to house (Full 
Application) at 1 Pencwarcoch 
Cottages, Brecon Road, Penycae 
Swansea Powys SA9 1FE

Invalid 
Application 
Returned

1 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

19/17737/FUL N: 218476 
E: 321563

Mr And Mrs O'Leary for Re-alignment 
of the existing ground to part of the 
garden at Whitegates and the demolition 
of the existing garage (Full Application) 
at White Gates, 2 Orchard Lane, 
Crickhowell Powys NP8 1BU 

Withdraw 14 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

19/17936/FUL N: 216917 
E: 309676

The Home Office for The proposed 
installation of a 15m telecommunications 
column accommodating antennas, two 
no. microwaves dishes, pole mounted 
satellite dish, ancillary equipment cabin 
and cabinets and cabling, within a 
landscaped and fenced compound, 
together with 3m wide access track and 
associated landscaping at Land at Ty 
Canol Farm, Llangynidr / Talybont on 
Usk NGR: 309253 216816 (Full 
Application) at Land At Ty Canol Farm , 
Llangynidr / Talybont On Usk , Brecon 
LD3 7YT  

Permit 24 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

19/17977/FUL N: 242126 
E: 322865

Mr Ben Whittle for Erection of a solar 
pv canopy and electric charging points 
over 12 parking bays within the carpark 
to serve the local school and swimming 
pool. (Full Application) at Hay-On-Wye 
Cp School , Oxford Road, Hay-On-Wye 
Hereford HR3 5BT 

Permit 27 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

19/18056/DISC
ON

N: 205262 
E: 330872

R J Price & Co for Discharge of 
conditions 3 4 5 6 7 and 12 pursuant to 
planning permission 19/17295/FUL - 
Conversion of redundant Agricultural 
barn to provide 1no (2 bed) Holiday let 
accommodation and 1no (3 bed) 
Caretaker/Manager dwelling.  
Alterations to existing agricultural barn. 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Ty Cooke Farm, Old 
Abergavenny Road, Pencroesoped 
Llanover Monmouthshire NP4 8QZ

Permit 17 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

19/18057/DISC
ON

N: 205262 
E: 330872

R J Price & Co for Discharge of 
conditions 7 8 9 10 11 12 and 13 

Permit 4 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 105

ENC6Item 1



pursuant to Listed Building Consent 
19/17495/LBC - Conversion of 
redundant Agricultural barn to provide 
1no (2 bed) Holiday let accommodation 
and 1no (3 bed) Caretaker/Manager 
dwelling.  Alterations to existing 
agricultural barn. (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at Ty Cooke 
Farm, Old Abergavenny Road, 
Pencroesoped Llanover Monmouthshire 
NP4 8QZ

19/18171/FUL N: 228721 
E: 303992

Mr & Mrs T & S Payne for Construction 
of cabin for ancillary residential use, 
construction of garden shed and 
construction of house extension. (Full 
Application) at The Dingle , Walnut 
Square, Llan-Faes Brecon LD3 8BD 

Permit 23 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18218/FUL N: 228628 
E: 304506

Mr D Renshaw for Conversion of No. 
11A Lion Street, Brecon to 3 no. 
apartments including demolition of toilet 
block (Full Application) at 11A Lion 
Street, Brecon, LD3 7HY   

Withdraw 2 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18269/FUL N: 222689 
E: 311283

Mr & Mrs M & A Hughes-Jones for Take 
down and rebuild chimney, replace 
modern windows and door on south-
east, south-west and north-east 
elevations (Full Application) at Bank 
House , Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon LD3 
7YQ  

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18270/LBC N: 222689 
E: 311283

Mr & Mrs M & A Hughes-Jones for Take 
down and rebuild chimney, replace 
modern windows and door on south-
east, south-west and north-east 
elevations and partial re-plastering of the 
ground floor internal walls with lime 
plaster. (Listed Building Consent) at 
Bank House , Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon 
LD3 7YQ  

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18306/LBC N: 228580 
E: 304551

Mr Nicholson for Erection of structure 
timbers to support the existing 
basement ceiling and installation of 
hygiene PVC cladding (Retrospective) 
(Listed Building Consent) at 7 Lion 
Street, Brecon, LD3 7AY   

Permit 16 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18322/FUL N: 211254 
E: 305655

Mr & Mrs Jones for Proposed new 
dwelling (Full Application) at Bryn 
Terrace , Vaynor Road, Pontsticill 
Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2UL 

Permit 6 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Page 106



20/18331/FUL N: 216840 
E: 320817

Mr Rob Dunning for Proposed 
construction of an access track for 
forestry purposes and for retrospective 
permission for structures to undertake 
forestry activity. (Full Application) at 
Alder Carr Woodland , Llangattock 
Crickhowell,    

Withdraw 27 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18336/FUL N: 210354 
E: 304923

Mr & Mrs Williams for Replacement of 
the existing roof coverings to all pitched 
roofs, which are in disrepair, with new 
Eternit Rivendale fibre cement slates of 
similar appearance to existing roof 
coverings. Replacement of existing 
double glazed timber windows with new 
uPVC double glazed windows (Black) 
with Georgian Gars (to match existing). 
Redecoration of external walls with 
white masonry paint to match the 
historical appearance of the building. 
(Full Application) at Church Tavern , 
Vaynor Road, Pontsarn Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2TT 

Permit 16 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18401/DISC
ON

N: 228239 
E: 304794

Mr Kenneth Lloyd for To discharge 
conditions 6 (contamination risk 
assessment), 7 (remediation strategy 
report) and 20 (archaeology) pursuant 
to planning permission 18/16045/FUL 
(12 No Residential Units) (Approval of 
details reserved bycondition) at 4 Cross 
Yard, Brecon, LD3 7FE   

Split 
Decision 
Discharge 
Conditions

3 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18482/FUL N: 228233 
E: 285426

Mrs Elaine Eves for Erection of a two 
bedroom single storey wooden log 
cabin.  The cabin will be for the sole use 
of  parents and ancillary to the main 
dwelling with a bathroom, kitchen and 
living area (Full Application) at Ynysfaen, 
Cwmwysg, Trecastle Brecon Powys LD3 
8YF

Permit 27 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18487/FUL N: 217086 
E: 264689

Mr Bob Stratford for Alterations and 
first floor extension (Full Application) at 
Coelbren , Llandyfan, Ammanford SA18 
2TY  

Withdraw 30 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18525/FUL N: 214147 
E: 326826

Mr & Mrs NICK JONES for 
Construction of two new detached 
dwellings including driveway access and 
on plot parking, site services and 
landscaping (Full Application) at Plot 
Adjoing The Laurels, Dragon Lane, 
Govilon Sir Fynwy NP7 9PG 

Withdraw 12 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 107



20/18533/FUL N: 210981 
E: 305452

Mr Paul Jones for Detached garage with 
associated retaining walls. (Full 
Application) at Land Adjacent To 
Penyradwy House , Vaynor Road, 
Pontsticill Merthyr Tydfil Merthyr Tydfil 
Ua CF48 2TU

Permit 31 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18563/FUL N: 223728 
E: 317973

Ian Brooks for Change of use of former 
public toilets to form a wellbeing centre 
along with a public toilet element and 
the construction of a first floor 
extension. (Full Application) at Public 
Convenience, Cwmdu, NP8 1RW   

Withdraw 10 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18567/FUL N: 223086 
E: 330881

Ruth & David Pickvance & Rooke for 
The application relates principally to 
internal alterations and a small extension 
to the existing dwelling known as Perth 
Y Cwrn. (Full Application) at Perth Y 
Crwn Farm , Cwmyoy Road, Cymyoy 
NP7 7NU  

Permit 31 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18571/DISC
ON

N: 239916 
E: 321336

Mr & Mrs Shooter for Discharge of 
condition 3 in pursuant to planning 
application 20/18211/FUL. Ecological 
Method Statement (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at The Old Post 
Office , Llanigon, HR3 5QA   

Permit 10 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18579/FUL N: 228658 
E: 289811

Mr Mark Owen for Material change of 
use of land from part agricultural, part 
residential varying the proportion of 
these parts and the retention of:
a/ Home office outbuilding; b/ Hot tub 
decking and canopy; c/ Terrace with 
changes to the existing balustrade; The 
creation of a new under croft beneath 
the terrace to create an orchard store. 
(Full Application) at The Byre, Trecastle, 
Brecon Powys LD3 8UU 

Permit 27 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18583/FUL N: 227458 
E: 275503

Mr & Mrs Nigel and Erica Cassin for 
Extension of the existing mono-pitched 
roof to the ancillary "home office" 
building to form link with stone barn and 
lean-to. Change of use of buildings to 
form holiday let. (Full Application) at 
Pentwynmwyn , Llanddeusant, Llangadog 
SA19 9EY  

Permit 12 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18587/OUT N: 218952 
E: 322208

Mr James Howell for Outline application 
for residential development (including 
detail on means of access with all other 
matters reserved) (Outline Application) 

Refuse 10 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 108



at Land Off Great Oak Road, 
Crickhowell, Powys NP8 1DQ  

Reason/s for refusal:-
The principle of open market dwellings at this unallocated, greenfield site located outside the settlement boundary of 
Crickhowell is unacceptable as it is contrary to the provisions of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan 
Policy E LP1: Community Sustainability Edge of Settlement Exceptions. The principle of the environmental impact of 
relocating the roadside hedgerow is not acceptable and is contrary to the requirements of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Local Development Plan Policy E LP1: Community Sustainability Edge of Settlement Exceptions, Brecon Beacons 
National Park Local Development Plan Policy 6: Biodiversity and Development, Technical Advice Note 5: Nature 
Conservation and Planning and Planning Policy Wales. Insufficient detail and commitment to biodiversity enhancements at 
the site has been provided contrary to the requirements of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 
6: Biodiversity and Development, Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation, Planning and Planning Policy Wales and 
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. Absence of an adequate assessment of the proposal’s impact on the setting of the 
conservation area contrary to the requirements of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 19: 
Development Affecting Conservation Areas, Technical Advice Note 24: the Historic Environment and Planning and Planning 
Policy Wales.  Absence of an adequate assessment of the proposal’s landscape and visual impact to demonstrate the 
proposal to be appropriate its location, integrated into the landscape and maintaining or enhancing the quality and character 
of the National Park contrary to the provisions of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy SP1: 
National Park Policy and Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 1. Insufficient information on the 
proposed site levels, extent of cut and fill and extent of retaining features required in order to accommodate development 
on the site. This is contrary to the provisions of LDP Policy 1 criteria i) which requires proposed development to be 
appropriate to its surroundings and maintain or enhance the quality and character of the Park’s Natural Beauty, cultural 
heritage and built environment and criteria ii) which requires development to be integrated into the landscape to the 
satisfaction of the National Park Authority. The absence of any highway mitigation works along Great Oak Road and 
unacceptable access gradients for the proposed development which will have an unacceptable impact on road safety 
contrary to provisions in Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy SP17: Sustainable Transport, 
Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 59: Impacts of Traffic and Technical Advice Note 18: 
Transport. Insufficient information on the proposed surface water drainage solution for the site to ensure surface water 
runoff is managed in a way which does not cause a highway safety issue contrary to the requirements of Brecon Beacons 
National Park Local Development Plan Policy 59: Impacts of Traffic and does not lead to unacceptable surface water 
flooding contrary to the requirements of Planning Policy Wales and Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood 
Risk. The proposal will result in the net gain of a new affordable housing as well as a requirement for the long-term 
maintenance of ecological mitigation features and there is no legal mechanism to deliver these as required by Policies SP6: 
Affordable Housing and 6: Biodiversity and Development of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan and 
Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing.

20/18591/FUL N: 242291 
E: 323034

Felgate for Application for the 
reintegration of two offices and cellar 
(currently A3) into the original layout of 
Bank House (C3) and the construction 
of new party wall sections, new cellar 
doors and the reinstatement of a door 
into bank house to match the original 
existing doors (Full Application) at Bank 
House _ South Bank House, Broad 
Street, Hay-On-Wye Hereford  

Permit 23 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18592/LBC N: 242291 
E: 323034

Felgate for Application for the 
reintegration of two offices and cellar 
(currently A3) into the original layout of 
Bank House (C3) and the construction 
of new party wall sections, new cellar 
doors and the reinstatement of a door 
into bank house to match the original 
existing doors (Listed Building Consent) 

Permit 21 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Page 109



at Bank House _ South Bank House, 
Broad Street, Hay-On-Wye Hereford 
HR3 5DB 

20/18593/FUL N: 221761 
E: 271719

Mr Jeffrey Jones for Erection and Siting 
of one field shelter 12ft wide x 36ft long 
and change of use of land from 
agricultural to mixed use agricultural and 
equestrian. (Full Application) at 
Pencaenewydd , Gwynfe, Llangadog 
SA19 9RF  

Permit 24 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18596/FUL N: 222553 
E: 310988

Mr & Mrs Osbourne for Demolition of 
existing lean-to stable block and store 
and construction of a rural enterprise 
dwelling, creation of new access, 
drainage, landscaping and associated 
development. Recladding and reroofing 
of adjoining existing agricultural dutch 
barn. (Full Application) at Cui Lodge , 
Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon LD3 7YQ  

Withdraw 17 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18614/FUL N: 220767 
E: 324422

Mr & Ms Julian Copeman & Sophie 
Lillingston for Utility Room Extension 
and New Porch (Full Application) at 
Henbant Fach , Llanbedr, Crickhowell 
NP8 1TA  

Permit 4 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18616/FUL N: 206979 
E: 330438

Mr & Mrs Griffiths for Two storey side 
extension (Full Application) at Byrgwm 
Bach , Pen-Groes-Oped Road, Upper 
Llanover Llanover NP7 9EP 

Permit 17 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18623/DISC
ON

N: 219497 
E: 320747

Mr John Goreing for Discharge of 
conditions 3 (materials),4 (window and 
door detail),5 (stonework),6 
(biodiversity enhancement),7 
(landscaping plan) & 8 (lighting) in 
pursuant to planning application 
19/17600/LBC (Creation of new annex 
accommodation (with covered area on 
northern elevation) linked to the 
existing domestic property at Llanfair 
Farmhouse including landscaping, 
pedestrian access and associated 
drainage works). (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at Llanfair Farm , 
Tretower, Crickhowell NP8 1RB  

Split 
Decision 
Discharge 
Conditions

13 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18624/DISC
ON

N: 219497 
E: 320747

Mr John Goreing for Discharge of 
conditions 4 (materials),5 (window and 
door details),6 (stonework), 7 
(biodiversity enhancement), 8 
(landscaping plan), 9 (lighting), & 10 (tree 

Split 
Decision 
Discharge 
Conditions

21 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Page 110



protection measures) in pursuant to 
planning application 19/17285/FUL as 
amended by 19/17594/MINOR 
("Creation of new annex 
accommodation linked to the existing 
domestic property at Llanfair Farmhouse 
including landscaping, pedestrian access 
and associated drainage works").
 (Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Llanfair Farm , 
Tretower, Crickhowell NP8 1RB  

20/18626/FUL N: 228953 
E: 283417

Mr Graham Wearne for Construction of 
an electrical storage unit 6.1m x 3.4m on 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water operational 
land. (Full Application) at Land to the 
East of Usk Reservoir Dam, ,    

Permit 11 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18632/FUL N: 216341 
E: 326875

Mr W Carver for Replacement of 
existing timber storage shed with Home 
Office garden room structure. (Full 
Application) at Bronhafod , Penygraig 
Road, Llanwenarth NP7 7LA  

Permit 24 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18650/DISC
ON

N: 216249 
E: 320238

Mrs Lisa Outhwaite for Discharge of 
Condition 4 and 9 relating to landscaping 
and materials pursuant to Planning 
Permission 19/17779/FUL for conversion 
of barn into holiday let (Approval of 
details reserved bycondition) at 
Penrheol Darren , Hillside, Llangattock 
NP8 1LF  

Permit 28 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18651/FUL N: 205799 
E: 298028

Mr Mark Cohen for Renewal of planning 
to Demolition of existing bungalow and 
build a new two storey dwelling 
(15/11982/Ful) (Full Application) at The 
Dell , Croes Bychan Road, Llwydcoed 
Aberdare CF44 0EJ 

Withdraw 30 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18661/FUL N: 214307 
E: 325264

Mr & Mrs Games for Retrospective 
application for the retention of hard 
standing to create an agricultural storage 
area (Full Application) at Land At Ty 
Gwyn Farm,, Gilwern,    

Permit 27 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18668/FUL N: 220171 
E: 328840

Mr and Mrs Tooley for Single Storey 
extension to provide additional 
bedroom, ensuite and study facility. (Full 
Application) at Maes Bach , Fforest 
Coalpit, NP7 7LH   

Permit 27 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18670/FUL N: 212606 
E: 325711

Mr Chris Frow for Proposed demolition 
of existing lean to side extension and 

Permit 19 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 111



replacement with new pitched roof side 
extension. Also to include the 
construction of a porch, installation of a 
Juliet balcony to main house and other 
alterations. (Full Application) at Maes Y 
Nant , Cwm Lane, Govilon NP7 9RY  

20/18676/DISC
ON

N: 222534 
E: 276022

Ms Anita Ruhmer for To discharge 
conditions 6, 7, 8, 9 and 12 pursuant to 
planning permission 18/16877/FUL (High 
head micro scheme, with turgo turbine 
runner in turbine house. System 
consisting of 2 x intake weir, separate 
forebay tank, pipeline, turbine house, 
outflow pipe and export cable)- 
Condition 6 is Landscaping proposals, 
Condition 7 is Access Routes, Condition 
8 is Appointment of ECoW, Condition 9 
is Demarcation of base-rich flush and 
Condition 12 is Archeological Report 
and implementation of 
recommendations (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at Pant Y Turnor, 
Llanddeusant, Llangadog SA19 9TN  

Permit 10 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18679/FUL N: 217356 
E: 331056

Mr & Mrs Mel & Carol Hiscox for 
Proposed loft conversion with insertion 
of 3No roof windows to rear elevation 
of roof (Full Application) at 6 Triley Mill 
Cottages , Hereford Road, Triley 
Llantilio Pertholey NP7 8DE 

Refuse 3 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:-
It is considered that there is insufficient information submitted in support of the application to accurately assess the 
potential impact of the proposed development on protected species at the site. Furthermore, biodiversity enhancement 
features are a requirement of applications, no such enhancements were forthcoming. Therefore the proposal does not 
conform with Policies 6 and 7 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan 2013.

20/18681/FUL N: 213746 
E: 327431

Alwyn Thomas for Conversion and 
extension of existing oil store/ shed to 
kitchen/ lounge (Full Application) at The 
Moorings, Ty'r Odyn , Blaenavon Road, 
Govilon NP7 9NY  

Refuse 18 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:-
Insufficient information has been provided to assess the impact of the proposal on archaeology contrary to the 
requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), Technical Advice Note (TAN) 24: The Historic 
Environment (May 2017) and Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2007-2022 adopted 
December 2013 Policy SP3: Environmental Protection - Strategic Policy and Policy 1: Appropriate Development in the 
National Park.

20/18687/FUL N: 233600 
E: 315336

Mrs Jackie Robinson for Demolition and 
rebuild of detached prefab garage on 
rocket socket piled RC slab (Full 
Application) at Journeys End , Heol Las, 
Talgarth LD3 0PH  

Permit 1 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 112



20/18689/DISC
ON

N: 215542 
E: 323391

Ms Helen Marks for Discharge of 
conditions 4 (stone work), 6 (verge 
finish), 7 (chimney pots), 8 (rainwater 
goods), 9 (external timber), 10 
(windows) and 11 (submission of 
photographic survey) in pursuant to 
planning application 20/18413/FUL. 
Rebuilding works to existing Grade II 
dwelling house following fire damage 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Dan Y Graig, 
Crickhowell Road, Gilwern Sir Fynwy 
NP7 0EH 

Permit 28 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18693/FUL N: 217714 
E: 265876

Mr Philip Russell for Retention of two 
LG R32 Therma V Air Source Heat 
Pump 12kW to provide a sustainable 
source of heating and hot water to the 
residential retreat. (Full Application) at 
Llwyn Dewi , Trapp, Llandeilo SA19 6TT  

Permit 6 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18695/FUL N: 216667 
E: 331063

Ms Joanne Read for Installation of solar 
PV panels on roof at this domestic 
property.  A total of 14 panels are 
proposed on the east facing and west 
facing roof.  The panels are black in 
colour and will sit on our existing dark 
grey slate roof. (Full Application) at 13 
Coed Y Brenin, Llantilio Pertholey, NP7 
6PY   

Permit 10 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18696/DISC
ON

N: 224281 
E: 329308

Mr and Mrs Stoddart for Discharge 
condition 4 (A Scheme for the 
monitoring and remediation of any 
landscape mitigation measures.) in 
relation to application 20/18275/FUL 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Daren Ganol , Cymyoy, 
Abergavenny NP7 7NR  

Permit 22 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18698/FUL N: 228305 
E: 304743

Mrs Mary Phillips for Application for 
permission to let holiday units on short-
term letting contracts in addition to 
holiday letting (Full Application) at Units 
2 & 3, Gremlin Lodge , 48 The Watton, 
Brecon LD3 7EG  

Permit 11 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18700/FUL N: 222889 
E: 311900

Mr Simon Macdonald for Single-storey 
extension to front elevation and replace 
existing attached garage and utility room 
with single-storey extension to side 
elevation. (Full Application) at 
Nantgarw, Station Road, Talybont-On-
Usk Brecon LD3 7JE 

Permit 3 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Page 113



20/18707/DISC
ON

N: 229174 
E: 318012

Ms S Pritchard for Discharge Conditions 
8 and 19 in relation to planning 
application 18/16376/FUL  (Walls - 
Natural Stone from Llangorse Quarry, 
Walls - K-Rend render, Roof - Natural 
Slate - ISS10, Lighting Plan - Ki 5470 5 
Lighting Plan) (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at New Dwelling 
, Tyisha, Pengenffordd Talgarth LD3 0EU 

Permit 19 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18708/FUL N: 214605 
E: 324815

Mr Dean Flowers for Demolition of 
existing garage and single storey side 
extension and the construction of a two 
storey side extension with integral 
garage. (Full Application) at Pant Glas , 
Main Road, Gilwern NP7 0AU  

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18709/CPE N: 222716 
E: 311405

Mr & Mrs John Jenkins for Seasonal 
Camp site (Tents only) Easter to 
October (Certificate Existing Lawful 
Use/Dev) at Talybont Farm , Mill Lane, 
Talybont-On-Usk Brecon LD3 7YJ 

Permit 1 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18711/CPL N: 220060 
E: 318774

Mr Harry Legge-Bourke for Use of 10 
bedrooms at Penmyarth House as a B&B 
for up to 35 days per calendar year and 
for the installation of a fire alarm and 
detection system within the interior of 
the building. (Certificate Proposed 
Lawful Use/Dev) at Penmyarth House, 
Glanusk Park, Crickhowell Powys NP8 
1LP 

Permit 14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18713/MINO
R

N: 217661 
E: 321726

Ms Joanna Morgan for 1.Re-position the 
stable block to the south west of the 
site. 2. Omit 4 doorways from south 
east and north west elevations, 3.New 
doorways to north east and south west 
elevations, 4. Addition of translucent 
roof lights to provide natural lighting 
within the stables in relation to 
application 12/08759/FUL. (Non-Material 
Changes (Minor Amendments)) at The 
Legar, Crickhowell, NP8 1HH   

Permit 20 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18717/FUL N: 207896 
E: 295027

Mr COLIN THOMAS for First Floor 
Rear Extension With Alterations (Full 
Application) at 1 Pontpren, Penderyn, 
Hirwaun CF44 9JN  

Permit 27 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18719/FUL N: 213876 
E: 323893

Mr Lee Carver for Rear two storey 
extension to enlarge existing bathroom 
and create boiler room. Installation of 
rooflights to rear roof

Permit 18 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 114



slope of dwelling house. (Full 
Application) at Cartref, Station Road, 
Gilwern Monmouthshire NP7 0HN 

20/18720/FUL N: 218376 
E: 320761

Ms Helen Livingstone for Installation of 
2 No x Velux roof windows into flat 
roof over hallway. (Full Application) at 
Cypress Cottage , The Dardy, 
Crickhowell NP8 1PS  

Permit 13 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18724/FUL N: 211414 
E: 305804

Mr DAVID SAMUELS for 2 storey rear 
extension with pitched roof. New porch 
to front elevation. (Full Application) at 7 
Castell Morlais, Pontsticill, Merthyr 
Tydfil CF48 2YB  

Refuse 14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:-
It is considered that there is insufficient information submitted in support of the application to accurately assess the 
potential impact of the proposed development on protected species at the site. Furthermore, biodiversity enhancement 
features are a requirement of applications, no such enhancements were forthcoming. Therefore the proposal does not 
conform with Policies 6 and 7 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan 2013.

20/18728/SO N: 235200 
E: 315934

 for Request for Screening Opinion 
under Part 2, Regulation 6 of The Town 
and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 
2017 relating to Planning Application 
20/18444/FUL for installation of a 
biomethane upgrading facility, 
infrastructure and equipment at Great 
Porthamel, Talgarth
 (EIA Screening Opinion) at Great 
Porthamel, Talgarth, Brecon Powys LD3 
0DL 

Environme
ntal 
Statement 
Not 
Required

4 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18727/LBC N: 242369 
E: 322975

Mr T Pugh for Alteration to railing and 
floor to create new pedestrian access 
suitable for all. (Listed Building Consent) 
at The Butter Market, Market Street, 
Hay-On-Wye Hereford Powys HR3 5AF

Permit 27 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18731/DISC
ON

N: 228556 
E: 304837

Beryl Gibson for Discharge of Condition 
5 (slate sample/details) pursuant to 
Panning Permission 20/18365/FUL for 
replacement garage and alteration to 
steps (Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at 4 Camden Road, 
Brecon, LD3 7BU   

Permit 13 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18734/DISC
ON

N: 242090 
E: 322722

Dr Richard Beavan for Discharge of 
Conditions 4 (Rooflight spec)  and 6 
(outside lights) pursuant to Planning 
Permission 20/18227/FUL for single 
storey conservatory to side, skylights 
and alterations to patio (Approval of 

Permit 23 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Page 115



details reserved bycondition) at Laurel 
Cottage, Church Street, Hay-On-Wye 
Hereford Powys HR3 5DW

20/18737/DISC
ON

N: 214818 
E: 323188

Mr & Mrs Angharad And Owen Parry 
for Discharge of Conditions in pursuant 
to planning application 19/18046/FUL. 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at The Five Bells, Llanelly 
Church, Llanelly Sir Fynwy NP7 0HG 

Permit 21 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18738/DISC
ON

N: 225532 
E: 294585

Mr A Burnell for Discharge of condition 
7 in pursuant to planning application 
20/18512/FUL. Details of tree 
protection fence (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at Glwyd Fawr , 
Sennybridge, Brecon LD3 8TG  

Permit 4 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18741/FUL N: 211375 
E: 305817

Nolan for Demolition of existing 
conservatory and construction of single 
storey side extension and two storey 
rear extension. Also internal alterations, 
partial cladding of the existing rear and 
front elevations and incorporation of 
existing external porch into internal 
living space including the insertion of a 
rooflight. (Full Application) at 4 Castell 
Morlais, Pontsticill, Merthyr Tydfil 

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18743/LBC N: 242416 
E: 322913

Mrs N Durham for For the creation of a 
wc and kitchenette in the rear storage 
area of the retail unit. (Listed Building 
Consent) at Tredegar House, The 
Pavement, Hay-On-Wye Hereford 
Powys HR3 5BU

Permit 25 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18744/DISC
ON

N: 224281 
E: 329308

Mr and Mrs Stoddart for Discharge of 
Condition 4 for External Lighting Plan 
and Condition 5 for Buildings Survey 
pursuant to Planning Permission 
19/17784/FUL for alterations and 
extensions (Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Daren Ganol , Brynarw 
To Llanthony Wood, Cymyoy NP7 7NR  

Split 
Decision 
Discharge 
Conditions

14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18745/DISC
ON

N: 224902 
E: 318669

Mr G Isaacs for Discharge of Condition 
7 for Schedule of materials and 
Condition 10 for a completed 
photographic survey pursuant to 
Planning Permission 19/17804/FUL for 
conversion of barn into holiday let 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Ty Mawr , Cwm-Du, 
Crickhowell NP8 1RT  

Permit 24 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 116



20/18746/DISC
ON

N: 222605 
E: 266725

Trevor Jones for Discharge of Condition 
3 RE biodiversity enhancement scheme 
and Condition 4 RE surface water 
drainage scheme pursuant to Planning 
Permission 19/17481/FUL to replace 
slurry pit (Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Carregcynffyrdd, 
Gwynfe Road, Ffairfach Llandeilo 
Carmarthenshire SA19 6YT

Permit 23 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18760/FUL N: 232536 
E: 318757

Ms Sarah Kessel for Footpath 
management works including new 
surfacing and steps (Full Application) at 
Pwll Y Wrach Nature Reserve, Talgarth, 
Powys LD3 0EE  

Permit 24 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18761/FUL N: 219063 
E: 330112

Mr Paul Baillie for Replace dilapidated 
storage and workshop with new garage 
and storage (Full Application) at Cwm 
Cottage, Bettws Spur, Bettws 
Crucorney NP7 7LG 

Permit 1 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18762/TRCA N: 242391 
E: 323149

Mr Robin Cloke for The tree is a 
mature Walnut that has previously been 
heavily reduced about 4 year old. We 
plan to re-pollard the tree to where it 
was previously cut 4 year ago. Possibly 
reducing some of the large trunk wood 
to get a more balance crown. (Work to 
trees in con area) at The Blacksmiths, 
Lion Street, Hay-On-Wye Hereford 
Powys HR3 5AD

Works 
approved

3 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18764/FUL N: 208891 
E: 294814

Mr Roach for The demolition of an 
existing single storey rear extension and 
the construction of a two storey rear 
and side extension to include an 
integrated garage. (Full Application) at 
Soar Chapel House , Chapel Road, 
Penderyn Hirwaun CF44 0UJ 

Withdraw 3 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18765/LBC N: 218346 
E: 321829

Mrs Williams for LBC application for 
reinstatement of former external door 
position and internal changes, to 
facilitate a new access point to the first 
floor and offices and to ensure the 
building conforms with fire safety and 
building regulations (Listed Building 
Consent) at 2 Bank Buildings , Beaufort 
Street, Crickhowell NP8 1AD  

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18766/DISC
ON

N: 235158 
E: 315974

Mr & Mrs Jones for Discharge 
conditions 4 (Landscaping Plan) and 5 
(Lighting Scheme) in relation to 
16/14022/LBC (Approval of details 

Permit 24 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 117



reserved bycondition) at Great 
Porthamel, , Great Porthamel Barn , 
Talgarth LD3 0DL  

20/18776/FUL N: 203383 
E: 330037

Mr & Mrs Baldock for Proposed 
construction of all weather turn out for 
horses. (Full Application) at Hillgrove , 
Folly Lane, Mamhilad NP4 8RB  

Permit 3 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18777/FUL N: 231401 
E: 316902

Mr D J And W D Powell for Proposed 
general purpose agricultural building
 (Full Application) at Middle Genfford, 
Talgarth, Brecon Powys LD3 0EH 

Permit 4 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18779/FUL N: 214478 
E: 305766

Mr Ken Hinton for Erection of timber 
hut for use as a shelter by campers in 
adjoining camping field. (Full Application) 
at Plas Dolygaer , Pontsticll, Merthyr 
Tydfil CF482UR  

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18783/FUL N: 229076 
E: 304297

Mrs Mulholland for Replace kitchen 
door and window in cream UPVC (Full 
Application) at 6 St Johns Court, 
Brecon, Powys LD3 9EF  

Permit 4 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18784/MINO
R

N: 207681 
E: 294910

Mr Grant Howells for Minor 
amendment sought to planning 
permission 19/17719/FUL - wish to 
amend the rear elevation using smaller 
windows for ease of construction in new 
dormer (Non-Material Changes (Minor 
Amendments)) at 9 Woodland Park, 
Penderyn, Hirwaun Rhondda Cynon Taff 
CF44 9TX 

Permit 13 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18785/DISC
ON

N: 213661 
E: 284387

Mr & Mrs Christopher for To discharge 
conditions 9 and 11 pursuant to planning 
permission 18/16562/FUL - Knotweed 
Report & External Lighting Design 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Penycae C P School , 
Penycae, Swansea SA9 1FA  

Refuse 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:-
Extra information/changes required for conditions 9 and 11

20/18787/ECEX
EM

N: 208549 
E: 294535

Mr Thomas Martin for Proposed 
improvements to boundary wall 
(Ecclesiastical Exemption) at St Cynogs 
Church , Church Road, Penderyn 
Hirwaun Rhondda Cynon Taff CF44 9JR

Application 
not 
required

25 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18789/MINO
R

N: 217181 
E: 320913

Mr Matthew Holley for Non-material 
amendment Planning Application to 

Permit 14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 118



make external alterations (removal of 
garage door in front elevation and 
insertion of window and insertion of 
window in side elevation) to detached 
garage associated with Plot 17 of 
approved planning application 
15/12262/OUT. (Non-Material Changes 
(Minor Amendments)) at Former 
Chestnuts Home Llangattock Park , 
Hillside Road, Llangattock Crickhowell 
NP8 1LD 

20/18790/LBC N: 229089 
E: 304667

Ms Rebecca Thomas for Alterations to 
stair & other internal alterations, 
provision of extractors to kitchen & 
bath/shower rooms with outlets for 
same on rear elevation, replacement 
windows and door to rear elevation 
(Listed Building Consent) at 72 The 
Struet, Brecon, LD3 7LN   

Permit 3 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18796/FUL N: 227677 
E: 313896

Mr Wally James for Application for a 
replacement garden room to provide an 
enlarged space and to define the 
location of the front entrance door. (Full 
Application) at The Rise , Llangorse, 
Brecon LD3 7UE  

Permit 12 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18800/FUL N: 222028 
E: 314866

Mr John Benjamin for Erection of solar 
panels on west facing roof elevations and 
construction of concrete block shed to 
house storage battery and control 
equipment, also, construction of 
enclosed front porch due to noise 
pollution experienced inside the house. 
The existing planning consent for the 
house has approved drawings which 
show a porch covering the main 
entrance. This application would enclose 
the porch and was considered to be a 
minor alteration during a prior 
consultation at the authority offices 
earlier this year. (Full Application) at 
Eirinn, Bwlch, Brecon LD3 7HX  

Withdraw 10 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18801/MINO
R

N: 213181 
E: 324398

Professor David Abbott for Minor 
amendment to application 19/17710/FUL 
- To take the adjacent stone building 
down and replace it with a retaining wall 
to keep the bank of earth in place. 
(Non-Material Changes (Minor 
Amendments)) at Lilac Cottage , Heol 
Bedd-Dyn-Hir, Govilon NP7 0HS  

Refuse 3 August 2020 Delegated 
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:-

Page 119



The proposed alterations, namely the demolition of an existing outbuilding and the construction of a retaining wall cannot 
be accepted as a minor amendment to the approved scheme.

20/18804/DISC
ON

N: 214029 
E: 327166

Llanmoor Development Co Ltd Simon 
Grey for Discharge Conditions 16 (Tree 
Protection )  20 (Landscape Planting 
Plan) and 26 (External Works Layout inc 
Enclosures- Hammonds Architectural 
Ltd.) in relation to application 
18/16964/OUT (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at Land North Of 
B4246 , Govilon, Abergavenny NP7 9PS  

Permit 17 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18815/CPL N: 229201 
E: 287944

Sara Rees for Single-storey extension 
(Certificate Proposed Lawful Use/Dev) 
at 2 The Willows , Trecastle, Brecon 
LD3 8UH  

Refuse 18 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:-
The proposal has been determined in accordance with Section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). The Authority is not satisfied that the proposed development would be lawful as it would not benefit from 
deemed planning permission by virtue of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class B (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2013. This is because the proposal consists of the enlargement of a 
dwellinghouse consisting of an addition or alteration to its roof, whilst the site falls within article 1(5) land.

20/18816/CPL N: 242580 
E: 323065

Helen Horton for Single-storey 
extension to side elevation (Certificate 
Proposed Lawful Use/Dev) at 5 Booth 
Gardens, Hay-On-Wye, Hereford HR3 
5BH  

Deemed 
Permitted 
Developm
ent

1 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18817/FUL N: 222620 
E: 311436

Mr William Jenkins for Change of use of 
building from artist's studio to self-
contained holiday let and extending 
same to provide shower room. (Full 
Application) at 1 Powells Terrace, Ty 
Saer, Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon LD3 7JA  

Withdraw 24 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18819/DISC
ON

N: 228676 
E: 303415

Mr Burton for Discharge of condition 16 
in pursuant to planning application 
08/01839/LBC (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at The Long Barn, 
Newton, Brecon Powys LD3 8PA 

Permit 17 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18823/DISC
ON

N: 214029 
E: 327166

Llanmoor Development Company Ltd 
Simon Grey for Discharge of conditions 
10 _ 23 in pursuant to planning 
application 18/16964/OUT. Noise 
Assessment Report (Acoustic and Noise 
Ltd) Noise Mitigation Plan (Hammond 
Architectural Ltd) Archaeology Report- 
Written Scheme of Investigation 
(Archaeology Wales Ltd) (Approval of 
details reserved bycondition) at Land 
North Of B4246 , Govilon, Abergavenny 
NP7 9PS  

Permit 14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 120



20/18825/FUL N: 218782 
E: 322208

Mr & Mrs Jones for Attic refurbishment 
including additional skylights and gable 
wall window. Door alterations to front 
west elevation. (Full Application) at 
Shamar , 5 Great Oak Road,, 
Crickhowell NP8 1SW  

Permit 2 September 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18831/DISC
ON

N: 234089 
E: 315530

Miss Sophie Finn for Discharge 
Condition 3 (Biodiversity Enhancement) 
in relation to application 20/18568/FUL 
(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at 4 Council House, Depot 
Lane, Talgarth Brecon Powys LD3 0AN

Split 
Decision 
Discharge 
Conditions

27 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18834/DISC
ON

N: 234089 
E: 315536

Mr Brian Lewis for To discharge 
condition 3 pursuant to planning 
permission 20/18569/FUL - biodiversity 
enhancement (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at 3 Council 
House, Depot Lane, Talgarth Brecon 
Powys LD3 0AN

Split 
Decision 
Discharge 
Conditions

27 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18840/TELN
OT

N: 226516 
E: 291563

Tim Willgoose for 28 Day Notice under 
Regulation 5 of the Electronic 
Communications Code for provision of 
1 pole enabling connection of broadband 
service to Pantmaes Fach, Defynnog, 
LD3 8YH (Telecommunications 
Notifications) at Pantmaes Fach, 
Defynnog, Brecon Powys LD3 8YH 

TEL 
Permitted 
Developm
ent

17 August 
2020

20/18845/DISC
ON

N: 226568 
E: 308796

S Gerrard for Discharge of conditions 3 
and 5 in pursuant to planning application 
20/18572/FUL. 
3 - elevations showing bird boxes, 
photograph of bird box.
5 - photograph of timber stained with 
Osmo Natural Oil Woodstain in Quartz 
Grey. Shown in context with the 
existing timber boarding and other 
colour choices. (Approval of details 
reserved bycondition) at Peterstone 
Court , Llanhamlach, Brecon LD3 7YB  

Permit 13 August 
2020

20/18846/DISC
ON

N: 226568 
E: 308796

S Gerrard for Discharge of condition 2 
pursuant to planning application 
20/18573/LBC. 2 - photograph of timber 
stained with Osmo Natural Oil 
Woodstain in Quartz Grey. Shown in 
context with the existing timber 
boarding and other colour choices. 

Permit 13 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 121



(Approval of details reserved 
bycondition) at Peterstone Court , 
Llanhamlach, Brecon LD3 7YB  

20/18863/MINO
R

N: 214818 
E: 323188

Mr And Mrs Parry for Minor 
amendment sought to 19/18046/FUL - 
want to put in 2 narrow non-opening 
windows to increase light (Non-Material 
Changes (Minor Amendments)) at The 
Five Bells, Llanelly Church, Llanelly 
Monmouthshire NP7 0HG 

Permit 14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18895/MINO
R

N: 216341 
E: 326875

Mr W Carver for Minor application in 
relation to 20/18632/FUL - Revision of 
the roof structure from flat roof with 
rubber covering to a pitched roof with 
zinc profile covering. (Non-Material 
Changes (Minor Amendments)) at 
Bronhafod , Penygraig Road, 
Llanwenarth NP7 7LA  

Permit 28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18905/CAC N: 217645 
E: 320991

Julie Woollard for Demolition of small 
single storey structure, and replacement 
with a covered lightwell. Alterations to 
some existing openings, removal of 
external cement rubblestone render 
finish.  Removal of existing hard 
landscaping features (external concrete 
ramps, perimeter concrete skirt, 
concrete steps) to create more 
permeable surfaces. (Conservation Area 
Consent) at The Olde Plough , Hillside 
Road, Llangattock Crickhowell 

Application 
not 
required

13 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18913/CAC N: 242502 
E: 323089

M/S YVONNE ANN RAYMOND for 
Demolition of a translucent flat roof to 
an open area adjacent the rear of the 
property and erection of a single storey 
flat roofed Garden Room to the extent 
of the demolished roof (Conservation 
Area Consent) at 15 Heol Y Dwr, Hay-
On-Wye, Hereford Powys HR3 5AZ 

Application 
not 
required

13 August 
2020

Page 122



AGRICULTURAL NOTIFICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

20/18714/AGR N: 217688 
E: 321726

Ms Joanna Morgan for Agricultural shed 
to house, machinery, implements, hay, 
fodder and vegetables. (Agricultural 
Notification) at Park Lodge Land, Legar, 
Crickhowell NP8 1AP  

AGR 
Permitted 
Developm
ent

21 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

20/18829/AGR N: 217127 
E: 330688

Mr Mark Fraser for Hay storage and 
fodder (Agricultural Notification) at The 
Granary , Great House Farm, , Great 
House Lane Triley Llantilio Pertholey 
NP7 6PB

AGR 
Permitted 
Developm
ent

14 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

20/18893/AGR N: 219651 
E: 331111

Mr David Probert for Erection of a steel 
frame self supporting apex building for 
agricultural purposes,
 (Agricultural Notification) at 
Blaengavenny Farm, Old Hereford Road, 
Penyclawdd Crucorney Monmouthshire 
NP7 7LB

AGR 
Permitted 
Developm
ent

28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Page 123

ENC6Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



FRINGE APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

20/18824/FRI
MCC Ref: 
DM/2020/00
825

N:  
E: 

Monmouthshire County Council - Kate 
Bingham for Planning Permission - 
Extension of existing agricultural building 
and change of use to boarding kennels. 
MCC Ref: DM/2020/00825
 (Fringe Consultation) at 1 Pen Y 
Wordlod Stables, Merthyr Road, 
Llanfoist Monmouthshire NP7 9LR 

Fringe 
Comments

4 August 2020 Fringe 
Comments

We note the proposal is for the extension of an existing agricultural building and change of use to boarding 
kennels under reference DM/2020/00825.

As set out above, in accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard 
to National Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park. 

Statutory Purpose 1: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 
National Park

Landscape and visual impact 

The site is viewed as an open countryside location which needs to be appropriately restricted in line with national 
planning policy. Recognising the statutory purpose of the National Park to conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty of the National Park, Monmouthshire County Council has an obligation to have regard to this.  

The site is located immediately on the adjacent to the A465 Head of the Valleys Road, however is well screened 
from the highway by trees and hedgerow. 

Given the location of the existing agriculture building within the context of the existing farm unit, there are no 
concerns in relation to wider landscape impact on the National Park, however concerns are raised in relation to 
the proposed design and finish of the converted outbuilding. We would prefer to see the design and materials to 
reflect the agriculture nature of the area and avoid the amount of glazing proposed, as this would result in 
excessive light spill to the open countryside. 

Impact on ecology 

We would expect an assessment to be undertaken of the proposal’s impact on ecology and some biodiversity 
enhancements being proposed as part of the scheme. 

Statutory Purpose 2: To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park

Landscape and Visual Impact 

Matters relating to Landscape and visual impact are dealt with above. 

Nosie and odor

We would expect an assessment to be undertaken on the proposal’s impact on noise and odor, given the 
proposed change of use involved, as this could have an impact on the enjoyment of the special qualities of the 
National Park. 

Page 125

ENC6Item 3



 Site location plan showing the BBNPA boundary (yellow line)

P
age 126



P
age 127



20/18901/FRI N: 207593 
E: 290066

Neath Port Talbot Council - Russell 
Borthwick for Construction of new 
agricultural building for the storage of 
machinery (Fringe Consultation) at 
Angel Farm, Pontneathvaughan Road, 
Glynneath SA11 5NR  

Fringe 
Comments

28 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

We note the proposal is for the construction of new agricultural building for the storage of machinery.

The site is located close to the boundary with the National Park. Afon Nedd runs to the east of the site, 
which forms the boundary of the National Park with Neath Port Talbot Council.

As set out above, in accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard 
to National Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park. 
We have structured comments on the application in accordance with these relevant statutory purposes and 
provide comments on the key matters where the proposal will affect the National Park:

Statutory Purpose 1: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 
National Park

Landscape and visual impact 

Given the proposed location of the proposed shed within the context of the existing agricultural unit and other 
buildings within the immediate vicinity, there are no concerns in relation to the impact of the proposed 
development on the setting of the National Park. 

2 Impact on ecology 
We would expect an assessment to be undertaken of the proposal’s impact on ecology and some biodiversity 
enhancements being proposed as part of the scheme. 

Statutory Purpose 2: To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park

Landscape and Visual Impact 

Matters relating to Landscape and visual impact are dealt with above. 

As an Authority, we do not have any comments to make in relation to the proposed development at Angel Farm, 
Pontneathvaughan.Road.Glynneath.

Page 128



Site location plan showing the BBNPA boundary (yellow line)

P
age 129



P
age 130



P
age 131



20/18872/FRI N: 193441 
E: 353731

Monmouthshire CC – Kate Young for 
Non-Material Amendment of condition 
21 on outline planning permission 
DC/2014/01290. (The redevelopment of 
the site to create a new neighbourhood 
including: a range of new homes 
(apartments, houses and some sheltered 
accommodation for the elderly - use 
classes C2 and C3); new offices and 
workshops (use class B1); new 
commercial leisure facilities (use classes 
A1 and A3); the retention and flexible 
change of use of Brunel House to 
commercial, residential and / or 
community uses (use class A1, A3, B1, 
C2, D1 and D2); a network of open 
spaces including a new riverside linear 
park, footpaths, public open space and 
areas for informal recreation; highways 
infrastructure including accesses and 
paths; and requiring: site clearance and 
demolition works, treatment and 
preparation, the installation of new 
services and infrastructure, the creation 
of new treatment/amenity wetlands and 
drainage channels, ecological mitigation 
and enhancement works (including 
improvements to the Beaufort Quarry) 
and improvements / works to the 
highways network and other ancillary 
works and activities) at Mabey Bridge
Station Road, Chepstow, 
Monmouthshire, NP16 5YL

Fringe No 
Comments

13 August 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

The above planning application site is 23km away from the Brecon Beacons National Park boundary and it is 
understood that a variation is sought to condition 21 of planning permission LPA Ref: DC/2014/01290 which 
relates to a Construction Environmental Management Plan. It is noted that the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority was not consulted on the original outline planning permission which this condition is pursuant to. 

It appears that the Construction Environmental Management Plan seeks to agree an amendment to the 
hours/period of work. If this is not the case, then please get in touch to clarify. It is understood that this 
condition has been previously partially discharged. 

Given this development already has planning permission, the nature of the changes proposed and the distance 
away from the National Park Authority boundary we do not wish to comment on the application. 

Please note that this response has been prepared by Officers, and will not receive formal ratification from 
Members until 22nd September 2020 after which point in time I may provide supplementary response as 
necessary.

Page 132



Site location plan showing the BBNPA boundary (yellow line)

P
age 133



P
age 134



C:6464838v1

               Planning Obligations
3rd Sepember 2020

Key:

AH – Affordable Housing    BIO – Biodiversity    COF – Community Facility    EDU – Education    HER – Heritage    HIW – Highways/Transport   
AF – Affordable Housing Contributions   OTH – Other    
REC – Recreation/Open Space/Footpath    RED – Rural Enterprise Dwelling/Land Tie

 With other party/parties                  With the Authority / Authority’s external solicitors

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Planning
Obligations

Committee 
Date

Date 
Completed

Current
Status

18/15681/OUT Mr R Jenkins Oakview, Pencelli Erection of 5 detached dwellings AH N/A (Delegated) 

18/15820/CON Mrs Judith Tuthill Coed Farm, Fforest Coalpit Deed of Variation Deed of 
Variation N/A (Delegated) 

17/14686/OUT Mr & Mrs W and C Davis
Land Adjoining Brecon 
Pharmaceuticals Gypsy Castle Lane 
Hay-on-wye

Erection of five dwellings (outline) AH N/A (Delegated) 

19/17586/FUL Hanson Quarry Products 
Europe Ltd Penderyn Quarry

A reserves swap for the extraction of limestone 
within the south eastern area of Penderyn Quarry, 
with the relinquishment of existing rights to quarry 
reserves of limestone in the south western area of 
the quarry along the Twyn-y-Glog ridgeline, with 
associated operational and restoration works.

OTH N/A 

19/17247/FUL Miss J Phillips Tircue Beasthouse, Cantref, Powys, 
Brecon LD3 8LL

Change of use from holiday let to farming family 
residential dwelling AF/OTHER 

18/16072/FUL BS Estates Land North of Brecon Road, 
Crickhowell, Powys NP8 1DG

Proposed development of 5 new build residential 
dwellings and change of use of existing Presbytery 
and Church to residential use, including new access 
arrangements off Brecon Road, along with a garage 
and parking space for existing St Joseph's Cottage; 
demolition and re-alignment of boundary wall to Pen 
Y Dre; and associated works including highway, 
drainage and landscaping.

OTH 3 September 2019 

19/17839/CON Mr David Sutton Land At Pengellifach Farm, Vaynor , 
Nr Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2TU  

Modification of Section 106 associated with 
application MT18635

Deed of 
Variation 

P
age 135

E
N

C
6Item

 4



C:6464838v1

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Planning
Obligations

Committee 
Date

Date 
Completed

Current
Status

19/18050/CON Mr Matthew Hall Land Adjacent To Cerrigcochion 
Road, Brecon, Powys  

Written request for a deed of variation to a planning 
obligation agreed under Section 106 of the town and 
country planning act 1990 for planning permission 
16/13596/FUL

Deed of 
Variation 

19/17602/FUL Ms Sara Tommerup Red Pig Farm, Llangadog SA19 9DR
One Planet Development – one household, barn 
extensions, various new small sheds and a green 
house

Management 
plan and land 

tie


19/17950/FUL Mr Alun Morgan Bailea Farm, Sennybridge, Brecon 
Powys LD3 8TB

Conversion of barn to residential use and associated 
works AF/OTHER 06/08/2020 

20/18264/FUL Mr Leyton Mileson 23 & 24 High Street Superior, Brecon Alterations to first, second and third floor of building 
in order to create 2 additional residential flats AH 

20/18303/CON Dr Nicholas Humes
Former Darenfelin School, 
Darenfelin, Llanelly Hill Abergavenny 
Monmouthshire

With regard to affordable housing contributions or 
construction of affordable housing units, the 
removal of clauses 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 
and 15 of the Second Schedule of the Planning 
Obligations agreement dated the 22nd August 2012 
reference planning permission 07/00755/COU.  The 
removal of the all requirements stated in the deed of 
variation dated 25th February 2014.

Deed of 
Variation 

18/16268/OUT
APP/P9502/A/20/3251
711

Mr and Mrs Fellowes Land North of Camden Crescent, 
Brecon 

Outline: Residential development and associated 
works AH 17/08/2020 

20/18659/FUL Mr Darran Lock Havard House, Ursuline Crescent Material change of use from C2 to 1no C3 dwelling 
and 3no C3 flats AH 

N.B- Columns highlighted yellow are updates of new planning obligations since last PAROW

N.B. Columns highlighted blue indicate that the matter has been withdrawn/aborted   

P
age 136



BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY  
PLANNING, ACCESS & RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

SUMMARY OF APPEALS 

APPEAL LODGED (DEVELOPMENT CONTROL) 

Ref Date Appellant Dev/Location Description of 
Development 

None 

Appeal Decision (Development Control) 

Ref Date Appella 
nt 

Dev/Location Description of 
Development 

19/18160/FUL 24.08.2020 Jeremy 
Williams 

5 Cefn 
Cantref 
Cantref 
Brecon Powys 
LD3 8LT 

Change of use of agricultural land to 
residential use and construction of a 
domestic timber storage shed on the 
land. 

Appeal for Costs Dismissed –  
Appendix 1 

Appeal Dismissed – Appendix 2 

19/17904/FUL 24.08.2020 Mr Joe 
Scott 

Land Adjacent To: 
Hillside 
RoadLlangattock 
Hillside Road 
Llangattock 

Siting of 1no. shepherd's hut as non-
permanent holiday accommodation 
Appeal Dismissed – Appendix 3 

18/16268/OUT 07.09.2020 Mr & Mrs 
Fellowes 

Land North of 
Camden Crescent, 
LD3 7BY 

Outline: Residential development and 
associated works 
Appeal Allowed – Appendix 4 
Appeal for Costs Allowed – 
Appendix 5 
 

 

Appeal for Costs Allowed – Appendix 5 

d 

fdfaf 

 

Ap 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 22nd September 2020 

Page 137

ENC6Item 5



  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Penderfyniad ar gostau Costs Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 15/07/20 Site visit made on 15/07/20 

gan A L McCooey  BA MSc MRTPI by A L McCooey  BA MSc MRTPI 
Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 
Dyddiad: 24.08.2020 Date: 24.08.2020 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/A/20/3251505 
Site address: 5 Cefn Cantref, Cantref, Brecon, LD3 8LT 
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this application for costs to 
me as the appointed Inspector. 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 322 and 
Schedule 6. 

• The application is made by Mr Jeremy Williams for a full award of costs against Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for a change of use of agricultural 
land to residential use and construction of a domestic timber storage shed on the land. 

 

 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is refused. 

Reasons 

2. Section 12 Annex: Award of Costs to the Development Management Manual advises 
that, irrespective of the outcome of the appeal, costs may only be awarded against a 
party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for costs 
to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.  It also explains that 
applications for costs must clearly demonstrate how any unreasonable behaviour has 
resulted in unnecessary or wasted expense. 

3. The application for costs merely refers to the considerable time and effort spent on the 
part of the appellant trying to bring this matter to a conclusion.  Planning permission 
could have been granted; it is argued.  This does not demonstrate unreasonable 
behaviour on the part of the Authority.  The appellant may argue that the information 
to support a costs application was contained in the written submissions on the appeal.  
I deal with these matters in the main decision and briefly below.   

4. The appellant’s claims regarding the nature of informal officer advice are disputed by 
the Authority.  No written material was supplied that indicates the Local Planning 
Authority would view an application favourably.  The original proposal was for an 
agricultural building, which would be considered in a different context.  In any event, 
informal officer advice is not binding on the Authority.  The sequence of events and 
requests for information from the appellant are set out in the main decision.  It 
appears that the Authority was consistent in its advice that justification of the need for 
the building must be submitted.  The Authority has provided convincing evidence to 
substantiate the reason for refusal.   

Page 138

kittiep
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



Costs Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3252125 

 

2 

 

5. When the issue of an established residential use of the land was raised, the Authority 
advised the applicant that an application for a lawful development certificate (LDC) 
could be made.  This is the correct procedure established by Parliament to properly 
assess these issues. But the Authority was not prepared to delay the determination of 
this application pending the submission of a separate application for an LDC.   

6. I have carefully considered the submitted correspondence and emails.  The 
correspondence with the applicant indicated what information would be required to 
support the application and that an application for an LDC would be necessary to 
resolve the claims of an established residential use.  Whilst the applicant is aggrieved 
by the decision to refuse planning permission, there is no convincing evidence that the 
Authority behaved unreasonably resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense.  The 
application must be refused.  

Conclusion  

7. Having taken into account all the matters raised I conclude that an award of costs is 
not justified for the reasons set out above.  There has not been unreasonable 
behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense, as described in Section 12 
Annex: Award of Costs, on the part of the Council   The application for costs is 
therefore refused. 

 

A L McCooey 
Inspector  

Page 139



  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 15/07/20 Site visit made on 15/07/20 

gan A L McCooey  BA MSc MRTPI by A L McCooey  BA MSc MRTPI 
Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 
Dyddiad: 24.08.2020 Date: 24.08.2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/A/20/3251505 
Site address: 5 Cefn Cantref, Cantref, Brecon, LD3 8LT 
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 
appointed Inspector. 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Jeremy Williams against the decision of Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority. 

• The application Ref 19/18160/FUL, dated 18 December 2019, was refused by notice dated 20 
April 2020. 

• The development proposed is for a change of use of agricultural land to residential use and 
construction of a domestic timber storage shed on the land. 

 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mr Jeremy Williams against Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority. This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Procedural Matter 

3. The application was originally submitted for the erection of a storage shed on 
agricultural ground.  Following concerns expressed by the Local Planning Authority 
about the domestic appearance and intended use of the proposal, the description of 
development was changed to that in the banner heading above.  The evidence 
indicates that both parties have agreed to this change and this description has been 
used on the decision notice.  In these circumstances I shall determine the appeal on 
the basis of the revised description in the banner heading.   

Reasons 

4. The site is within the open countryside south of Brecon.  No. 5 is a new dwelling with a 
large garage.  There is a campsite and buildings a short distance to the west.  The 
application relates to a small area of land adjoining the road near the site entrance.  It 
immediately abuts the drive and contained some grass, weeds, stone and wood at the 
time of the site visit. 

Page 140

kittiep_1
Text Box
APPENDIX 2



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251505 

 

2 

 

5. Planning Policy Wales provides that great weight should be given to the statutory 
purposes of National Parks (NPs), which are the conservation or enhancement of their 
natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage and promote public understanding and 
enjoyment of their special qualities.  Paragraph 3.56 states that new building in the 
countryside must continue to be strictly controlled.  Policy CYD LP1 of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (the LDP) sets out the forms of 
development that may be considered acceptable.  The Authority states that this does 
not include extensions to residential curtilage and new buildings thereon.   

6. The preamble to Policy CYD LP1 sets out the countryside issues and vision for the NP.  
This refers to advice in Planning Policy Wales of the need to strictly control 
permissions to those which are deemed necessary and essential to a countryside 
location.  The Policy then requires proposals for development to demonstrate how the 
countryside issues and vision have been taken into account.  The Authority requested 
a justification for the proposed change of use and building from the appellant.  The 
justification put forward was that the building could not be accommodated within the 
approved curtilage.  This does not meet the test of necessary and essential to a 
countryside location referred to in the LDP and Planning Policy Wales.  In these 
circumstances, the proposal would be contrary to national policy, the LDP strategy and 
Policy CYD LP1.      

7. The appellant appears to consider that the proposal was on land that had been used 
for residential purposes for some time.  The former dwelling on the site was a farm 
with a range of outbuildings and it is argued that the site was used for residential 
purposes.  A letter from the previous owners was submitted, which states that they 
erected buildings on the appeal land and used them to park vehicles.  This is not proof 
of inclusion within the former curtilage.  The buildings on the site were demolished 
around 2016.   

8. There is a separate process for deciding whether planning permission is required. An 
application may be made for what is known as a lawful development certificate (LDC), 
which would establish whether a development or use has achieved immunity or been 
in existence for the requisite period.  The Local Planning Authority advised the 
appellant that such an application could be made but was not prepared to delay the 
determination of this application pending the submission of a separate application for 
an LDC. 

9. The dwelling on the site received planning permission in 2016 as a replacement 
dwelling.  The curtilage of the dwelling is clearly defined in the application.  The Officer 
report was submitted, and it is clear that the change of use to residential was the 
subject of careful consideration at the time of that decision.  An area containing what 
is now the access, garage and part of the drive was included within the residential 
curtilage by a change of use from the previous agricultural use.  Whatever the reason, 
the appeal site was excluded from the curtilage formed by the application site.  

10. No written material was supplied that indicates the Local Planning Authority would 
view an application favourably.  The Authority advised of the need to justify the 
proposed building at all stages.   The original proposal was for an agricultural building, 
which would be considered in a different context.  In any event, informal officer advice 
is not binding on the Authority and it is the decision that must be considered.  As this 
is the case, I make no further comment on the processing of the application, which 
are not matters relevant to a planning appeal.  The appellant refers in his final 
comments to other examples of changes of use being approved.  No details of the 
cases were submitted in the statement of case and the Local Planning Authority has 
replied that the policy does allow for development dependent on the information 

Page 141



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251505 

 

3 

 

presented.  For example, a building within the curtilage of a dwelling may be viewed 
favourably.  The planning permissions referred to do not therefore justify the approval 
of this proposal, contrary to national and local planning policy. 

Conclusion  

11. I have carefully considered the information supplied by the appellant in support of the 
proposal.  I conclude that the proposal would be contrary to national policy and Policy 
CYD LP1 of the LDP for the reasons given above and that the appeal should be 
dismissed.  I have considered the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
(“the WBFG Act”).  In reaching this decision, I have taken into account the ways of 
working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and I consider that this decision is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution 
towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required 
by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

 

A L McCooey 
Inspector  

  

  

Page 142



  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 13/07/20 Site visit made on 13/07/20 

gan A L McCooey BA MSc MRTPI by A L McCooey BA MSc MRTPI 
Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 
Dyddiad: 24.08.2020 Date: 24.08.2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/A/20/3252125 
Site address: Land adjacent to Hillside Road, Llangattock, Powys 
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 
appointed Inspector. 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Joe Scott of Outdoor Retreats Ltd against the decision of Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority. 

• The application Ref 19/17904/FUL, dated 30 September 2019, was refused by notice dated 25 
November 2019. 

• The development proposed is the Siting of 1no. shepherd's hut as non-permanent holiday 
accommodation. 

 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural matter  

2. The application was made in the name of Mr Joe Scott of Outdoor Retreats Ltd.  The 
decision notice omits the applicant’s name and refers to the agent only.  The appeal 
has been correctly made in the name of the original applicant and I proceed on that 
basis.  

Main Issue 

3. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the 
area and character and quality of the landscape. 

Reasons 

4. The site is located around 240m to the southwest of Llangattock on a minor road, 
which crosses the nearby Monmouthshire and Brecon canal.  The entrance to Beacon 
Park Boats is around 50m to the north.  There is a large field to the west with a 
collection of sheds, agricultural buildings and structures thereon.  The site is a narrow 
parcel of roadside land.  The former tramroad to limestone kilns in the village runs 
through the site.  This tramroad is a public right of way (PROW) from the edge of the 
site leading up to the mountain.  The site is around 1m above road level (less at its 
northern end).  The roadside boundary is formed by hedge with gaps and several 
trees.  The remaining boundaries are defined by post and wire fences. 

Page 143

kittiep_2
Text Box
APPENDIX 3



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3252125 

 

2 

 

5. A previous application for two timber pods on the site was refused in October 2018.  
The appeal proposal comprises a shepherd’s hut, which would have timber walling 
with a corrugated iron roof.  The hut would be on wheels and around 2.5m high.  
Small timber shower and toilet huts are proposed.  A new access with visibility splays 
and parking and turning area is proposed close to the northern boundary.  A bench 
and interpretative board would be sited on the southern boundary close to the PROW.  
Landscaping to include trees within the site and new hedges to the boundaries is also 
proposed.  Details of landscape management and other information required by policy 
has been supplied.  The hut would be removed from the site in the winter months and 
maintenance carried out elsewhere.   

6. The main issue relates to the landscape and visual impact of the proposal on the 
highly valued landscape within the National Park.  The primary legislative and policy1 
aims in National Parks is the conservation or enhancement of their natural beauty, 
wildlife and cultural heritage.  This is a common thread running through all the policies 
of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (LDP).  The policy 
context for consideration of proposals of this type is provided by Policy 1 (Appropriate 
Development in the National Park), Strategy Policy CYD LP1 sets out the forms of 
development that are considered acceptable within these parameters. Criterion 5 of 
this policy makes provision for proposals that strengthen and enhance appropriate 
tourism facilities. Criterion 6 allows for low impact development schemes, subject to 
detailed criteria in Policy 46 Non-permanent Holiday Accommodation.  Criterion a) of 
Policy 46 requires that the proposed development is fully integrated into the landscape 
by virtue of topography or surrounding land uses. 

7. I have had regard to the conclusions of the appellant’s Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) and the findings of the Authority’s landscape consultant.  Both 
these assessed the previous application for two pods, but the conclusions were judged 
to remain generally valid for this proposal.   

8. The proposal on this linear roadside site would be readily visible from the road.  It 
would be in direct view from the adjoining PROW for a considerable distance.  Whilst 
the elements would be relatively small scale and seasonal, they would appear as 
incongruous structures in this highly valued landscape.  That is, they would not be 
typical of a countryside area.  They would also harm the open character of the 
tramroad in this location.  The new access would impact to some degree on the 
character of the road, which appears rural notwithstanding the nearby access to 
Beacon Park Boats.  There would also be a cumulative impact on the landscape 
character with the buildings and structures in the adjoining field.  The proposed 
landscaping would take some time to mature and would not adequately mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development in this location close to the road and PROW.  I 
conclude that the proposal would be unacceptable and would not meet the 
requirements of LDP Policies 46, SP1 and 1. 

9. The appellant argues that proposals for low impact development and non-permanent 
holiday accommodation are favoured in the sustainable tourism policies of the LDP and 
the relevant supplementary planning guidance.  However, this is subject to 
consideration of the particular impacts and circumstances of individual proposals 
against the policy criteria and requirements, amongst which are whether a proposal 
would be fully integrated into the landscape by virtue of topography or surrounding 
land uses and its contribution to local economic and social vitality.   

 
1 This aim has primacy and is also reflected in Policy SP1 of the LDP. 

Page 144



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3252125 

 

3 

 

10. The appellant refers to the approval of the nearby canal boat business (Beacon Park 
Boats) and a caravan park at Glanusk estate.  It is argued that they demonstrate the 
degree of change that can be accepted whilst facilitating tourist development. And the 
efficacy of new planting which, in time, will mitigate the effects of new tourist 
development.  The Authority has not commented on these approvals and the 
information supplied by the appellant is not complete.  I note that the boat business 
approval predates the adoption of the LDP.  The locations are specific to the proposals 
– canal side in the case of the boat business and associated with a large estate for the 
caravan park.  I do not consider that they are on all fours with the appeal proposal, 
which must be considered on its own merits, as acknowledged by the appellant.   

11. I note that the owners of a nearby holiday accommodation have objected to the 
appeal proposal.  I agree that the proposal would impact on the open nature of the 
tram road and increase sporadic development in this area of countryside close to the 
road. The other issues raised in objections have been addressed above and in the 
Authority’s Officer’s report.  I agree with the conclusions reached by the Authority for 
the reasons given. 

Conclusion  

12. I have carefully considered the benefits of the proposal and the information supplied 
by the appellant in support of the proposal.  I conclude that the proposal would be 
contrary to Policy SP1, Policies 1 and 46 of the LDP for the reasons given above and 
that the appeal should be dismissed.  I have considered the duty to improve the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with 
the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”).  In reaching this decision, I have 
taken into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and I 
consider that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being 
objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

 

A L McCooey 
Inspector  

  

Page 145



  

 

 

 

 
 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 31/07/20 Site visit made on 31/07/20 

gan A L McCooey BA MSc MRTPI by A L McCooey BA MSc MRTPI 
Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 
Dyddiad: 07.09.2020 Date: 07.09.2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 
Site address: Land north of Camden Crescent, Brecon, LD3 7BY 
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 
appointed Inspector. 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs R & J Fellowes against the decision of Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority. 

• The application Ref 18/16268/OUT, dated 15 June 2018, was refused by notice dated 29 April 
2020. 

• The development proposed is residential development and associated works. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for residential development 
and associated works at land north of Camden Crescent, Brecon, LD3 7BY in 
accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 18/16268/OUT, dated 15 June 2018, 
subject to the conditions set out in the attached Annex. 

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mr & Mrs R & J Fellowes against Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority. This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

• The principle of and need for residential development on the site; 
• Whether there would be a significant detrimental impact on the living conditions 

of the occupiers of nearby residential properties; 
• The acceptability of the proposed access arrangements; 
• The impact of the proposal on nature conservation interests; 
• The landscape and visual impact of the proposal on the character of the area 

due to loss of open space and the necessary engineering works; and 
• The effect of the proposed drainage arrangements in terms of the site’s 

suitability for any development; and 
• Whether appropriate affordable housing can be secured. 

Page 146

sarahh
Text Box
APPENDIX 4



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

2 

 

Reasons 

4. The site is located to the east of Brecon town centre.  It consists of the lower half of 
two fields that are surrounded by hedges.  The mature hedge separating the two fields 
is followed by a public footpath (PROW) in the western field.  The PROW links to a 
bridleway and lane to the north.  A large development of bungalows lies to the south 
of the site, called Camden Crescent, which has access off Camden Road.  A northern 
spur cul-de-sac off Camden Crescent provides access to around 15 dwellings close to 
the site.  The landform slopes up from Camden Crescent towards the Slwch Tump at a 
local crest.  Cerrigcochion Road runs north-south to the west of the site.  It provides 
access to (amongst other things) the Breconshire War Memorial Hospital, (which 
adjoins the site to the northwest), several schools, a college and the leisure centre.  
The town centre is around 500m from the site with the town’s main bus stops around 
400m away. 

Background to the Proposal/ Procedural Matters  

5. The Welsh Ministers considered it appropriate for them to come to their own 
conclusion as to whether the project is EIA development within the meaning of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
(Wales) Regulations 2017, (“the Regulations”) and provide a screening direction in 
that respect.  Having considered the likely effects and the nature of the proposal, the 
screening direction states that the development subject of this appeal is not EIA 
development within the meaning of the Regulations. 

6. The planning application was submitted in outline with approval sought for the means 
of access to the site only.  It is the suitability of the proposed access off Camden 
Crescent that must be considered in this decision.  The nature of the types of 
application that may legally be made under the relevant planning legislation as set out 
by Parliament and the Senedd is such that an outline application may be made to 
establish the principle of development of a site.  If approval is granted then further 
applications must be made for approval of the details of the development – in this 
case its Scale, Layout, Appearance and Landscaping.  The scale parameters were 
specified as set out in the Committee reports.  The appellant submitted an illustrative 
layout at the request of the Local Planning Authority, who concluded that there was 
sufficient information available to consider the impacts of the proposal.  The submitted 
details of layout, dwelling types, scale, position and landscaping were for information 
only and do not form part of this decision. 

7. The application was reported to the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee of 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) on 3 September 2019.  Officers 
recommended approval, but the members indicated an intention to refuse the 
application.  A further report containing an analysis of members’ reasons for refusal 
was presented to the Committee on 29 October.  Following discussion of this report it 
was resolved to refuse planning permission for the 7 reasons set out on the decision 
notice. 

Principle of Development  

8. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all 
development management decisions to be made in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The adopted development plan 
is the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan 2007 – 2022 (the LDP)1.  

 
1 Adopted December 2013 

Page 147



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

3 

 

Brecon is the primary key settlement within the National Park and plays an important 
role as a service centre for the region.  The strategic objectives for Brecon are 
contained in the 15-year vision for the town and Policy B LP1 flows from that vision.  
The Policy sets out the forms of development that are acceptable in the town, 
including proposals that strengthen and enhance housing provision.  The appeal site 
has been assessed as suitable for residential development in the LDP (Allocation DBR-
BR-A).  The officer report concluded that the principle of development of the site has 
therefore been established.  The proposed density would be lower than the minimum 
specified in Policy 61.  The particular circumstances of the site and surroundings mean 
that a lower density is justified.  This is recognised in the allocation, which was for 38 
dwellings.  The illustrative proposal indicates 30 dwellings, of which 6 would be 
affordable, this level of provision would accord with Policy 28 on affordable housing.  
The reasons for refusal refer to failure to comply with the criteria in over-arching 
Policy: Appropriate Development in the National Park. 

9. The site has been subject to the LDP selection process where its sustainability and 
suitability for development was considered.  Despite the revocation of Technical Advice 
Note 1, Planning Policy Wales emphasises the importance of securing an adequate 
supply of housing through the plan-led system.  The development of the site would 
contribute to meeting the housing requirement of the LDP and the Plan vision for 
Brecon, including Policy B LP1.   

Impact on the Living Conditions of Nearby Residents 

10. This issue relates firstly to the impact of vehicle headlights on existing dwellings in 
Camden Crescent.  Headlights shining onto dwellings is a common part of urban living. 
The traffic generation from the proposal would be modest and so the incidence of 
glare from headlights shining onto the existing bungalows would be infrequent.  The 
alignment of the access means that it would also be for a short duration.  In these 
circumstances, the impact on the living conditions of the identified residents would not 
be so severe as to warrant refusal of planning permission. 

11. The second aspect was the impact of construction traffic removing excavated material 
from the site.  The appellant states that cut and fill methods would be used to secure 
appropriate gradients for the internal roads and site levels for the dwellings.  The site 
layout and design would be the subject of further applications for approval of details.  
The Highway Authority raised no concern regarding the suitability of the highway 
network to accommodate construction traffic.  The Planning Officers of the NPA 
considered that the effect of construction traffic would be acceptable.  The impact of 
construction traffic would be for a temporary period.  Appropriate construction 
methods and working practices (including control on hours of operation) can be 
required by planning conditions.  

12. The NPA Officers were satisfied that the development can be designed and sited so as 
to avoid significant impacts on the privacy or amenity of the occupiers of adjoining 
dwellings.  In all these circumstances, I do not consider that the adverse impacts on 
the living conditions of residents that have been identified in the reasons for refusal 
and the objections would justify the refusal of planning permission.  

The Acceptability of the Proposed Access Arrangements      

13. The application was accompanied by a transport assessment and a traffic survey of 
the Camden Road/ Cerrigcochion Road junction.  The predicted trip generation was 
derived from the TRICS database, which is consistent with national guidance.  The 
Highway Authority confirmed that the figures were robust.  The analysis demonstrates 

Page 148



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

4 

 

that the traffic generated by the development would have a marginal impact upon 
traffic flows in the vicinity of the site.  The survey results indicate that sufficient 
queuing space exists at the Camden Road/ Cerrigcochion Road junction.  The evidence 
indicates that the traffic generated by the proposal would not have a detrimental 
impact on the operation of the nearby fire station or hospital.  The Highway Authority 
confirmed that there were no objections to the proposal on these grounds. 

14. The Highway Authority did raise concerns regarding the position of the site entrance 
onto Camden Crescent because the required visibility splays and forward sight 
distance could not be achieved.  Amended plans were submitted showing a revised 
access arrangement.  The Highway Authority confirmed that the revised plans 
adequately address the issues raised.  Despite this the Local Planning Authority has 
refused the application because of the position of the access close to a bend.  No 
convincing technical or other evidence has been submitted to explain why the access 
arrangements are inappropriate or why the access is poorly sited and integrated with 
the highway network.  The required standards have been met and results of the 
transport studies indicate that the effect of the proposal on highway safety and traffic 
flow would be acceptable.   

15. Neighbouring residents state that some of the land necessary for visibility splays and a 
footpath near the access onto Camden Crescent is in their ownership.  Land ownership 
is not a planning matter and the resolution of any disputes would be a matter of civil 
law.  There can be no question of any prejudice as the party involved is aware of the 
planning application and has commented on the application and the current appeal. 

16. The site is within 500m of the town centre and 400m of the main bus facility for the 
town.  The site and surrounding area is at a higher level and there is a slope up from 
the town centre.  Having walked the route from the town centre to the site, I consider 
that it is no more difficult that some of the existing residential developments in the 
area.  Notwithstanding the gradient, there would be opportunities for walking and 
cycling to all local amenities and public transport facilities.  I concur with the LDP 
assessment that the site is in a sustainable location.  In all these circumstances the 
objections on access grounds cannot be sustained.  

Impact on Nature Conservation Interests            

17. The site may support European protected species, principally bats and a European 
Protected Species Licence will be required.  The submitted ecological information 
identified the relevant issues and measures to address them (including appropriate 
enhancement).  These measures, such as retention of hedgerows and controls on 
lighting, as well as the provision of bat boxes can be required by conditions.  The 
likelihood of the site supporting Great Crested Newt was considered to be low.  
Nonetheless a method statement to address any possible impact has been provided.  
Having reviewed the submitted information, including the objections received, the 
proposal was judged to be acceptable by Natural Resources Wales and the NPA 
Ecologist, subject to conditions.   

18. Parts of the site contain species rich grassland.  The NPA Ecologist was satisfied that 
the loss of biodiversity as a result of the development could be adequately mitigated 
by appropriate compensation measures and landscaping, including new hedgerows.  
Despite the October committee report advising members of the need to provide 
additional evidence that the impact of the development cannot be mitigated, no such 
evidence has been submitted.  The site is allocated for development in the LDP and is 
not subject to any designation for nature conservation.  Having carefully considered all 
the evidence, I consider that the impact on nature conservation in terms of loss of 

Page 149



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

5 

 

habitat can be addressed by conditions requiring appropriate mitigation and 
enhancement measures in line with Welsh Government guidance. 

Landscape and Visual Impact/ Loss of Open Spaces 

19. The impact of residential development on the landscape and character of the area was 
considered as part of the LDP process and the site was allocated for residential 
development in the adopted development plan.  As an allocated site it is difficult to 
see how it can be judged to erode the open space around the settlement.  Its elevated 
position was recognised, and the boundary of the allocation was drawn to align with 
the existing built development on either side.   The submitted Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment concludes that the proposal would appear as a minor extension to 
the settlement.  The majority of the field boundary vegetation would be retained and 
enhanced with new planting.  Further landscaping to assist in the integration of the 
site into the landscape would be an important part of the reserved matters 
submission.  The scale of the proposal is modest and less than that envisaged at the 
time of the site’s allocation. The site is private land crossed by a PROW, which will not 
be affected by the proposed development.  It is not designated open space or 
recreation land but is included in the development plan as a housing site.  I note that 
many of the current objectors also objected to the site’s allocation in the Local 
Development Plan2 and supported an application for the site to be designated as a 
village green, which was refused by Welsh Ministers.     

20. The concerns regarding the sloping nature of the site and the amount of engineering 
works that would be necessary were raised during the lengthy consideration of the 
proposal by the NPA.  Sufficient information was provided to convince the NPA officers 
that the development could be accommodated on this allocated site without an 
unacceptable impact on the landscape and character of the area.  Further details of 
the layout and design of the proposal must be submitted for approval of the NPA 
before any development can commence.  Conditions can also require details of all 
retaining walls to be submitted for approval.  These issues do not justify the refusal of 
planning permission. 

Proposed Drainage Arrangements 

21. The appellant recognises that the soil and geology of the site militate against surface 
water drainage by infiltration.  A drainage strategy was submitted which proposes an 
attenuated drainage system connecting to the public surface water sewer.  Whilst this 
is not the optimum solution in the sustainable drainage hierarchy, the specific 
circumstances of each site must be taken into account. The proposed land and surface 
water drainage arrangements are acceptable to Dŵr Cymru as statutory undertaker 
and Powys County Council as Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB).  In 
particular these bodies are content that sufficient storage would be provided on site to 
ensure that greenfield flow rates are not exceeded.  As the development is not in a 
floodplain and surface water flows can be controlled, the concerns of objectors in this 
regard have been addressed.  In addition, the development will require separate 
Sustainable Drainage System approval from the SAB.  Planning conditions requiring 
the approval of surface water drainage arrangements would not therefore be required. 

 

 

 
2   The objections to the allocation included a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

Page 150



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

6 

 

Mechanism to Secure Affordable Housing 

22. The final reason for refusal states that there is no mechanism available to secure a 
contribution to affordable housing.  The appellants have since completed an 
agreement with the NPA and Powys County Council under s.106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  A signed agreement has been submitted which addresses 
the provision of affordable housing as part of the development.  I am satisfied that the 
agreement meets the requirements of Circular 13/97 – Planning Obligations and the 
statutory tests set out in Regulation 122 (and others) of the Community Infrastructure 
Regulations 2010 (as amended).  I give it significant weight in this decision.  Reason 
for refusal 7 has therefore been addressed.  The indicative position of the affordable 
housing on the submitted layout is not approved and full details of the design and 
position of the affordable housing must be submitted to the NPA for approval. 

Other Matters 

23. The effect of the proposal on heritage assets has been carefully considered by Cadw 
and the NPA Conservation Officer.  The proposal would have a negligible impact on the 
closest Scheduled Ancient Monuments.  There would not be a significant impact on the 
setting of listed buildings or Brecon Conservation Area in short range views.  The 
impact on these settings in long-range views can be addressed in consideration of the 
details of the proposed development.  The archaeological evaluation of the site 
required by the NPA has been undertaken.  The NPA’s archaeologist has confirmed 
that the results demonstrate that no further archaeological mitigation is required. 

24. The site is allocated for residential development in the LDP.  As such there is no 
requirement to demonstrate a need for the development, as this has been already 
demonstrated through the development plan process.  The Plan is in the later stages 
of its stated timespan, but the replacement LDP is at a relatively early stage and can 
be afforded little weight.  The site has been considered to be suitable and is a 
candidate site in the replacement Local Development Plan, which objectors also 
oppose.  There is similarly no requirement to consider what alternative sites may be 
available.  The October Committee report sets out the relevant caselaw and concludes 
that such an approach would be unreasonable in that it would subvert the plan-led 
system.  I agree with this assessment, as did the Members of the Committee, who 
rejected attaching a reason for refusal on this basis.   

25. Several residents pass comment on the Local Planning Authority questionnaire 
responses.  This is a normal requirement for every appeal and consists of tick boxes to 
answer questions on a purely factual basis.  These responses have been mistakenly 
interpreted by residents as forming the Authority’s case raising new issues.  
Objections argue that the appeal shouldn’t be considered during the current Covid-19 
pandemic. Welsh Government has issued guidance that the planning system must 
continue to operate as far as possible.  No convincing evidence was supplied to 
support the alleged effect of this development on tourism in Brecon.  The landscape 
character and biodiversity impacts of the proposal have been considered above.  The 
refusal of planning permission for residential development and subsequent 
unsuccessful appeal predate the LDP by some years.  The planning context has 
changed considerably since the 1990s.  

Suggested Conditions   

26. I have addressed the need for some of the conditions above in my consideration of the 
issues raised.  The reasons for the conditions are also stated in the attached annex.  I 
therefore confine my comments to whether the suggested conditions are needed and 

Page 151



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

7 

 

meet the legal tests.  I have amended the wording of some of the suggested 
conditions to align with the Welsh Government model conditions.  The suggested 
conditions relating to a Construction method statement and parking of construction 
vehicles can be combined.  Welsh Government model conditions shall be used for 
provision and maintenance of visibility splays.  I note the Highway Authority’s 
suggested suite of conditions.  I consider that the main requirements to ensure that 
appropriate access, estate roads, footpaths and parking areas are provided can be 
combined into fewer conditions.  I am reinforced in this view by the fact that this is an 
application for outline planning permission.  The Local Planning Authority must 
approve further details of the layout, etc. and the Highway Authority also has powers 
available under the Highways Acts.  The sloping nature of the site means that 
retaining walls may be necessary.  I attach separate conditions requiring the 
submission of full details of any retaining walls and boundary treatments for the 
approval of the Local Planning Authority.  As noted above, the suggested conditions 
related to surface water drainage and land drainage are not necessary as the surface 
water drainage arrangements require a separate consent.  

Conclusion  

27. The September NPA Committee report analyses the application against the provisions 
of the LDP.  The structure of the report follows the approach/ chapter headings of 
Planning Policy Wales Edition 10, which aligns with the ways of working assessment 
and goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) Act 2015 (WFGA).  The 
report concludes that the proposal aligns with the LDP as a whole, meets the 
requirements of national policy and would contribute to the goals of the WFGA.  The 
matters raised in the objections to the proposal and the reasons for refusal of the NPA 
have been individually and collectively considered above.  I conclude that there is no 
reason to withhold consent on this site; a site which has been allocated for residential 
development in the adopted development plan.  For the reasons given I find that there 
is no conflict with the criteria of Policy 1 of the LDP, relied upon by the NPA in the 
reasons for refusal.  In reaching my decision, I have taken into account the 
requirements of sections 3 and 5 of the WFGA.  I have had regard to advice in PPW 
Chapter 6 on Distinctive and Natural Places and the ways in which distinctive and 
natural places contribute to the seven goals of the Act.  I consider that this decision is 
in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle and goals, for the 
reasons set out above and in the September NPA Committee report.  

28. Having considered all relevant matters, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.    

 

A L McCooey 
Inspector  

      
  

Page 152



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

8 

 

Annex – Planning Conditions  
 
1) Approval of the following details shall be obtained from the Local Planning 

Authority before any part of the development is commenced:  
(a) the layout of the site 
(b) the appearance of the buildings  
(c) the landscaping of the site  
(d) the scale of the development  

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 92(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

2) The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the 
date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the 
later. 

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 92(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

3) Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local 
planning authority not later than three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 92(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

4) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: 3175- (00)02 (site location plan), engineering plan 
19742/03 Rev D & Road longitudinal sections 19742/05 Rev C; insofar as they 
relate to the access to the site from the public highway. The access to the 
development from the public highway as shown on drawings 19742/03 Rev D & 
19742/05 Rev C and defined in conditions 7 and 8 shall be carried out in 
accordance with these approved highway drawings. Further plans detailing the 
estate road layout beyond the highway access shall be submitted as a reserved 
matter under condition 1 above. 

Reason: To ensure compliance with approved plans. 

5) No development shall commence until a Construction Method Statement has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
statement shall provide for: 
i) The means of access to the site for all construction traffic 
ii) Provision within the site for the parking and turning of vehicles of site 

operatives and visitors; 
iii) The management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic; 
iv) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
v) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
vi) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
vii) wheel washing facilities; and 
viii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;  

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout 
the development process unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

Page 153



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

9 

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic on the 
public highway in accordance with Policy 59 of the LDP and in the interests of 
residential amenity. 

6) All works and ancillary operations (including excavations and earth moving) 
which are audible at the site boundary shall be carried out only between the 
following hours: 0800 - 1800 hrs Monday to Friday; 0800 - 1300 hrs on 
Saturdays and at no time on Sunday and Bank Holidays. 
Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste, including 
soil and rock, from the site must also only take place within the permitted hours 
detailed above. 

Reason: to safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents 

7) No other development shall commence until full engineering details of the access 
have been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and the access as approved has been constructed in accordance with the 
approved drawings so that there is clear visibility within the 2.4 metres by 43 
metres visibility splays as shown.  The visibility splays shall be maintained free 
of any obstruction exceeding 0.6m in height for as long as the development 
exists. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic on the 
public highway in accordance with Policy 59 of the Local Development Plan 

8) The gradient of the access shall be constructed so as not to exceed 1 in 30 for 
the first 11 metres measured from edge of the adjoining carriageway along the 
centre line of the access and shall be retained at this gradient for as long as the 
development remains in existence. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic on the 
public highway in accordance with Policy 59 of the LDP. 

9) The dwellings shall not be occupied until the access roads, footpaths and private 
drives/ parking areas that have been approved as part of the reserved matters 
submission have been constructed in accordance with the approved plans.   

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic on the 
public highway in accordance with Policy 59 of the LDP 

10) Prior to the occupation of any dwelling erected on the development the 2 metre 
wide footways and pedestrian crossing points detailed on the approved drawing 
shall be constructed to an adoptable standard on both sides of the site access 
and along the full frontage of the site to provide a continuous link with the 
existing county highway footways and shall be retained as such for as long as 
the development hereby permitted remains in existence.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic on the 
public highway in accordance with Policy 59 of the Local Development Plan 

11) The development shall be implemented in accordance with the recommendations 
in: 

a. Section 6 of the Extended Phase 1 Survey Report dated June 2017 

b. Section 1 of the Tree and Transect Bat survey dated 9th July 2019 

c. The Herptile Mitigation Strategy – Land North of Camden Crescent, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 7BY - Letter-style report from Ecological Services Ltd dated 26th 
June 2019  

Page 154



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

10 

 

Reason: To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical 
Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3, 1, 6 and 7 of the LDP and to comply with the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 
2016 

12) Prior to the commencement of development works, a Landscape and Ecological 
Enhancement and Management Plan (LEEMP) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
reference to the Biodiversity in the Towns of the Brecon Beacons, 
Supplementary Planning Guidance, the Section 7 List of Priority Habitats and 
Species under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and particularly include the 
following measures: 

a. Retention of existing trees and hedgerow habitats where possible 

b. Creation of a new hedgerow along the north-east boundary of the site  

c. Provision of at least 30 features for bat roosting and bird nesting 

d. Reptile habitat creation 

e. Creation of an area of wildflower meadow in the land to the north-east of the 
development 

f. Wetland and grassland habitats within the Drainage Strategy 

g. Provision for the long-term management of the above habitats for at least 10 
years 

h. A programme of habitat monitoring and provision for remedial measures as 
necessary 

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
maintained thereafter. 

Reason: To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical 
Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3, 1, 6 and 7 of the LDP and to comply with the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 

13) No development shall take place until an external lighting plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall avoid conflict with bat mitigation/enhancement measures and 
wildlife corridors and shall be implemented and retained as approved. 

Reason: To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical 
Advice Note 5 and Policies SP3, 6 and 12 of the Local Development Plan 

14) A landscape management plan, including management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas, other than privately owned 
domestic gardens and areas covered within the LEEMP, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the occupation of 
any of the dwellings on the site. The landscape management plan shall be 
carried out as approved. 

Reason: to ensure that the shared spaces are appropriately managed in the 
interests of the amenities of the area 

 

 

Page 155



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

11 

 

15) No development shall take place, nor any works of site clearance, until there has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority details 
of a scheme for the protection of trees to be retained. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented prior to site clearance and retained throughout the course 
of the development. 

Reason: In the interests of protecting the trees on or adjoining the site in 
accordance with Policy 8 of the LDP. 

16) No development shall take place until details of the proposed slab finished floor 
levels and ridge levels of the buildings in relation to the existing and proposed 
levels of the site and the surrounding land and buildings have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall 
be constructed in accordance with the approved details.  

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area in 
accordance with Policy 1 of the LDP.   

17) Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved a plan indicating the 
positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be 
erected shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved within six 
months of the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved. 

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area in 
accordance with Policy 1 of the LDP.   

18) No development shall take place until full details (including construction details) 
of the positions, height, design, materials and levels of any retaining walls to be 
erected on the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The retaining walls shall be constructed in accordance with 
the approved details. 

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area in 
accordance with Policy 1 of the LDP 

 

 

End of Conditions 

 

 

Page 156



  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Penderfyniad ar gostau Costs Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 30/07/20 Site visit made on 31/07/20 

gan A L McCooey BA MSc MRTPI by A L McCooey BA MSc MRTPI 
Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 
Dyddiad: 07.09.2020 Date: 07.09.2020 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 
Site address: Land North of Camden Crescent, Brecon, LD3 7BY 
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this application for costs to 
me as the appointed Inspector. 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 322C and 
Schedule 6. 

• The application is made by Mr & Mrs R & J Fellowes for a full award of costs against Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for residential development and 
associated works. 

 

 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is allowed in the terms set out below 

Reasons 

2. The Section 12 Annex, Award of Costs, to the Development Management Manual 
advises that, irrespective of the outcome of the appeal, costs may only be awarded 
against a party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying 
for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process. Paragraph 3.9 
of the Annex advises that local planning authorities are not bound to adopt the 
professional or technical advice given by their own officers. However, they are 
expected to show that they had reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision 
contrary to such advice and that they are able to produce relevant evidence to support 
their decision. If they fail to do so, costs may be awarded against the authority.  
Paragraph 3.11 states that a Local Planning Authority may be at risk of an award of 
costs where unreasonable behaviour relates to issues of substance arising from the 
merits of the case and this has led to unnecessary or wasted expense.  An example of 
such substantive unreasonable behaviour is given at (a), which states: preventing or 
delaying development which should clearly be permitted, having regard to its 
accordance with the development plan, national policy and any other material 
considerations.  

3. In this case, the proposal is located within the settlement boundary of Brecon on land 
allocated for residential development in the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Local Development Plan 2006-2022 (the LDP).  Brecon is the primary key settlement 
within the National Park and the LDP favours proposals that strengthen and enhance 
housing provision.  The illustrative proposal indicated a development of 30 dwellings, 
whereas the allocation specifies 38 dwellings.   

Page 157

sarahh_1
Text Box
APPENDIX 5



Costs Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

2 

 

4. The application was reported to the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee of 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) on 3 September 2019.  Officers 
recommended approval, but the members indicated that the application should be 
refused.  A further report (the second report) containing an analysis of members’ 
reasons for refusal was presented to the Committee on 29 October.  Following 
discussion of this report it was resolved to refuse planning permission for the 7 
reasons set out on the decision notice.  The two committee reports have been 
submitted by the Local Planning Authority.  No minutes of the discussion, statement of 
case or response to the application for costs has been supplied in support of the 
committee’s decision.   

5. The issues raised in the reasons for refusal were considered in the main appeal 
decision.   The principle of residential development on the site has been established by 
its allocation in the LDP.  The alleged impacts on the living conditions of nearby 
residents were not supported by any convincing evidence.  In relation to nature 
conservation/ biodiversity interests, the NPA officers and NRW had considered the 
proposal and had no objection subject to conditions.  The second report advised 
members that additional evidence that the impact of development could not be 
mitigated should be provided.  No additional evidence was provided.  The access 
arrangements were scrutinised by the Highway Authority (Powys CC), who were 
satisfied with the means of access and that there would be no significant issues with 
traffic flows in the area.  No convincing technical or other evidence has been 
submitted to explain why the access arrangements are inappropriate or why the 
access is poorly sited and integrated with the highway network.  The second report 
advised members that it was unclear how this reason could be robustly defended 
given the views of the Highway Authority.   

6. The sustainability and accessibility of the site was considered as part of the LDP 
allocation process.  It is as accessible as other nearby developments and is within a 
reasonable walking and cycling distance of the town centre and public transport 
connections.  The issue of landscape and visual impact and the loss of open space is a 
matter of judgement.  However, this judgement must take into account the allocation 
of the site for residential development.  The NPA officers considered that the detailed 
impacts of the development on a sloping site could be controlled as part of the 
reserved matters submissions and by planning conditions.  The evidence in support of 
this reason for refusal was not convincing for the reasons set out in the main decision.  
Whilst the proposed drainage arrangements are not the optimum solution, they were 
acceptable to both the statutory undertaker – Dŵr Cymru and Powys County Council 
as the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB).  The development will require 
separate Sustainable Drainage System approval from the SAB.  This reason for refusal 
was completely unsubstantiated.  The final reason relating to the absence of a 
planning obligation to secure affordable housing was purely a procedural matter and 
has now been resolved. 

Conclusion  

7. The Local Planning Authority failed to submit any statement of case or any response to 
the application for costs.  The additional evidence and clarification to substantiate the 
suggested reasons for refusal that was requested by officers has not been provided by 
the Members.   I find that the Council has failed to substantiate its reasons for 
refusing planning permission.  Its actions were unreasonable and has caused the 
applicant to incur the unnecessary expense of pursuing the appeal. I conclude that a 
full award of costs is justified.   

Page 158



Costs Decision APP/P9502/A/20/3251711 

 

3 

 

 

Costs Order 

8. In exercise of the powers under section 322C and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended, and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS 
HEREBY ORDERED that Brecon Beacons National Park Authority shall pay to Mr & Mrs 
R & J Fellowes, the costs of the appeal proceedings described in the heading of this 
decision; such costs to be assessed in the Senior Courts Costs Office if not agreed.  

9. The applicant is now invited to submit to Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, to 
whom a copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view to 
reaching agreement as to the amount. 

 

A L McCooey 
Inspector  

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUTED SUMS REPORT

Application 
number

Date
Permission

granted
Proposal SM area Settlement

Amount 
detailed in

S106

Date
Received

Date
Allocated

Date
Paid Allocated to

13/10295/FUL
Permitted
07.10.2014

Construction of 92 dwellings, Cae 
Meldon A,C&H Mon Gilwern £175,200.60 28.02.2017 09.02.2018

Melin Homes - Ty Clyd 
Close

13/09841/FUL
Permitted
27.10.2015

Construction of one dwelling at Ael Y 
Bryn B&R Powys Bwlch £15,056.80

13/10285/FUL
Permitted
30.09.2014

Erection of 1 dwelling - Roayl 
Oak, Pencelli B&R Powys Pencelli £16,251.60

13/10289/OUT
Permitted
25.10.2016

Multiple Housing Development - 
Ty Clyd Close A,C&H Mon Govilon £5,045.84

14/11036/FUL Permitted
12.10.2016 The studio, Upper House Farm A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £5,000 04.01.2017

18/16692/FUL
Permitted
17.05.2019 Variation to Canal Bank Garden B&R Powys Brecon £2,000.00

14/11607/FUL
Permitted
12.06.2016 Single Dwelling, 19 Fairhome, Gilwern A,C&H Mon Gilwern £24,377.40

17/15571/FUL
Permitted
07.04.2015 Dan Y Castell, Crickhowell A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £2,000 03.07.2018

18/16788/CON
Permitted
24.04.2017 Captain's Walk, Brecon B&R Powys Brecon £21,065.60

15/12528/FUL
Permitted
16.12.2016 2 Dwellings to the rear Bronant B&R Powys Talgarth £15,000

15/12509/FUL
Permitted
18.03.2016 1 dwelling, Green Meadows B&R Powys Brecon £19,105.20

16/13164/FUL Permitted
27.02.2018 Change of use of chapel to dwelling B&R Powys Maescar £20,450.80

15/13000/FUL Permitted
26.05.2016 1 dwelling, Peppercorn Lane B&R Powys Brecon £2,465.53

16/13266/FUL Permitted
24.05.2016 Conversion Triley Court Nursing Home A,C&H Mon Abergavenny £25,000 18.05.2017

14/11593/CON
Permitted
11.03.2015

Variation of Planning obligation 
to 11/06647/FUL A,C&H Powys Llangynidr £89,262 01.04.2016

16/13533/OUT
Permitted
28.02.2017 Outline application detached dwelling B&R Powys Libanus £22,190.80

16/13213/FUL
Permitted
12.07.2017 Conversion to 3 flats 29 High Street B&R Powys Brecon £15,000

14/10864/FUL
Permitted
24.09.15 Erection of a 2 bedroom bungalow B&R Powys Pennorth £16,959.20

ENC7Item
 6

P
age 161

E
N

C
6Item

 6



16/13832/FUL Permitted
13.03.2017 New Dwelling Ty'r Berllan A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £5,000.00

12/08575/OUT Permitted
13.01.17 Mixed use development Cwrt Y Gollen A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £517,528.20

17/14713/FUL Permitted
14.08.2017 1 Dwelling at St Johns Church Libanus B&R Powys Libanus £22,190.00 10.09.2019

17/15038/FUL
Permitted
14.02.2018 Land Adjacent To Trem Y Bannau B&R Powys Llangorse £18,745.60

17/14369/DEEM

Appeal 
allowe
d

25.08.2017
Pen Y Mynydd Barn

A,C&H Mon O/C £97,440.00 received in
full

17/14749/FUL
Permitted
01.05.19 Derwen Deg Barn

A,C&H Mon Govilon £28,118.40

17/15496/FUL
Permitted
19.12.2019 Coed Y Bryn, Bwlch

B&R Powys Bwlch £16,692.40

17/14686/OUT
Minded to 
permit

27.08.2018
Erection of 5 dwellings, land adj Brecon 
Pharm

A,C&H Powys Hay £17,208.60

17/15356/FUL
Permitted
21.06.2018 Norcott Common Road A,C&H Mon Gilwern £28,657.00

18/16733/OUT
Permitted
19.06.2019

Outline application for a single dwelling, 
Tremfa A,C&H Mon Gilwern £12,644.80

18/16045/FUL
Permitted
11.09.2019 12 Residential units B&R Powys Brecon £59,000.00

18/15843/FUL
Permitted
08.01.2019

Pentwyncanol, Glanaman (renovation of 
former Dwelling) RS Carms Glanaman £83,172.00 8.01.19

17/14646/OUT
Permitted
03.09.2019

outline permission single dwelling 
(indicative maximum ) B&R Powys Brecon £30,763.00

Total £1,428,591.37 £499,265 £175,200.60

Total Abergavenny, Crickhowell and Hay Sub Market area £1,032,482.84 £393,903 £175,200.60

Total Brecon and Rural Hinterland and Sub Market area £312,936.53 £22,190

Total Heads of the Valleys and Rural South area £83,172 £83,172

Total Powys £948,935.33
£118,452

£118,452

Total Carms £83,172 £83,172

Total Mons £396,484.04 £297,641 175,200.60

P
age 162



Deferred Payments
Application Ref Date Decision issued Site Address Reason for Deferral of payment Deferred Contribution
17/14459/FUL Permitted 16.03.2018 Old Castle Farm, Old Castle 

Road, Crucorney
In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1 
(Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost 
Guidance

19/17295/FUL Permitted 22.10.2019 Ty Cooke Farm, Llanover In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1 
(Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost 
Guidance

19/17318/FUL Permitted 22.01.2020 Gilfach, Llanddeusant In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1 
(Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost 
Guidance

Page 69

P
age 163



T
his page is intentionally left blank



STATUTORY PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

20/18771/SPAC
ON

N: 206716 
E: 293528

Enviroparks (Wales) Limited for 
Construction and use of a stack with 
associated pipework and a continuous 
emissions monitoring systems gantry 
with ladder access. (Statutory Pre-
application consultation) at Fifth 
Avenue, Hirwaun Industrial Estate, 
Hirwaun Rhondda Cynon Taff CF44 9UP 

Pre-
application 
consultatio
n response

27 July 2020 Delegated 
Decision

We understand Enviroparks (Wales) Limited intends to submit a planning application to Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Council for a 90m (3.95m diameter) stack at Fifth Avenue, Hirwaun Industrial Estate. The red outline for this 
proposal is located entirely in Rhondda Cynon Taf but is almost immediately adjacent to the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority (NPA) boundary. 

It is noted that planning permission ref: 17/14587/FUL (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority) and 
17/0249/10 (Rhondda Cynon Taf Council) approved a 45m stack (3.5m diameter) with the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority area (approximately 90m away from the location now currently being proposed). The 
draft submission suggests a higher stack in a different location is being proposed to improve the emissions 
profile of the plant, particularly in respect of acid and nutrient nitrogen deposition on adjacent Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC).

We set out below some background on the NPA’s policy and legal context. The letter ends with our 
comments on the draft planning application submission which was made available on the developer’s website. 

Background 
Policy and legal context 
Section 63 of the Environment Act (1995) sets out the statutory purposes of the National Park as follows:-

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park; and
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the 

National Park

In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard to National Park 
purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park.  Relevant 
Authorities include public bodies, government departments, local authorities and statutory undertakers.

The Special Qualities of the National Park may be significantly impacted by development proposals on the 
fringes of the National Park. The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2015-2020 defines the 
Special Qualities of the Brecon Beacons National Park as follows:

 A National Park offering peace and tranquillity with opportunities for quiet enjoyment, inspiration, 
relaxation and spiritual renewal.

 A feeling of vitality and healthfulness that comes from enjoying the Park’s fresh air, clean water, rural 
setting, open land and locally produced foods.

 A sense of place and cultural identity - “Welshness” - characterised by the use of the indigenous 
Welsh language, religious and spiritual connections, unique customs and events, traditional foods and 
crafts, relatively unspoilt historic towns, villages and family farms. The continued practices of traditional 
skills developed by local inhabitants to live and earn a living here, such as common land practices and 
grazing.

Page 165

ENC6Item 7



 A sense of discovery where people are able to explore the Park’s hidden secrets and stories such as 
genealogical histories, prehistoric ritual sites, medieval rural settlements, early industrial sites, local myths, 
legends and geological treasures.

 The Park’s sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed across a variety of 
harmoniously connected landscapes, including marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic karst geology with 
caves and sink holes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys carved from old red 
sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all directions.

 A working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures comprising of well-
maintained farmed landscapes, open uplands, lakes and meandering rivers punctuated by small-scale 
woodlands, country lanes, hedgerows, stone walls and scattered settlements.

 Extensive and widespread access to the Park’s diversity of wildlife and richness of semi-
natural habitats, such as native woodlands, heathland and grassland, natural lakes and riparian habitats, 
ancient hedgerows, limestone pavement and blanket bogs including those of international and national 
importance.

 In the context of the UK, geographically rugged, remote and challenging landscapes.
 Enjoyable and accessible countryside with extensive, widespread and varied opportunities to pursue 

walking, cycling, fishing, water-based activities and other forms of sustainable recreation or relaxation.
 An intimate sense of community where small, pastoral towns and villages are comparatively safe, 

friendly, welcoming and retain a spirit of cooperation.

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 10) acknowledges the statutory purposes of National Parks and 
references the “Sandford Principle”, whereby if there is a conflict between the statutory purposes, greater 
weight shall be given to the first purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage. PPW states that “planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National Parks and AONB 
purposes. This duty applies in relation to all activities affecting National Parks and AONBs, whether those activities lie 
within, or in the setting of, the designated areas” (see para 6.3.5).

Draft Planning Application Submission Package 
We have reviewed the draft submission – principally the Environmental Statement and Design and Access 
Statement. We consider the key issues which have the potential to impact on the National Park Authority’s 
statutory purposes and special qualities are in relation to landscape and visual impact and ecology. We make 
the following comments on the draft submission: 

 The draft Design and Access Statement and the Environmental Statement Addendum need to 
set out the specific consideration given to the development’s impact on the statutory purposes of the 
National Park (as set out in Section 61 of the Environment Act (1995) and the special qualities of the 
National Park (as set out the Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2015-2020). Please see 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 10) para. 6.3.5-6.3.10 for further information. Currently these 
aspects do not appear to have been thoroughly considered or explicitly set out in order to evidence the 
report conclusions.

 The Zone of Theoretical Visibility plan could be presented more clearly. Currently the light yellow 
colour used to show the additional areas the 90m stack could be visible from is difficult to read against a 
white background. So it is difficult to then consider whether the viewpoints now used are appropriate. 

 It would be useful in the Environmental Statement if the various (air quality, ecological and landscape 
visual) receptors and viewpoints which are located in the National Park are made clear or distinguished in 
some way. This will assist the decision maker (Rhondda Cynon Taf Council) in understanding how the 
proposal impact on the National Park Authority – which they will need to have regard to in their 
determination of this planning application. 

 It is noted that ‘major’ significant landscape character effects are expected in year 1 (winter) 
compared with moderate/major significant (for the consented scheme) for the Brecon Beacons National 
Park (CYNONCL044). This is a concern for the National Park Authority. 

Page 166



 The National Park Planning Ecologist has not reviewed the ecological information in the Environmental 
Statement Addendum submitted in this draft planning application submission. There may be some specific 
comments in this regard at the point a planning application is submitted. 

Conclusion 
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority do have concern over the landscape and visual impacts of the 
proposed 90m stack and the impacts this then has the statutory purpose of the National Park - “to conserve 
and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park”. The NPA also have concern that 
the proposal will adversely impact on two of the Special Qualities of the Park – its “sweeping grandeur and 
outstanding natural beauty” and the “working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures”.

Addressing the points above on the draft planning application would assist in ensuring that when the planning 
application is submitted, the impacts on the National Park are clear, so due regard can be given to these by the 
determining Local Planning Authority (Rhondda Cynon Taf Council). 

Please note that this response has been prepared by Officers, and will not receive formal ratification from 
Members until 28th July 2020 after which point in time I may provide supplementary response as necessary. 
Please also note these comments are made without prejudice to comments which may be made when the 
planning application is submitted.  

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Internal Reporting: Planning Performance Figures

From: 01 August 2020 to 31 August 2020

APPROVALS
GRANTED REFUSED %APPROVED
37 6 86
8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks  Over8Weeks 8Wks%
36 7 84
HOUSEHOLDER 8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks Over8Weeks 8Wks%
11 2 85
AGREED EXTENSIONS PERFORMANCE
AEunder AEover AE%
23 0 100
AGE OF APPLICATIONS
>8Wks >13Wks  >16Wks >2Yrs
25 18 16 3

Analysis of applications on hand

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDSeptember
2019 65 51 78.5 59 148

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDOctober
2019 55 39 70.9 55 136

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDNovember
2019 49 38 77.6 48 131

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDDecember
2019 35 29 82.9 56 109

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJanuary
2020 57 41 71.9 42 111

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDFebruary
2020 67 47 70.1 30 144

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDMarch
2020 47 31 66 30 151

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDApril
2020 32 29 90.6 52 121

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDMay
2020 35 33 94.3 27 115

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJune
2020 58 52 89.7 27 142

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJuly
2020 57 43 75.4 35 154

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDAugust
2020 68 60 88.2 43 171

Page 169

ENC6Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 1 of 2

                                                                                                                                   
PLANNING ENFORCEMENT FIGURES

Welsh Government Performance Indicators and Authority Enforcement figures

The Welsh Government Performance Indicators were changed in June 2017. The software used by the 
Authority was not set up to operate in the way the Indicators required the information to be captured. This 
has now been resolved and Officers are now working to the new indicators.  However, due to the overlap 
between the two ways of working the ‘Investigated in 84 days or Fewer’ figure will be low for the next few 
months. Please refer to relevant definition information at the end of this report. 

Number of 
new cases 
received

InvestigatedA 
in 84 days or 

fewer

Investigated 
in more 
than 84 

days

Resolved in 
180 days or 

fewer

Resolved in 
more than 
180 days

May
2019

10 12 3 6 5

WG Performance Indicators
Number of 
new cases 
received

Investigated1 
in 84 days or 

fewer

Investigated 
in more 
than 84 

days

Average 
time taken 
(days) from 
investigation 
complete to 

positive 
action2 
taken

Closed

March
2020

9 9 0 132 9

April 
2020

13 5 5 0 6

May 2020 8 2 2 0 3

June 2020 13 6 4 55.75 11

July 2020 19 5 0 0 8

August 2020 8 4 2 0 5

Current Cases 

Current Cases 
(under 180 days)

Backlog Cases (over 
180 days)

Total Cases

May
2019

31 79 110

Current Cases 
(under 84 days)

Current Cases (over 84 
days)

Total Cases

Page 171

ENC6Item 9



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 2 of 2

March
2020

20 77 98

April 
2020

21 84 105

May 2020 23 86 109

June 2020 32 86 118

July 2020 35 89 124

August 2020 29 98 127

Relevant Definitions 

1Investigated means that the Authority has considered the alleged breach of planning control and advised the 
complainant of the investigation findings which will be one of the following:

i) No breach has occurred or breach has been removed;
ii) Breach has occurred but Authority has formally determined that enforcement action is not expedient;
iii) Enforcement action is expedient and delegated report authorising such has been signed off;
iv) Receipt of valid planning application;
v) Breach has occurred and enforcement action would be expedient but informal negotiations have 

agreed that changes can make the development acceptable or that it will be removed.

2Positive Action means the complainant has been advised that one of the following has occurred following 
the conclusion that it would be expedient to enforce against the established breach. 

i) There has been a formal determination that a breach is expedient but informal negotiation 
subsequently removes the breach;

ii) An Enforcement Notice is issued. An Enforcement Notice includes a Stop Notice, Breach of Condition 
Notice, Enforcement Warning Notice, Untidy Land Notice (section 215 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990), any type of Listed Building Enforcement Notice, Tree Replacement Notice, 
Hedgerow Replacement Notice or Completion Notice, but does not include a Planning Contravention 
Notice, Section 330 Notice (of the Town and Country  Planning Act 1990), Temporary Stop Notice or 
Requisition for Information;

iii) Planning permission is subsequently granted through an application or enforcement appeal;
iv) A prosecution is brought (with the date that the case is first heard deemed as being the ‘positive 

action’ date); or
v) Direct action by the Authority removes the breach.

NB.  This figure has yet to be benchmarked and a target set by Welsh Government

Closed means the case has been closed either because the outcome of the investigation was i) or ii) above or 
the breach has ceased following positive action. 

A The previous definition of ‘investigated’ meant that the Authority had visited, drawn a conclusion on what 
action was to be taken and had informed the complainant. 

Page 172



PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Development Control Related Matter for Noting

 Wales Transport Strategy: scoping report consultation

Officer:  Chris O’Brien, Senior Planning Officer

Page 173

ENC6Item 10



1

1. Background

1.1 Required by The Transport (Wales) Act 2006, the Wales Transport Strategy (WTS) will set the 
vision and provide the strategic framework for investment decisions for transport in Wales over 
the over the next 25 years. Specific projects, schemes, initiatives or interventions, are to be set 
out in the 5-year detailed National Transport Delivery Plan and Local Transport Plans.

1.2 Prepared by Arcadis, consultants to the Welsh Government, the statutory consultation1 to which 
Wales’ three National Parks submitted a joint response and is the subject of this report is the 
Draft scoping report for the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal of the Wales 
Transport Strategy (April 2020) (“The report”).

1.3 The report is significant because it underpins the strategy’s drafting, identifying key issues and 
drivers to address.

2. Officer Report

2.1 The response of the three National Parks was co-ordinated, on this occasion, by Pembrokeshire 
Coast National Park and is attached at Annexe 1. No request for the response to remain 
anonymous has been made. 

2.2 Throughout the response a key theme was that the Welsh Government’s consultants had failed 
to recognise the value and purpose of Wales’ National Parks and their contribution to national 
well-being. The significance of connecting Wales’ population with their National Parks by means 
of accessible public transport was largely missed in the draft scoping report. Furthermore, the 
report asserts that no Habitats Regulations Assessment of the strategy is necessary. As a report 
underpinning a National Strategy, this was particularly concerning to see.

2.3 In response, we have highlighted the significance of National Parks and access to, and within them, 
by public transport. We have also questioned how the impact on biodiversity may reasonably be 
assessed at the strategic level without regard to the Habitat Regulations?

3. Recommendation

3.1 Whilst the consultation closed on 31st July, should members agree any further comments to 
and/or observations on, the response of the three National Parks, officers will forward them to 
the Welsh Government as an additional response of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
only (i.e. not forming part of the three National Parks’ response).

1 https://gov.wales/wales-transport-strategy-scoping-report (Accessed: 15/07/2020).

Page 174

https://gov.wales/wales-transport-strategy-scoping-report


1

Annexe 1.

Response of the three National Parks submitted to the Welsh Government on the draft Integrated 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report for. Wales Transport Strategy (submitted by e-mail 
15/07/2020).

Consultation on the draft Integrated Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report for the 
Wales Transport Strategy

Date of issue: 5 May 2020

Action required: Responses by 31st July 2020

Name Sarah Hirst

Organisation Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia National 
Park Authorities

Address Llanion Park, Pembroke Dock, Pembrokeshire SA72 6DY

E-mail address sarahh@pembrokeshirecoast.org.uk

Businesses/Planning Consultants

Local Planning Authority 

Government Agency/Other Public Sector

Professional Bodies/Interest Groups

Voluntary sector (community groups, volunteers, self help groups, 
co-operatives, social enterprises, religious, and not for profit 
organisations)

Type

(please select one 
from the following)

Other (other groups not listed above) or individual

Yes
Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No

Q1

Do you support the findings of the review of 
relevant plans, programmes and environmental 
protection objectives? Are there any additional 
plans, programmes or environmental 
protection objectives you think should be 
added? Are there any that you would like to 
remove from the review? 



Comments: 

1. The scoping should recognise the value and purpose of Wales’ National Parks and their 
contribution to overall national well-being.

Page 175



2

2. The review should include ‘Valued and Resilient’ which sets out the Welsh Government’s 
priorities for the National Parks and AONBs. 
NRW/WG guidance advises that National Park Management Plans are of ‘national significance’ 
and therefore the relevant Plans for Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia 
National Parks should be included in the review. 

Yes
Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
 Q2

Do you agree with the sustainability issues 
that we have identified? Are there 
additional issues and opportunities that the 
ISA should consider? If so what are they? 



Comments: 

1. An interim version of the 2019 SoNaRR is available and provides more up to date information 
than the 2016 version cited in the consultation document (section 4.2 and 4.3.1).

2. As part of the rural-proofing of the document it is important to recognise the needs of tourists 
and leisure users in rural areas. The population of the National Parks is more than doubled 
during busy holiday periods with visitors which are a crucial element of the local economies. 
The transport needs of visitors and leisure users differ greatly to those of the usual resident 
population and high numbers of visitors to popular, natural tourist attractions – mountains, 
rivers, beaches - has significant impacts in terms of congestion, impact on local communities and 
the environment. 

3. Town centres are changing and are likely to experience significant change following the current 
Covid 19 crisis with regular news of retailers going out of business. These areas need 
redefinition and repurposing. Our transport systems are set up to bring large number of people 
into these areas from suburbs or countryside for education, work, retail, health etc but the 
switch to home-working combined with the short-term cautionary approach of only using public 
transport where necessary is having an impact on behaviours and choices – some of which may 
endure into the longer term.

4. Improved access may not always mean ‘more’ – it should be ‘appropriate’ in terms of volume 
and type – and so may mean a shift of mode rather than an overall increase in some places. 
Examples would be town and city centres and popular tourist attractions (including natural 
attractions). 

5. E-bikes and e-scooters need to be taken fully into consideration.
6. Opportunity to improve access to valued landscapes, townscapes and viewpoints should ensure 

that all Wales communities have integrated services to connect them with their protected 
landscapes with further opportunity to promote awareness of cultural heritage and cultural 
education centres. 

7. Table 3.2 omits to recognise the significance of connecting Wales’ population with their National 
Parks thereby losing the contribution they bring to national well-being. 

Q3
Are there any particular topics or 
geographical areas of specific concern to 
you or your organisation? 

Yes

Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No

Page 176



3

Comments:

1. The three Welsh National Parks.
2. Please see the response to Q2 above.
3. Coastal adaptation is happening in some locations – eg. Newgale in Pembrokeshire. This will have 

significant implications for transportation and communication links in some locations. 

Yes

Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
Q4

Are there any changes you consider should 
be made to the ISA Objectives or 
Questions? 



Comments:

1. When considering access to health and social care services – take into account the needs of 
those needing to visit/support users of these services to reduce social isolation. The need to 
improve access to many health-care services in rural areas is hindered by the WG policy to 
reduce the number of hospitals which requires patients to travel greater distances – in West 
Wales this can involve round trips of 70 or 80 miles – with no realistic public transport options. 
For those supporting those having treatment this is a significant barrier. 

2. Access to employment – in rural areas the lack of affordable housing requires many people to 
travel long distances to their place of (typically low-paid jobs) as they cannot afford to live in 
the same locality. This is particularly true for those working in the tourism sector. 

3. Table 5.3 should include the need for the Welsh population to have access to and travel around 
the three Welsh National Parks by means of inexpensive and accessible public transport, walking 
and cycling (including e-bikes and e-scooters). 

Yes

Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
Q5

Do you have any comments regarding how 
reasonable alternatives should be 
developed? 

Comments:

1. Section 4.3 and Table 4.1 fails to reference the need for Wales’ population to connect with the 
three National Parks as a key sustainability issue and opportunity. The existing wording – “There 
is an opportunity for improved access to valued landscapes, townscapes and viewpoints” fails to convey 
the importance of access to the Parks to national well-being of the population having access to 
the cultural ecosystem services within. 

Q6 Do you have any further suggestions 
regarding the scope of the ISA and its 

Yes Yes No

Page 177



4

(subject to 
further 
comment)

proposed appraisal of the Wales Transport 
Strategy? 

Comments:

Wales’ National Parks are a National resource for all to enjoy and an important contributor to well-
being.  Affordable access to and around the National Parks is essential for everyone to be able to enjoy 
them without the environmental impact of car travel. Failure to address this will result in a significant 
proportion of the population being excluded from enjoying this rich and natural resource, whilst the 
continued increase in visitors arriving by cars fails to address key objectives of factors contribute to 
climate change, environmental and health impacts. 

Yes
Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
Q7 Do you support the approach to the integration 

of the impact assessments?



Comments: Yes – subject to the additional points raised in this consultation response. 

Yes
Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
Q8 Do you support the findings of the initial 

screening work for the impact assessments?



Comments: Please see comments above.

Yes
Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
Q9

Are there additional pieces of baseline data or 
evidence that the ISA should consider with 
specific regard to the impact assessments?



Comments:

1.  Please see comments above in relation to the inclusion of National Parks and their contribution 
toward national health and well-being.

2.  The current COVID19 crisis has prompted the need for instant change of behaviour. Whilst the 
timescales for taking account of any lessons learned from the lockdown and outcomes post-

Page 178



5

lockdown, this would be an important consideration in terms of travel impacts and how we recover 
from such imposed change.

Yes

Yes

(subject to 
further 
comment)

No
Q10

Do you have any other comments?



Comments:

1. Appendix B – include ERAMMP information and STEAM data.
2. Figure 2 – National Parks are a landscape designation with a public health purpose and not 

merely a ‘landscape feature’. 
3. Table 3.2 – last key theme – this could be more ambitious – “The WTS aims to develop world-

leading public transport, promoting sustainability, quality, social integration and inclusion to a degree 
that make it effortlessly preferable over private transport.”

Question A: We are under a duty to consider the effects of our policy decisions on the Welsh language, under 
the requirements of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.

We would like to know your views on the effects that the Wales Transport Strategy: scoping report would have 
on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to use Welsh and on treating the Welsh 
language no less favorably than English.

What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be increased, or negative effects be 
mitigated? 

The WTS should ensure that all signs, announcements and information are consistently bilingual.

Question B: Please also explain how you believe the Wales Transport Strategy: scoping report could be 
formulated or changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities for people 
to use the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less favorably than the English language, 
and no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh 
language no less favorably than the English language.

There are opportunities for people to learn about Welsh language and culture via interpretation 
and information provided on public transport. 

Question C: We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues which we have not 
specifically addressed, please use this space to report them:

Please enter here:

We would query the assertion that no HRA is necessary and how the impact on biodiversity may 
reasonably be assessed at the strategic level without regard to the Habitat Regulations. 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS

REPORTS: Delegated Decision Enforcement Reports 

AUTHORS: Enforcement Officers

MEETING AND DATE OF 
MEETING:

Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee
22nd September 2020

I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the report referred to 
above and make the following recommendation to the Proper Officer:-

Exemptions applying to the report:

 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of a particular person
 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime. 

Factors in favour of disclosure:

 Facilitate the accountability and transparency of our decisions; 
 Facilitate accountability and transparency in the spending of public money; 
 Allow individuals to understand decisions made by the authority

Prejudice which would result if the information were disclosed:

 Disclose the identity of individuals prior to a decision being taken whether or not to 
take action – causing unnecessary concern to the individual and public opprobrium if 
proceedings are not pursued.

 Prejudice potential judicial proceedings

Page 181

ENC7Item 1



My view on the public interest test is as follows:

I have considered the enforcement cases contained within the aforementioned reports to 
be presented to PAROW on the 22nd September 2020 and have measured each case 
against the public interest test.  For the reasons outlined above, I consider that the factors 
in favour of disclosure are outweighed by those against. 

Recommended decision on exemption from disclosure:

For the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the information contained within 
these enforcement reports is exempt from disclosure.

Date:  4th September 2020

Signed:    

Post:  Principal Planning Officer

I accept the recommendation made above.

______________________________
                   Proper Officer

Date: 4th September 2020

Page 182



Document is Restricted

Page 183

ENC7Item 2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 17, 18 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	ENC4 Minutes of last meeting
	ENC5Item 1 19/17586/FUL - Penderyn Quarry
	ENC5Item 2 20/18682/FUL - Glangwysg Meadows
	ENC5Item 3 20 18308 FUL Committee Report A470 Underpass
	ENC6Item 1 Delegated Report
	ENC6Item 2 Agricultural Notifications Report
	ENC6Item 3 Fringe applications Report
	ENC6Item 4 Planning Obligation Report
	ENC6Item 5 Appeals Summary
	Insert from: "20200904 3Decision 3252125.pdf"
	Appeal Decision
	Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl
	Decision
	1. The appeal is dismissed.
	Procedural matter
	2. The application was made in the name of Mr Joe Scott of Outdoor Retreats Ltd.  The decision notice omits the applicant’s name and refers to the agent only.  The appeal has been correctly made in the name of the original applicant and I proceed on t...
	Main Issue

	3. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area and character and quality of the landscape.
	Reasons

	4. The site is located around 240m to the southwest of Llangattock on a minor road, which crosses the nearby Monmouthshire and Brecon canal.  The entrance to Beacon Park Boats is around 50m to the north.  There is a large field to the west with a coll...
	5. A previous application for two timber pods on the site was refused in October 2018.  The appeal proposal comprises a shepherd’s hut, which would have timber walling with a corrugated iron roof.  The hut would be on wheels and around 2.5m high.  Sma...
	6. The main issue relates to the landscape and visual impact of the proposal on the highly valued landscape within the National Park.  The primary legislative and policy0F  aims in National Parks is the conservation or enhancement of their natural bea...
	7. I have had regard to the conclusions of the appellant’s Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) and the findings of the Authority’s landscape consultant.  Both these assessed the previous application for two pods, but the conclusions were jud...
	8. The proposal on this linear roadside site would be readily visible from the road.  It would be in direct view from the adjoining PROW for a considerable distance.  Whilst the elements would be relatively small scale and seasonal, they would appear ...
	9. The appellant argues that proposals for low impact development and non-permanent holiday accommodation are favoured in the sustainable tourism policies of the LDP and the relevant supplementary planning guidance.  However, this is subject to consid...
	10. The appellant refers to the approval of the nearby canal boat business (Beacon Park Boats) and a caravan park at Glanusk estate.  It is argued that they demonstrate the degree of change that can be accepted whilst facilitating tourist development....
	11. I note that the owners of a nearby holiday accommodation have objected to the appeal proposal.  I agree that the proposal would impact on the open nature of the tram road and increase sporadic development in this area of countryside close to the r...
	Conclusion
	12. I have carefully considered the benefits of the proposal and the information supplied by the appellant in support of the proposal.  I conclude that the proposal would be contrary to Policy SP1, Policies 1 and 46 of the LDP for the reasons given ab...
	A L McCooey
	Inspector

	Insert from: "20200904 2Decision 3251505.pdf"
	Appeal Decision
	Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl
	Decision
	1. The appeal is dismissed.
	Application for costs

	2. An application for costs was made by Mr Jeremy Williams against Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. This application is the subject of a separate Decision.
	Procedural Matter

	3. The application was originally submitted for the erection of a storage shed on agricultural ground.  Following concerns expressed by the Local Planning Authority about the domestic appearance and intended use of the proposal, the description of dev...
	Reasons

	4. The site is within the open countryside south of Brecon.  No. 5 is a new dwelling with a large garage.  There is a campsite and buildings a short distance to the west.  The application relates to a small area of land adjoining the road near the sit...
	5. Planning Policy Wales provides that great weight should be given to the statutory purposes of National Parks (NPs), which are the conservation or enhancement of their natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage and promote public understanding a...
	6. The preamble to Policy CYD LP1 sets out the countryside issues and vision for the NP.  This refers to advice in Planning Policy Wales of the need to strictly control permissions to those which are deemed necessary and essential to a countryside loc...
	7. The appellant appears to consider that the proposal was on land that had been used for residential purposes for some time.  The former dwelling on the site was a farm with a range of outbuildings and it is argued that the site was used for resident...
	8. There is a separate process for deciding whether planning permission is required. An application may be made for what is known as a lawful development certificate (LDC), which would establish whether a development or use has achieved immunity or be...
	9. The dwelling on the site received planning permission in 2016 as a replacement dwelling.  The curtilage of the dwelling is clearly defined in the application.  The Officer report was submitted, and it is clear that the change of use to residential ...
	10. No written material was supplied that indicates the Local Planning Authority would view an application favourably.  The Authority advised of the need to justify the proposed building at all stages.   The original proposal was for an agricultural b...
	Conclusion
	11. I have carefully considered the information supplied by the appellant in support of the proposal.  I conclude that the proposal would be contrary to national policy and Policy CYD LP1 of the LDP for the reasons given above and that the appeal shou...
	A L McCooey
	Inspector

	Insert from: "20200904 1Costs Decision 3251505.pdf"
	Costs Decision
	Penderfyniad ar gostau
	Decision
	1. The application for an award of costs is refused.
	Reasons

	2. Section 12 Annex: Award of Costs to the Development Management Manual advises that, irrespective of the outcome of the appeal, costs may only be awarded against a party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for costs to...
	3. The application for costs merely refers to the considerable time and effort spent on the part of the appellant trying to bring this matter to a conclusion.  Planning permission could have been granted; it is argued.  This does not demonstrate unrea...
	4. The appellant’s claims regarding the nature of informal officer advice are disputed by the Authority.  No written material was supplied that indicates the Local Planning Authority would view an application favourably.  The original proposal was for...
	5. When the issue of an established residential use of the land was raised, the Authority advised the applicant that an application for a lawful development certificate (LDC) could be made.  This is the correct procedure established by Parliament to p...
	6. I have carefully considered the submitted correspondence and emails.  The correspondence with the applicant indicated what information would be required to support the application and that an application for an LDC would be necessary to resolve the...
	Conclusion
	7. Having taken into account all the matters raised I conclude that an award of costs is not justified for the reasons set out above.  There has not been unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense, as described in Section 12 Ann...
	A L McCooey
	Inspector

	Insert from: "Decision 3251711.pdf"
	Appeal Decision
	Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl
	Decision
	1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for residential development and associated works at land north of Camden Crescent, Brecon, LD3 7BY in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 18/16268/OUT, dated 15 June 2018, subje...
	Application for costs

	2. An application for costs was made by Mr & Mrs R & J Fellowes against Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. This application is the subject of a separate Decision.
	Main Issues

	3. The main issues are:
	 The principle of and need for residential development on the site;
	 Whether there would be a significant detrimental impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of nearby residential properties;
	 The acceptability of the proposed access arrangements;
	 The impact of the proposal on nature conservation interests;
	 The landscape and visual impact of the proposal on the character of the area due to loss of open space and the necessary engineering works; and
	 The effect of the proposed drainage arrangements in terms of the site’s suitability for any development; and
	 Whether appropriate affordable housing can be secured.
	Reasons

	4. The site is located to the east of Brecon town centre.  It consists of the lower half of two fields that are surrounded by hedges.  The mature hedge separating the two fields is followed by a public footpath (PROW) in the western field.  The PROW l...
	Background to the Proposal/ Procedural Matters
	5. The Welsh Ministers considered it appropriate for them to come to their own conclusion as to whether the project is EIA development within the meaning of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulati...
	6. The planning application was submitted in outline with approval sought for the means of access to the site only.  It is the suitability of the proposed access off Camden Crescent that must be considered in this decision.  The nature of the types of...
	7. The application was reported to the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) on 3 September 2019.  Officers recommended approval, but the members indicated an intention to refuse the application. ...
	Principle of Development
	8. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all development management decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The adopted development plan is the ...
	9. The site has been subject to the LDP selection process where its sustainability and suitability for development was considered.  Despite the revocation of Technical Advice Note 1, Planning Policy Wales emphasises the importance of securing an adequ...
	Impact on the Living Conditions of Nearby Residents
	10. This issue relates firstly to the impact of vehicle headlights on existing dwellings in Camden Crescent.  Headlights shining onto dwellings is a common part of urban living. The traffic generation from the proposal would be modest and so the incid...
	11. The second aspect was the impact of construction traffic removing excavated material from the site.  The appellant states that cut and fill methods would be used to secure appropriate gradients for the internal roads and site levels for the dwelli...
	12. The NPA Officers were satisfied that the development can be designed and sited so as to avoid significant impacts on the privacy or amenity of the occupiers of adjoining dwellings.  In all these circumstances, I do not consider that the adverse im...
	The Acceptability of the Proposed Access Arrangements
	13. The application was accompanied by a transport assessment and a traffic survey of the Camden Road/ Cerrigcochion Road junction.  The predicted trip generation was derived from the TRICS database, which is consistent with national guidance.  The Hi...
	14. The Highway Authority did raise concerns regarding the position of the site entrance onto Camden Crescent because the required visibility splays and forward sight distance could not be achieved.  Amended plans were submitted showing a revised acce...
	15. Neighbouring residents state that some of the land necessary for visibility splays and a footpath near the access onto Camden Crescent is in their ownership.  Land ownership is not a planning matter and the resolution of any disputes would be a ma...
	16. The site is within 500m of the town centre and 400m of the main bus facility for the town.  The site and surrounding area is at a higher level and there is a slope up from the town centre.  Having walked the route from the town centre to the site,...
	Impact on Nature Conservation Interests
	17. The site may support European protected species, principally bats and a European Protected Species Licence will be required.  The submitted ecological information identified the relevant issues and measures to address them (including appropriate e...
	18. Parts of the site contain species rich grassland.  The NPA Ecologist was satisfied that the loss of biodiversity as a result of the development could be adequately mitigated by appropriate compensation measures and landscaping, including new hedge...
	Landscape and Visual Impact/ Loss of Open Spaces
	19. The impact of residential development on the landscape and character of the area was considered as part of the LDP process and the site was allocated for residential development in the adopted development plan.  As an allocated site it is difficul...
	20. The concerns regarding the sloping nature of the site and the amount of engineering works that would be necessary were raised during the lengthy consideration of the proposal by the NPA.  Sufficient information was provided to convince the NPA off...
	Proposed Drainage Arrangements
	21. The appellant recognises that the soil and geology of the site militate against surface water drainage by infiltration.  A drainage strategy was submitted which proposes an attenuated drainage system connecting to the public surface water sewer.  ...
	Mechanism to Secure Affordable Housing
	22. The final reason for refusal states that there is no mechanism available to secure a contribution to affordable housing.  The appellants have since completed an agreement with the NPA and Powys County Council under s.106 of the Town and Country Pl...
	Other Matters
	23. The effect of the proposal on heritage assets has been carefully considered by Cadw and the NPA Conservation Officer.  The proposal would have a negligible impact on the closest Scheduled Ancient Monuments.  There would not be a significant impact...
	24. The site is allocated for residential development in the LDP.  As such there is no requirement to demonstrate a need for the development, as this has been already demonstrated through the development plan process.  The Plan is in the later stages ...
	25. Several residents pass comment on the Local Planning Authority questionnaire responses.  This is a normal requirement for every appeal and consists of tick boxes to answer questions on a purely factual basis.  These responses have been mistakenly ...
	Suggested Conditions
	26. I have addressed the need for some of the conditions above in my consideration of the issues raised.  The reasons for the conditions are also stated in the attached annex.  I therefore confine my comments to whether the suggested conditions are ne...
	Conclusion
	27. The September NPA Committee report analyses the application against the provisions of the LDP.  The structure of the report follows the approach/ chapter headings of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10, which aligns with the ways of working assessmen...
	28. Having considered all relevant matters, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.
	A L McCooey
	Inspector
	Annex – Planning Conditions

	Insert from: "Costs Decision 3251711.pdf"
	Costs Decision
	Penderfyniad ar gostau
	Decision
	1. The application for an award of costs is allowed in the terms set out below
	Reasons

	2. The Section 12 Annex, Award of Costs, to the Development Management Manual advises that, irrespective of the outcome of the appeal, costs may only be awarded against a party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for cos...
	3. In this case, the proposal is located within the settlement boundary of Brecon on land allocated for residential development in the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan 2006-2022 (the LDP).  Brecon is the primary key settle...
	4. The application was reported to the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) on 3 September 2019.  Officers recommended approval, but the members indicated that the application should be refused. ...
	5. The issues raised in the reasons for refusal were considered in the main appeal decision.   The principle of residential development on the site has been established by its allocation in the LDP.  The alleged impacts on the living conditions of nea...
	6. The sustainability and accessibility of the site was considered as part of the LDP allocation process.  It is as accessible as other nearby developments and is within a reasonable walking and cycling distance of the town centre and public transport...
	Conclusion
	7. The Local Planning Authority failed to submit any statement of case or any response to the application for costs.  The additional evidence and clarification to substantiate the suggested reasons for refusal that was requested by officers has not be...
	Costs Order

	8. In exercise of the powers under section 322C and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended, and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Brecon Beacons National Park Authority shall pay to Mr & Mrs R...
	9. The applicant is now invited to submit to Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, to whom a copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view to reaching agreement as to the amount.
	A L McCooey
	Inspector


	ENC6Item 6 Commuted Sums Report
	ENC6Item 7 Statutory Pre application report
	ENC6Item 8 Development Management Statistics
	ENC6Item 9 Enforcement August 2020 figures WG
	ENC6Item 10 DCRM - ISA Scoping response - Wales Transport Strategy
	ENC7Item 1 20200922  Exemption Certificate - Enforcement Delegated Decision Reports
	ENC7Item 2 CONFIDENTIAL - Enf Dele reports for PAROW - Sept 2020

